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AFEH
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Chairman's Message
EFEAE

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”), | hereby present the
annual results of China Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”)
and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the year ended 31 March 2023
(the “Financial Year").

Looking back to the Financial Year, the overall economic climate was
unprecedentedly severe before the clearance of customs between China
and Hong Kong at the beginning of 2023. The Group’s business was
inevitably adversely affected by the impact of the prolonged COVID-19
pandemic, in particular, the occurrence of bankruptcy or deregistration
to several customers of the Group forced it to encounter difficulties and
challenges in collecting outstanding receivables owed by them under
various businesses. Although the Group has endeavored to consolidate
its existing businesses and strengthened its cost control during the
Financial Year, the Group recorded a significant loss for the year after
accounting for the provision for impairment loss on receivables from
customers.

Looking ahead, the Group is cautiously optimistic about the economic
recovery of China and Hong Kong, but is also concerned about the
uncertainties in the current world macro situation, such as military
conflicts, competition among major powers and inflationary pressure.
Amidst this once-in-a-century landscape, the Group hopes to seek new
structural adjustments and new development opportunities on the
basis of stabilizing its existing businesses, so as to increase the Group's
profitability and enhance its sustainable operating capabilities.

As for existing businesses, the real estate-related services, one of the
Group's core businesses, are expected to grow steadily against the
backdrop of China’s real estate policy which tends to relax demand
restrictions. For other businesses, the Group is also assessing their
development direction and consolidating the business foundation. When
it comes to financial businesses, the Group will carefully consider their
development direction to balance risks. It remains the main operating
strategy of the Group to strengthen its customer base and diversify its
product and service mix across different business segments.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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As for expanding new businesses, the Group intends to enter the new
retail field. With previous experience in operating big data and digital-
related businesses, the Group plans to enter the new retail market
and establish its own advantages by applying advanced technologies
such as big data and artificial intelligence, and is confident that it can
benefit from the rapid development momentum of the industry. The
Group firmly believes that challenges and opportunities coexist under
the current situation. As long as we take prudent measures to control
operational risks, explore new opportunities and try to get started in
other new businesses, it will contribute to the long-term development
of the Group's business and bring benefits to the shareholders of the
Company.

Last but not least, on behalf of the Board, | would like to extend my
heartfelt thanks to the management, all our employees and partners
for their contributions to the development of the Group as well as to
shareholders for their continued support to the Company. With the
support and contributions from all parties, the Group will continue to
strive for the best to achieve a better performance and create a greater
value for our shareholders!

Wang Yinggian
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EREm kA

Year ended 31 March
BE-A=1+—HILEE

2023 2022
=== -
HKS$'M HK$'M
BEET BEET
Financial Results Highlight MBEERHE
Turnover EERE 504.7 858.5
Total operating costs 1B AN 48 RE (401.1) (728.0)
Total expenses x i 4EzE (159.8) (169.9)
Net loss before tax and BRI IB R IEERERmAT 2
non-controlling interests 518328 (316.1) (1.1)
Loss for the year attributable to KA BB AEBGFREE
owners of the Company (333.8) (6.3)
As at

31 March 2023

31 March 2022

—E-=F &

=A=+—H =A=+—H
HK$'M HK$'M
BEAET BEET

Extract of Financial Position B 75 4K O B 8%
Total assets BELE 1,894.2 2,340.9
Total liabilities =R (1,003.8) (1,080.4)
Net current assets MENEEFE 138.2 448.4
Bank balances and cash-general accounts IR1T#45 R MIBE——MRIRP 50.1 46.0
Net assets EESE 890.4 1,260.5

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23



Management Discussion and Analysis

OVERVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group’s turnover was
approximately HK$504.7 million, representing a decrease of 41.2%
as compared with approximately HK$858.5 million last year. The net
loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$333.8 million as compared with
approximately HK$6.3 million last year. The significant increase in such
loss was mainly attributable to the combined effect of, among other
thing, (i) the impairment loss on trade and other receivables in amount
of approximately HK$198.9 million; (ii) the impairment loss on loans and
interest receivables in amount of approximately HK$59.6 million; and
(iii) the impairment loss on contract assets in amount of approximately
HK$9.3 million.

BUSINESS AND FINANCIAL REVIEW
Finance Leasing Business

The Group commenced its finance leasing business in July 2015 and has
been engaged in providing finance lease services in the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC"). The finance lease customers are corporate
clients which are engaged in various businesses including trading, food
industry, product processing, and manufacturing of machinery and
equipment. The principal focus of the Group’s finance leasing business
is to provide an alternative way of financing to corporate clients in the
PRC via a sale and lease-back arrangement of tangible assets, like plant
and machinery, as well as to render consultancy services with respect of
finance leasing. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover of the
Group’s finance leasing business amounted to approximately HK$0.5
million (2022: approximately HK$2.3 million). Corresponding segment
loss of approximately HK$0.1 million was incurred for the year ended
31 March 2023 (2022: approximately HK$12.2 million, including the
impairment loss of approximately HK$10.8 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE R A

Money Lending Business

The Group holds a money lenders licence in Hong Kong pursuant
to the Money Lenders Ordinance (Chapter 163 of the Laws of Hong
Kong) and provides loan facilities to prospective customers including
enterprises and individuals. The Group earns interest income from
the provision of such loan facilities. The money lending customers
are mainly referrals from the business partners/existing clients of the
Group and business contacts of the Group’s senior management,
who are high net worth individuals or companies engaged in various
industries including investment fund, trader of hi-tech equipment,
investor of tourism-related activities, etc. This segment has begun to
generate returns to the Group since April 2016. For the year ended
31 March 2023, the turnover of the Group’s money lending business
amounted to approximately HK$7.9 million (2022: approximately
HK$23.8 million). Taken into account credit risks associated with various
borrowers, the Group assessed their financial positions and solvency
and accordingly recorded an impairment loss on loans and interest
receivable of approximately HK$59.6 million in the year ended 31 March
2023. Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$55.4 million
was incurred for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: approximately
HK$3.8 million, including the impairment loss on loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$23.0 million).

Securities and Futures Brokerage Business

The Group has been providing brokerage services for securities and
futures traded on exchanges in Hong Kong and major overseas countries
since August 2017. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover
of the Group’s securities and futures brokerage business amounted
to approximately HK$0.3 million (2022: approximately HK$0.4
million). Due to the gradual saturation of the market for SFC licensed
corporations in the financial services industry and the intensifying
competition with the other market players, the operating results of the
regulated financial services business of the Group was lower than those
expected at the time when the licensed corporations were acquired
by the Group in August 2017. The situation is exacerbated by the
unsatisfactory market sentiment, uncertainties in the economy and
complexities and challenges in the business environment. Given the
aforesaid unfavorable circumstances, an impairment loss on goodwill
of approximately HK$12.2 million was recognised in the year ended
31 March 2023 with the reference to the valuation result conducted
by an independent professional valuer. Corresponding segment loss
of approximately HK$16.8 million was incurred for the current year
(2022: approximately HK$19.1 million, including the impairment loss on
goodwill of approximately HK$14.0 million).

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Trading Business

With the established distribution channels and upstream suppliers
network in niche market of electronics, the trading of goods business
mainly focuses on trading of semi-finished electronic components
produced in mainland China and Taiwan which are equippable to mobile
electronic appliances and laptops computers. For the year ended 31
March 2023, the turnover of the Group’s trading business amounted to
approximately HK$111.5 million (2022: approximately HK$345.6 million)
whereas the gross profit was approximately HK$1.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$5.1 million). In January 2023 and February 2023,
the Group found two customers under its trading business, namely
Shenzhen Wu Feng Ying Technology Co., Ltd.* G A L= R F R
‘AB)) and Shenzhen Feng Lei Industrial Co., Ltd.* CRYITTREEXE
FR/AE]), and their guarantor, namely Shenzhen Shi Jia Hao Commercial
Operation Co., Ltd.* CRIITMHEREEEEBRAE), deregistered
respectively. The Group has taken legal actions against these customers
and guarantor and their ultimate beneficial owners (the “Defaulted
Persons”). According to consultation with its PRC legal adviser, the
recoverability of the amounts due from the Defaulted Persons mainly
depends on the traceability and possibility in enforcement of the assets
or properties of the Defaulted Persons even though the Group wins
the case in such civil proceedings. Considering high uncertainty in the
enforcement, the Group recognised the impairment loss on the entire
amount due from the Defaulted Persons of approximately HK$178.9
million in the year ended 31 March 2023. As a result, the Group
recorded a loss of approximately HK$192.2 million in this segment for
the current year (2022: approximately HK$8.7 million).

Securities Investment Business

It represents trading of listed equity securities in the Hong Kong stock
market and dividend income (if any) from such listed equity securities.
For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group did not trade any listed
equity securities and hence no turnover and no realised gain/loss of the
Group's securities investment business was generated (2022: nil). As the
Group did not hold any trading securities during the year and at the
end of the reporting period (2022: nil), the Group did not receive any
dividend income (2022: nil) and did not record any unrealised fair value
gain/loss on the Group’s securities investment for the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: nil).
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Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE R A

Freight Forwarding Business

The freight forwarding business of the Group provides international air
and sea freight forwarding and logistic services to local customers in
Singapore which consist of small and medium trading companies and
forwarders. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover of the
Group's freight forwarding business amounted to approximately HK$1.8
million (2022: approximately HK$1.2 million). Corresponding gross profit
of approximately HK$0.6 million and segment loss of approximately
HK$0.3 million were made for the current year respectively (2022:
gross profit of approximately HK$0.4 million and segment loss of
approximately HK$0.4 million).

Property Investment Business

The Group acquired a group of companies in January 2019 which mainly
hold the investment properties in the PRC for rental income and capital
appreciation. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the rental income
generated from such investment properties amounted to approximately
HK$6.6 million (2022: approximately HK$7.1 million). Corresponding
profit of approximately HK$7.3 million (2022: approximately HK$12.0
million) was made in this segment. As at 31 March 2023, the fair value
of the investment properties was approximately HK$121.4 million after
addition of unrealised fair value gain of approximately HK$2.1 million
with reference to the valuation result conducted by an independent
professional valuer (2022: approximately HK$129.0 million).

Property Brokerage Business

The Group has been engaged in provision of residential and commercial
property brokerage and consultancy services in the PRC since June
2019. Currently, the major places of business activities are in Xi‘an,
Shaanxi Province and Xiangshan City, Zhejiang Province of the PRC. For
the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover of the Group's property
brokerage business amounted to approximately HK$0.8 million (2022:
nil) and the gross loss of approximately HK$0.2 million was recorded
(2022: approximately HK$2.1 million). One of the Group’s customers in
real estate related businesses, namely Ningbo Tiegong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd* (B TE AR AE) (“Ningbo Tiegong”) to whom the Group
has started to provide various real estate related services, including the
property brokerage services, since May 2020, was under winding-up
procedures. Based on the updated liquidation status of Ningbo Tiegong,
the result of lawsuits against Ningbo Tiegong and the manager of
liquidation, and the estimated value of collaterals held by the Group, the
Group recognised the impairment loss of approximately HK$4.6 million
on the partial amount due by Ningbo Tiegong in relation to property
brokerage business in the year ended 31 March 2023. Corresponding
loss of approximately HK$6.4 million was made in this segment (2022:
approximately HK$5.7 million).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Customised Technical Support Business

After the Group acquired a group of companies in August 2021 which
are principally engaged in the provision of financial information,
solutions and data analytical services to customers in finance and
property related field in the PRC, the Group combined such newly
acquired business with its building architecture and interior design
business so as to provide customised technical support services to
customers in the PRC. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover
of the Group's customised technical support business amounted to
approximately HK$34.6 million (2022: approximately HK$20.8 million)
and the gross profit of approximately HK$29.5 million was recorded
(2022: approximately HK$10.9 million). The Group was providing
customised technical support services to Ningbo Tiegong. Taken
into account the status of Ningbo Tiegong as disclosed in previous
section headed “Property Brokerage Business”, the Group recognised
the impairment loss of approximately HK$0.4 million on the partial
amount due by Ningbo Tiegong in relation to customised technical
support business in the year ended 31 March 2023. Segment profit of
approximately HK$13.3 million was made during the current year (2022:
loss of approximately HK$0.7 million).

Project Management Business

The Group has commenced to provide project management services
in the PRC since July 2020. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the
turnover of the Group's project management business amounted to
approximately HK$31.4 million (2022: approximately HK$44.8 million)
and the gross profit of approximately HK$26.5 million was recorded
(2022: approximately HK$36.5 million). The Group was providing project
management services to Ningbo Tiegong. Taken into account the status
of Ningbo Tiegong as disclosed in previous section headed “Property
Brokerage Business”, the Group recognised the impairment loss of
approximately HK$15.0 million on the partial amount due by Ningbo
Tiegong in relation to project management business in the year ended
31 March 2023. Segment loss of approximately HK$27.0 million was
incurred in this segment (2022: approximately HK$13.1 million).
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Geothermal Energy Business

The Group acquired a group of companies, which are principally
engaged in developing and utilising geothermal energy in provision of
heating and cooling supply to various buildings located in residential
areas in the PRC, in March 2020. Currently, the major places of business
activities are in Xi'an, Shaanxi Province and Henan Province of the
PRC. For the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover of the Group’s
geothermal energy business amounted to approximately HK$18.7
million (2022: approximately HK$18.4 million) and the gross profit was
approximately HK$5.4 million (2022: approximately HK$4.4 million).
Corresponding segment loss of approximately HK$3.0 million was
incurred in this segment (2022: approximately HK$6.9 million).

Building Construction Contracting Business

The Group acquired a company, which is principally engaged in building
construction contracting on project basis in the PRC, in May 2020. For
the year ended 31 March 2023, the turnover of the Group’s building
construction contracting business amounted to approximately HK$230.1
million (2022: approximately HK$329.5 million) and the gross profit of
approximately HK$38.3 million (2022: approximately HK$42.1 million)
was made. The Group was providing building construction contracting
services to Ningbo Tiegong. Taken into account the status of Ningbo
Tiegong as disclosed in previous section headed “Property Brokerage
Business”, the Group recognised the impairment loss of approximately
HK$9.3 million on the partial contract assets amount due by Ningbo
Tiegong in relation to building construction contracting business in
the year ended 31 March 2023. Corresponding profit of approximately
HK$14.8 million (2022: approximately HK$29.7 million) was achieved in
this segment.

Centralised Heating Business

The Group started the centralised heating business after becoming the
reorganisation investor of a company, which is principally engaged in
the business of providing the heat and steam supply services in the
licensed area of Yuncheng, Shanxi through centralised pipe networks,
in September 2020. The Group was further granted an exclusive license
for the provision of centralised heating service in Yuncheng City for
30 years from 1 January 2021. For the year ended 31 March 2023,
the turnover of the Group's centralised heating business amounted
to approximately HK$60.4 million (2022: approximately HK$64.6
million) and the gross loss of approximately HK$13.6 million (2022:
approximately HK$0.4 million) was incurred. The Group recorded a loss
of approximately HK$22.3 million (2022: approximately HK$7.7 million)
in this segment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OUTLOOK

Since 2023, the COVID-19 pandemic prevention and control policy has
been adjusted significantly, leading to the orderly resumption of social
production and life and the strong rebound of the Chinese economy
after reopening. Stimulated by demand-side policies such as interest
rate cuts and relaxation of purchase and loan restrictions, China’s real
estate industry has experienced a steady rise in sales, but the logic and
trend of long-term real estate growth may have changed. The Group'’s
businesses (especially the real estate-related service businesses) are
gradually recovering after experiencing the downturn caused by the
pandemic. On the basis of utilizing favourable policies to stabilize the
existing businesses, the Group is also constantly seeking new structural
adjustments and new development opportunities to increase the Group’s
profitability and enhance its sustainable operating capabilities.

The Group is currently reviewing and weighing its existing resources,
including the experience, expertise and personal network of directors
and management of the Company, aiming to further expand the existing
major businesses and explore possible development and cooperation.
While the existing businesses are developing steadily, the Group
intends to expand its business into the new retail field by virtue of
its development of big data and digital-related businesses in the past
few years, as well as the Group's experience and advantages in the
traditional trading business. The new retail industry, which is based on
the Internet and upgraded by applying advanced technologies such
as big data and artificial intelligence, has achieved a rapid and strong
development in recent years. The application of big data services in
the new retail industry has become an innovative way for merchants to
boost sales and to stimulate new momentum to the new retail industry.
It is believed to have promising prospect.

As for the existing principal businesses, the Group is also assessing
their development direction and consolidating the business foundation,
including but not limited to the following aspects: (i) in terms of trading
business, the Group will explore business opportunities in international
trade and Mainland China trade of commodities and frozen foods; (ii)
in terms of freight forwarding business, the Group will discuss with the
local operating team in Singapore on the possibility of management
buyout; (iii) in terms of finance leasing business, the Group has no
plan to develop new business cooperation and will continue to adopt
a prudent approach in seeking suitable opportunities with a balance
of risks and returns; (iv) in terms of securities investment business,
the Group will suspend this business in view of the current macro
environment, and will carefully consider investment when suitable
opportunities arise; and (v) in terms of geothermal energy business,
the Group intends to expand the business to other regions in China by
leveraging its existing operation at Xi'an and Henan.

ERE R

Al

TR ZFRURHEEEHERRARE
RE MEEELELTREFME FELEE
ENARERRYRE PEBMETER
METHA BRRBREEFERIFHRR
AT HEEEERMET BREHMERE
BENEENBSIEECEE -AEHE
2% (LHEMEMBKRE X £EET
EEBMERMERE EEZTER &
EEAENBERESREREEBNER
£ TR E S KR B A AR M S R A BY
BEMB LURSEAEENEN RIE®R]

REEEE -

AEBRIRAREGHRREEER 8215
ARBDEEREEBB AR FEANHK
AR ERE—TERRBETEEBUR
REUENERRGFE-EREEB TR
RENER REBERFMHEZAHE
RBFHEBEFNER REAEBEER
BREBHENKERREE  AEEE
MWEEBEMTERE -UEBESER
BEERABEBE  AIEEELRERTF
BRIAMBEHNNTETE TOXFES
SERMBYNER - KABERBENTE
TENEREMABKEERENAHH
B ST ETEGRMBE HRANRE
8 °

MRETBEFMS  2EEOEFEH
ERETBMNBECREEEGER  SEMAR
RUTETHE (WVEREHHT@ A%
EREBIRARE MR SRBmAER
BSRTEAMBEZHNEBRE (IEE
EBLEH AEEREFMKEMEEE
Btz TR BN S(INMBEEEEBET
H AEBEARESAIBRMPIESGE R
EEFNBENEE  EFH AR KRS
HERTEREEGRE (VEFREFXH
FHG AEEZRIBANEZRERERESY
FREH TEOHIHERBEERSE
BE, R(WHEAEXEBHE > ~EBEEU
BRRAEDBHEMBEAEEESEPEE
fhih & o

EEEMZERAERAT 2022/23F R

13



14

Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE R A

Looking forward, the Group will strive to strengthen its customer
base and diversify its product and service mix across different business
segments. The Group firmly believes that challenges and opportunities
coexist under the current situation. The Group will take prudent
measures to control operational risks and continue to expand its
business by exploring new opportunities.

LIQUIDITY AND CASHFLOW RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the equity and net current assets of the Group
amounted to approximately HK$890.4 million (2022: approximately
HK$1,260.5 million) and HK$138.2 million (2022: approximately
HK$448.4 million) respectively. On the same date, the Group had
bank balances and cash of approximately HK$50.1 million (2022:
approximately HK$46.0 million) and the current ratio was 1.14 (2022:
1.42). As at 31 March 2023, the Group had (i) secured trust loans
of approximately HK$228.5 million (2022: approximately HK$246.9
million) bearing fixed interest rate at 12% per annum and to be repaid
by installments on or before 31 March 2024, (ii) secured bank loans of
approximately HK$93.7 million (2022: approximately HK$88.9 million)
bearing fixed interest rates ranged from 3.65% to 5.15% per annum
and to be repaid from September 2023 to January 2024, (iii) unsecured
short-term loan from an independent lender of approximately HK$3.4
million (2022: approximately HK$3.7 million) bearing fixed interest rate
at 6% per annum and to be repaid on demand, (iv) interest-free and
unsecured advance payments from an independent third party and
subcontractor of approximately HK$3.4 million (2022: approximately
HK$13.7 million) and HK$102.4 million (2022: approximately HK$110.3
million) respectively to be repaid on demand.

As at 31 March 2023, the gearing ratio of the Group was approximately
0.23 (2022: approximately 0.20). The gearing ratio is measured on
the basis of the total amount of interest bearing and interest free
borrowings/advance payments over the amount of total assets. As
at 31 March 2023, the total amount of interest bearing and interest
free borrowings/advance payments and the amount of total asset
of the Group amounted to approximately HK$431.4 million (2022:
approximately HK$473.5 million) and approximately HK$1,894.2 million
(2022: approximately HK$2,340.9 million) respectively.

The Group has readily available financial resources for both general
working capital purposes and existing business operation.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, none of the Group’s securities was
pledged to brokers to secure the margin loan. As at 31 March 2023 and
2022, certain flats of the investment properties held by the Group were
pledged to banks to secure the bank loans borrowed to the Group.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group incurred
approximately HK$45.1 million (2022: approximately HK$13.9 million)
as capital expenditure mainly in respect of plant and equipment situated
in the PRC.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group had no material capital
commitment.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD

As at 31 March 2023, the Group held financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income of approximately HK$8.8 million
(2022: approximately HK$8.6 million) which represented unlisted
equity securities in Hong Kong. No financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss in relation to equity securities was held as at 31 March
2023 (2022: nil). During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group
recorded a fair value gain of approximately HK$0.1 million on securities
investments that are not held for trading in other comprehensive income
(2022: nil).

The Board acknowledges that the performance of the equities may be
affected by the degree of volatility in the stock market and susceptible
to other external factors that may affect their values. Accordingly, in
order to mitigate possible financial risks related to the equities, the
Board will continue to closely monitor the performance of its investment
portfolio (if any) from time to time.

As at 31 March 2023, the Company did not hold any significant
investments in an investee company with a value of 5% or more of the
Company’s total assets.
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MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSAL

There was no material acquisition or disposal (including the acquisition
or disposal of subsidiaries and associated companies) for the year ended
31 March 2023.

FUND RAISING ACTIVITIES

The Company did not conduct any fund raising activities in relation to
issue of equity securities during the year ended 31 March 2023.

As at 31 March 2023, the amount of approximately HK$11 million out
of net proceeds from the Company’s rights issue, which was completed
on 14 July 2021, remained unused and was intended to be utilised for
the settlement of unpaid investment sum to Tiandi Youdamei (Beijing)
Cultural Tourism Company Limited* (R#iE A3 (IbR) XRAERAF)
("Tiandi Youdamei”).

Tiandi Youdamei and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in hotel
operation and management and the hospitality field has been affected
by the COIVD-19 pandemic in recent years. As such, the synergy effect
of this investment with the Group’s current businesses is lower than
expected. The Group has been in negotiation with the other shareholder
of Tiandi Youdamei for possible disposal of its shareholding in Tiandi
Youdamei. In the event that the aforesaid disposal transaction is
realised, further investment in Tiandi Youdamei will not proceed and the
net proceeds of approximately HK$11.0 million will be used as general
working capital of the Group.

EXPOSURE TO FLUCTUATIONS IN EXCHANGE
RATES

The Group’s monetary assets and transactions are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi and US dollars. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, there was no significant fluctuation
in the exchange rates of Hong Kong dollars and US dollars whereas
Renminbi had a downward adjustment, resulting in an exchange loss
of approximately HK$44.8 million recognised as other comprehensive
expense of the Group. The Group will take a prudent approach against
any impact arising from the fluctuation in exchange rates but currently
is not engaged in any derivative activities and not committed to any
financial instruments to hedge its balance sheet exposure.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EMPLOYEE AND HUMAN RESOURCES POLICY

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had 286 staff (2022: 332 staff).
The total staff cost incurred for the year ended 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$72.7 million (2022: approximately HK$81.4 million).
The remuneration of employees was determined with reference to
the qualification and experience of individual staff member, market
circumstances and the Group's performance. In accordance with the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”), the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function have adequate training
programmes and budget.

Pursuant to a share option scheme adopted on 1 September 2021 (the
“2021 Share Option Scheme”), the Board may grant options to, among
other, directors (including non-executive directors and independent
non-executive directors) and employees of the Company and any of
its subsidiaries or associated companies, to subscribe for shares of the
Company. During the year ended 31 March 2023, 30,000,000 share
options were granted to certain employees of the Group under the 2021
Share Option Scheme.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved not to recommend any final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday,
29 August 2023 to Tuesday, 5 September 2023 (both days inclusive),
during which no transfer of shares will be registered. In order to qualify
to be shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the annual
general meeting to be held on Tuesday, 5 September 2023, all transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be
lodged with the Company's branch share registrar and transfer office
in Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 28
August 2023.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board has established the audit committee of the Company (the
“Audit Committee”) in accordance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee currently comprises Ms. Yin Meiqun, Mr. Liu Tonghui and
Mr. Ye Jianmu, the three independent non-executive directors of the
Company. A summary of duties and works of the Audit Committee is set
out in the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Group and discussed auditing, internal control
and financial reporting matters. The Audit Committee has reviewed the
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 in
conjunction with the Company’s external auditor, ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA
Limited.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE OF THE
LISTING RULES

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has fully
complied with the code provisions of the new Corporate Governance
Code (the "CG Code”) which came into effect on 1 January 2022 as
set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules, with deviation from the
code provisions C.1.6 and D.2.5. Details of the Company’s corporate
governance are set out in the section headed “Corporate Governance
Report” of this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for establishing and
maintaining the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems to safeguard shareholders’ investment and for reviewing the
effectiveness of such systems on an annual basis under code provision
D.2.1 of the CG Code.

The Group has adopted and followed a series of internal control
procedures to regulate the money lending business and the finance
leasing business to ensure a comprehensive risk management, so as to
safeguard the interests of the Company and its shareholders, including
(i) credit risk assessment by the business team, (ii) formulation of the
preliminary business proposal by the business team, (iii) assessment
by the risk control and compliance department, (iv) credit approval,
and (v) ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and loan collection.
Details of such internal control procedures are set out in note 7 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Group strives to attain and maintain high standards of corporate
governance to enhance shareholders’ value and safeguard shareholders’
interests. The Group’s corporate governance principles emphasise
a quality Board, effective internal control and accountability to
shareholders.

The Board believes that good corporate governance practices are
increasingly important for maintaining and promoting shareholder value
and investor confidence.

The CG Code contained in Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules sets out
(a) the mandatory requirements for disclosure; and (b) the principles
of good corporate governance, the code provisions on a “comply or
explain” basis and certain recommended best practices.

The Company's corporate governance practices are based on the
principles, code provisions and certain recommended best practices as
set out in the CG Code.

Throughout the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has complied
with the code provisions set out in the CG Code, save for the deviations
from the code provisions C.1.6 and D.2.5 which are explained in the
relevant paragraphs in this report.

The Company will continue to enhance its corporate governance
practices appropriate to the conduct and growth of its business and to
review its corporate governance practices from time to time to ensure
they comply with the CG Code and align with the latest developments
of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’'s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of
the Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All directors should
take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board sets policy direction and approves strategies/operational plans
to ensure effective functioning and growth of the Company, in the
interests of all shareholders.

Every director shall ensure that he/she carries out his/her duty in
good faith and in compliance with the standards of applicable laws
and regulations, and acts in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times.

DELEGATION OF MANAGEMENT FUNCTIONS

The Board undertakes responsibility for decision making in major
matters of the Company, including: the approval and monitoring of
all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control and
risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those
may involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information
as well as the advice and services of the company secretary of the
Company (the “Company Secretary”), with a view to ensuring that
Board's procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are followed.

Each director is normally able to seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances at the Company's expense, upon making
request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the executive directors and the senior
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are periodically
reviewed. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior to any
significant transactions entered into by the abovementioned officers.

The Board has the full support of the executive directors and the senior
management to discharge its responsibility.
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BOARD COMPOSITION

The composition of the Board ensures a balance of skills, experience and
diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business
of the Company and to the exercising of independent judgment.

As at the date of this report, the Board currently comprises five
executive directors and three independent non-executive directors. Save
as disclosed in the section of “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this annual report, members of the Board do
not have any relationship with any other director.

The list of all directors and their biographies are set out under the
section of “Corporate Information” and “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 2 and page 60 respectively
and in all corporate communications issued by the Company pursuant
to the Listing Rules from time to time. The independent non-executive
directors are expressly identified in all corporate communications
pursuant to the Listing Rules.

During the year, the Board at all times met the requirements of the
Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director possessing appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting
or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive director for his/her independence pursuant
to the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 3.13 and
other requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all
independent non-executive directors to be independent in accordance
with the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

All directors, including independent non-executive directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience and skills,
knowledge and professionalism to the Board for its efficient and
effective functions. Independent non-executive directors are invited to
serve on the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees of the
Company.
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APPOINTMENT, RE-ELECTION AND REMOVAL
OF DIRECTORS

The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal
of directors are set out in the Company’s Bye-laws. The Nomination
Committee is responsible for reviewing the Board composition,
developing and formulating the relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors, monitoring the appointment and succession
planning of directors and assessing the independence of independent
non-executive directors. Details of the Nomination Committee and its
works performed during the year are set out in the “Board Committees”
section below.

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

In accordance with the Company’s Bye-laws, all directors of the
Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three
years and any new director appointed to fill a causal vacancy or as an
addition to the Board shall submit himself for re-election by shareholders
at the first general meeting after appointment.

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company’'s Bye-laws, Mr. Ye
Jianmu will be subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Wang
Yinggian, Mr. Fan Jie and Mr. Li Haitao shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting.

The Board recommended the re-appointment of the directors standing
for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

TRAINING FOR DIRECTORS

Pursuant to requirement in the code provision C.1.1, each newly
appointed director should receive a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction on appointment. Subsequently he or she should receive any
briefing and professional development necessary to ensure that he or
she has a proper understanding of the business and operations of the
Company and that he or she is fully aware of his or her responsibilities
and obligations under statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal
and other regulatory requirements and the Company’s business and
governance policies.
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The Board recognises the importance of directors’ training and all
directors should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. During the year
ended 31 March 2023, all directors have participated in continuous
professional development by attending training courses and/or reading
reference materials on the topics related to corporate governance and

regulations:

Corporate Governance Report
EXERBRS

EERRAINEEZBICEEN B2
EEHELNPFESEER UERAE
MEENHHEEEE - REEZZ2 =
—B=+—HULEFEE -FEESHESEE
2MERCEEAREEZBIIERER
FEBEBL2EMER2EFTETSXERIE
gl

Attending expert
briefings/seminars/

conferences
relevant to the
Reading regulatory business or
updates director’s duties
HEEMESH
EZWEN
REEERTE EXERE
ZRITEN metE g3
Executive Directors HITES
Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman) FRETLL (FE) 4 4
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer) RANEE (THAEZ) 4 v
Mr. Fan Jie B E 4 4
Mr. Li Haitao FRBERE 4 4
Ms. Tao Lei MmELL v/ v
Independent Non-Executive Directors BIIFHITES
Mr. Liu Tonghui ZIfpELRL v 4
Ms. Yin Meigun FEEZL 4 v
Mr. Ye Jianmu BEAEE
(with effect from 11 October 2022) (BZE-_#F+H+—HELX) v v
Mr. Liu Haiping ZEREE
(ceased on 29 April 2022) (RZFEZZFF =+ HEEE) v v
Mr. Ru Xiangan mERRE
(ceased on 11 October 2022) (RZFEZZF+A+—HEEF) v/ 4
MEETINGS =E
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance Ry BEEEY ERLER

During the year ended 31 March 2023,

regular Board meetings

were held for reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, and considering and approving the overall strategies
and policies of the Company. Most important resolutions agreed in
Board meetings were made by all directors including executive and

independent non-executive directors.
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The attendance records of each director at the meetings of the
shareholders, the Board, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Executive Committee
(for corporate governance functions) during the year are set out below:

FRBREFNRIAE - EF/H FtE
BEg - HFMEET RLEETRITEE
g EXELRREMR §F2BALRE
BT

Meetings Attended/Eligible to Attend

B/ AERLEZES
Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Executive
Shareholders Board Committee Committee Committee Committee
Name of Directors BEENL xR E2R BiZB¢ HMZ8g¢ R4%E8% HEEE
(Note)
(GE)
Executive Directors RTES
Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman) IBTRT(ZE) 171 44 Not Applicable  Not Applicable 111" Not Applicable
TEH TEA TER
Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer) R (7THAE%) 0 4/4  Not Applicable  Not Applicable ~ Not Applicable 171
TEH TEA TER
Mr. Fan Jie 37 Pk 171 44 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171
TEH TEA TER
Mr. Li Haitao FEERE 0/1 44 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171
TEH TEA TER
Ms. Tao Lei BEL+ 0/1 44 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable 171
TEH TEA TER
Independent Non-Executive Bif#TES
Directors
Mr. Liu Tonghui AERE 0/1 414 ) 111 111" Not Applicable
TER
Ms. Yin Meigun FEELT 0/1 3/4 ) 111 111" Not Applicable
TER
Mr. Ye Jianmu BRALL (HZFZ2F Not Applicable 2 1/1° Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable
(with effect from 11 October 2022)  +5+—HE£5) TER TER B B
Mr. Liu Haiping 2ERLE (FZZF "4 Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable  Not Applicable
(ceased on 29 April 2022) BB =+ HEE) TER TER TEH NEA TEA TER
Mr. Ru Xiangan IHZEE R -E- on 22 7 7 1/1 Not Applicable
(ceased on 11 October 2022) +H+—HET) B
Note: Among meetings of the Executive Committee, one meeting was held for the fisE: MRATEZEGzEZT HP—RSEDHE

purpose of performing the corporate governance duties and the attendances of
the members of the Executive Committee at this meeting is disclosed under the
CG Code.
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Under the code provision C.1.6 of the CG Code, the independent non-
executive directors and other non-executive directors should attend
general meetings and develop a balanced understanding of the views
of shareholders. Due to influence of COVID-19 pandemic, three
independent non-executive directors namely, Mr. Ru Xiangan (ceased on
11 October 2022), Mr. Liu Tonghui and Ms. Yin Meiqun, were unable
to attend the Company’s annual general meetings held on 2 September
2022.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Annual meeting schedules and draft agenda of each meeting are
normally made available to directors in advance.

Notices of regular Board meetings are served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings. For other Board and committee meetings,
reasonable notice is generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors at least 3 days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the directors appraised of the
latest developments and financial position of the Company and to
enable them to make informed decisions. The Board and each director
also have separate and independent access to the senior management
whenever necessary.

The Chairman and the Company Secretary attend almost all regular
Board meetings and when necessary, other Board and committee
meetings to advise on business developments, financial and accounting
matters, statutory compliance, corporate governance and other major
aspects of the Company.

The Company Secretary is responsible for keeping minutes of all
Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to directors for comment within a reasonable period of
time after each meeting and the final version is open for directors’
inspection.

According to the current Board practice, any material transaction which
involves a material conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder
or a director will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting and independent non-executive directors who,
and whose associates, have no material interest in the transaction are
present at the Board meeting.

The Company’s Bye-laws also contain provisions requiring directors to
abstain from voting (nor be counted in the quorum) at meetings for
approving transactions in which such directors or any of their associates
have a material interest.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive should be clearly established and set out in
writing.

The role of the chairman was performed by Ms. Wang Yinggian, who
provided leadership for the Board and was responsible for chairing
meetings, managing the operations of the Board and ensuring that all
major and appropriate issues were discussed by the Board in a timely
and constructive manner. She was also responsible for the strategic
management of the Group and for formulating the Group's overall
corporate direction and focus.

The role of chief executive officer was performed by Mr. Qin Jie, who
was responsible for the overall management and operations of the
Group. He was also responsible for running the businesses of the Group
and implementing the Group’s strategic plans and business goals.

BOARD COMMITTEES

Currently, the Company has four committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Executive Committee, for overseeing particular
aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the
Company are established with defined written terms of reference.
Save for the Executive Committee, the terms of reference of the
other Board committees are made available to shareholders on
the websites of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”) (http://www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(http://www.cbgroup.com.hk) respectively.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to
discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee comprises the following independent non-
executive directors.
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Bt EGHA NBILIFRITESEM -

From From
1 April 2022 11 October 2022 From From
to the date of to the date of 1 April 2022 to 1 April 2022 to
this report this report 28 April 2022 10 October 2022
—g_C BZ®”Z
BZ®-Z BZ®ZZ mA—REE mA—-AEE
mA—-B#E +A+—-HAEE - St -3-C
&AM FREAH mAZ+/\R +A+H
Ms. Yin Meiqun (Chairman) (Note) — B EEZ L (/) (M) v
Mr. Liu Tonghui Afers 4
Mr. Ye Jianmu ERpArk 4
Mr. Liu Haiping ABRRE v
Mr. Ru Xiangan (Note) TR () v
Note: Bk -

With effect from 11 October 2022, Mr. Ru Xiangan ceased to be the chairman of the
Audit Committee and Ms. Yin Meiqun was appointed to fill the vacancy.

Among the committee members, one of them possesses the
appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise. None of the members of the Audit Committee is
a former partner of the Company’s existing external auditors.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

e to review the financial statements and reports and consider any
significant or unusual items raised by the staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function, internal auditor (if
any) or external auditors before submission to the Board;

e  to review the relationship with the external auditors by reference
to the work performed by the auditors, their fees and terms
of engagement, their independence and objectivity, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment, reappointment
and removal of external auditors; and

e to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control system and risk
management system and associated procedures.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year to review the
half-yearly and annual financial results and reports, financial reporting
and compliance procedures, report on the Company’s internal control
and risk management review and processes and the re-appointment of
the external auditors.
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The attendance records of the Audit Committee are set out under the
section “Meetings” in this report.

The Company's annual results for the year ended 31 March 2023 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

BN ZEECHRELHRBENARSZ T
1 —HiR e

B ZECBRALRRABE_S_=F
A=+ HUEFEZ2FXE-

RBZEEG

The Nomination Committee comprises the following directors. RREETEEH NI ESEHM-
From From
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Executive Director HiTES
Ms. Wang Yinggian (Chairman) THETLE (FE) v
Independent Non-Executive BIEHTEE
Directors
Mr. Liu Tonghui s 4
Ms. Yin Meiqun FEELL 4
Mr. Ye Jianmu ERALLE 4
Mr. Liu Haiping ABRLE v
Mr. Ru Xiangan Rkt v

The main duties of the Nomination Committee include the following:

. to review the structure, size, composition and diversity (including
the skills, knowledge, experience and gender of the Board and
make recommendations regarding any proposed changes;

o to develop and formulate relevant procedures for nomination and
appointment of directors and senior management;

o to identify suitable candidates for appointment as directors and
senior management;

o to make recommendations to the Board on appointment or
reappointment of and succession planning for directors and senior

management; and

o to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

RYEZEEZIEMBEENTRIE!

s BNEFRZER RE -BHAKRZT
b (B AR AE ~ M~ SEBR X 1% 7)) » Ik
MEMEZEIHRHIEBRER

e REMGHREBRLAZEEFKD
REEBZER

s YVBBESZEFAkSREEEREA
=

s MEFASREEBZZENEEK
BESAIDESRRLERESR &

o HMEBIMIFRTERZEIIME-



Board Diversity Policy

The Company believes that the diversity of Board members will
be immensely beneficial for the enhancement of the Company’s
performance. Therefore, the Company has adopted a board diversity
policy which sets out the approach to achieve and maintain an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board. The
Nomination Committee carries out the process of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorships and senior management
by making reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, the
Company's needs and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations. An external recruitment agency may be engaged to carry
out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year to review
the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board and made
recommendations to the Board in accordance with the Nomination
Committee’s written terms of reference. The Nomination Committee
considers that board appointments are based on merit and candidates
are considered against objective criteria, having due regard for the
benefits of diversity on the Board, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service.

The ultimate decision will be based on merit and contribution that the
selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee
shall discuss and where necessary, agree on the measurable objectives
for achieving diversity on the Board and make recommendation to
the Board. The Board may adopt and/or amend from time to time (as
applicable) such diversity perspectives and/or measurable objectives
that are appropriate to the Company’s business and Board succession
planning, as applicable.

The Company has also adopted a director nomination policy setting out
the procedures and criteria to be used by the Company in relation to
the selection, appointment and re-appointment of directors to ensure
that the Board maintains an appropriate mix and balance of skills,
knowledge, experience and diversity of perspectives to the requirements
of the Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee shall make reference to the director
nomination policy and the board diversity policy to nominate suitably
qualified candidates to the Board for it to consider and make
recommendations to shareholders for election as directors at general
meetings or appoint as directors to fill casual vacancies or as an addition
to the Board.

Corporate Governance Report
EXERBRS

EERZTTIEHEK

XABRHEEFRERESTEHREAER
BNRIRAE G AL ARATERME
EREZTIEHFR ERHBEEBRREFTE
EREZTICTEBEEFTENSH - REE
BEERTNEREBRESASREEER
BAZERF ERZ2EZIFIATZRE
B FENB EARERRRZERE
RABZBEUREMABREERE KR
Pl-tNARE NELRIBHEEBAELT
ETHBRERRF -

FRRZBEEEERT —REH LIRS
EEXERZRB - RE B RZTE TR
BR2ZEENEERERLE REFH
RHEBRZ -RLEZEEIX D EFHA
AMA EEFEBEEFHEMBEZTIEZ
BmE REFRERBIENE ERIEE
EBRRIRENF8 - XERESER B
T~ BERAERR  BAE s MR AEHA -

RERBREEREANEREMAAIBEES
HROEMMERE - RREEEREH
mk (MERE BESEBERNEEFRANES
TENEEER TRNEFFHEHER
BE-EERAIRMERHAREET (W08
A BMZTtBER RN EEARE
BREFRMEESSE WER WAER

o

ARBTFERMEFRABER HIERQ
AMBE - ZERENMEZEESFHAANE
FRZE LBREEFRNTEEARER
2R REAEMH - SRR S RNERT
HAEFBEERAS KT E-

RYPEEEASEEERVERRESS
ZREHR URNEZRR2AFGESR
BOEREAUHEEEERE > UAMIKNRKRE
AEERARATHEEIESTHZERRA
THREEEFUEFHBRTERFERESH
B MRERITHERZE -

EEEMZERAERAT 2022/23F R

29



Corporate Governance Report
EXERRS

The Board currently comprises eight directors, of whom three are female
and five are male. The Nomination Committee will continue to review
the board diversity policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness and
discuss any revisions that may be required, and recommend any such
revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

As at 31 March 2023, among the Group's employees (including senior
management), approximately 25% were female and approximately
75% were male. The Group strives to achieve appropriate balance of
gender diversity with reference to the stakeholders’ expectation and
international and local recommended best practices. The Group is not
aware of any mitigating factor or circumstances which make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior management)
more challenging or less relevant. Details of the Group's gender ratio
and related data are set out in the section of “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” of this annual report.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of
the Board. The Nomination Committee will review the board diversity
policy from time to time to ensure its continued effectiveness and
the Company will disclose the implementation of the board diversity
policy in its corporate governance report on an annual basis. During
the year, the Board and the Nomination Committee has reviewed the
implementation and effectiveness of the board diversity policy.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee comprises the following independent
non-executive directors.
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Note:

With effect from 11 October 2022, Mr. Ru Xiangan ceased to be the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee and Mr. Liu Tonghui was appointed to fill the vacancy.

The Company has adopted the model set out in the code provision
E.1.2 of the CG Code as its Remuneration Committee model. The
primary objectives of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations on and approving the remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages of the executive directors
and the senior management. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing such
remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of
his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration,
which remuneration will be determined by reference to the individual
performance and the operating results of the Company as well as the
market conditions and practice. It is also responsible for the review and/
or approval of matters relating to the Company’s share schemes under
Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets for reviewing the
remuneration policy and structure and determination or making
recommendation of the annual remuneration packages of the executive
directors and the senior management and other related matters
when needs arise. The Human Resources Division is responsible for
collection and administration of the human resources data and making
recommendations to the Remuneration Committee for consideration.
The Remuneration Committee shall consult the Chairman and/or the
Board about these recommendations on remuneration policy and
structure and remuneration packages.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year to
review the remuneration packages of the directors and the senior
management and made recommendation to the Board in accordance
with the Remuneration Committee’s written terms of reference.
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

The Executive Committee comprises four executive directors of the
Company, namely, Mr. Qin Jie, Mr. Fan Jie, Mr. Li Haitao and Ms. Tao Lei.
The Chairman of the Executive Committee is Mr. Qin Jie.

The Executive Committee has been conferred upon with the general
powers of the Board (except those matters specifically reserved for
the Board) to manage and oversee the operations of the Group and
has been assigned with the responsibilities to perform the corporate
governance duties including but not limited to:

o to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the Board;

e to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the
Company;

o to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

o to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to the directors and
employees;

o to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report; and

o to conform to any requirement, direction, regulation that may
from time to time be prescribed by the Board or contained in the

constitution of the Company or imposed by legislation.

During the year, the policies of the corporate governance of the
Company were reviewed by the Executive Committee.
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BOARD ANNUAL EVALUATION

To ensure independent view and input from directors are available to
the Board and to drive continuous improvement in board performance,
the Board has established the Board Performance Evaluation Method
in the year ended 31 March 2023 and it will be reviewed by the Board
on an annual basis to ensure its effectiveness. Led by the Chairman,
starting from the year under review, the Board conducted annual board
performance evaluation in the form of questionnaire and, if required,
one-on-one meeting between the Chairman and individual director.
The primary goal of the board performance evaluation is to assess
board culture and dynamics, ensure optimal board composition and
improve board practices and enhance effectiveness. Views of individual
director in respect of mastery of the Company’s goal and tasks, director
responsibility, the degree of participation in the Company’s operations,
internal relationship management and communication, director training
and internal control are collected and consolidated to be presented
to the Nomination Committee annually to discuss the results and the
action plan for improvement, if appropriate. For the year under review,
the Nomination Committee considered all aspects evaluated are overall
effectively performed and adequate.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Particulars of the directors’ remuneration for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022 as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16
to the Listing Rules are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration of
the members of the senior management (other than directors) by band
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for the year ended 31 March 2023 is as follows: B8 (BERRIN ZHBAERWT
Number of
individuals

Remuneration band i 4E B A

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017 75 22,000,000 75 1

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been made on all directors and
the directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model
Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2023.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation of financial
statements of the Company with a view to ensuring that such financial
statements give a true and fair view and that relevant statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards are complied with.

The management of the Company provides such explanation and
information to the Board so as to enable the Board to make an informed
assessment of the financial information and position of the Company
which were put to the Board for approval.

EXTERNAL AUDITORS

The statement of the external auditors of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set
out in the “Independent Auditor’s Report” on page 77.

An analysis of the remuneration of the Company’s auditors, ZHONGHUI
ANDA CPA Limited, and its affiliate, for the year ended 31 March 2023
is set out as follows:

%%ﬁﬁ%%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%Zﬁ

EFHRHARUNEARABE_ZT " =F
ZR=+—HLEFENMBERERZBE

EFXFEERRERGREARAMBREZB
B UERZEMBERRSEBEAT UK
NEBEREZERERBER G2

ARBEEEONESRRERHEBEKRER
UEEEREHRETEFTRUEZER
Bl B E R BGRREIT B o

SMBS i BB

ERARRBIINBZBMH R ESRE ST
BRZHFRBEFMFENBERENET7TE
Z B ZBETR S o

BHE_E_=—F=-A=Z+—HLFE &K
NEIZHBAPEZZSAMETAERA
SAREBRBASFIEMNSHN D FES W
T

Fee paid/
payable

for services
rendered
BRMRH
RIEET
eS8 &
HK$'000
TFHET

ZHRT
PR B AR TS
HASZ% T
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Interim review services
Other ad-hoc assignments
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board acknowledges that it has overall responsibility for evaluating
and determining the nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in
achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, maintaining appropriate and
effective risk management and internal control systems, and reviewing
their effectiveness. The Board oversees management in the design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems. The systems and internal controls can only provide
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of
failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group has established an on-going process for identifying,
evaluating and managing the significant risks of the Group. Business
units are responsible for identifying, assessing and monitoring risks
associated with their respective units. The results of evaluation will
be reported to management through regular internal meetings. Each
year, management prepares the risk assessment report listing the risks
identified and management’s assessment on the impact to the Group.
The Board discusses findings in the risk assessment report and evaluates
the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system
in Board meeting, and resolves any material internal control defects.
The Board has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems, and the Company considered
them effective and adequate.

The key elements of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include the following:

e  the organisational structure is clearly defined with distinct lines of
authority and control responsibilities;

o a comprehensive financial accounting system has been established
to provide for performance measurement indicators and to ensure
compliance with relevant rules;

e the senior management shall prepare annual plans on financial
reporting, operations and compliance aspects by reference to
potential significant risks;

o unauthorised expenditures and release of confidential information
are strictly prohibited;

o specific approval by executive director prior to commitment is
required for all material matters; and

e the management shall review and evaluate the control process and
monitor any risk factors on a regular basis and report to the Audit
Committee on any findings and measures to address the variances
and identified risks.
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The Group handles and disseminates inside information with due care.
Staff is required to comply with the confidentiality terms inside the
staff manual. Only personnel at appropriate level can get reach of price
sensitive and inside information. The Company regularly reminds the
directors and employees about compliance with all policies adopted by
the Company regarding inside information including the Model Code
set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules in relation to dealings in
securities of the Company.

Appropriate policies and controls have been designed and established
to ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal,
relevant rules and regulations are adhered to and complied with, reliable
financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with
relevant accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements.

Under the code provision D.2.5 of the CG Code, the Group should
have an internal audit function. However, due to the size of the Group
and for cost effectiveness consideration, the Group currently does
not have an internal audit function. Instead, the Audit Committee is
responsible for a review on the internal control system annually. The
review covers major financial, operational controls in rotation basis and
also the risk management functions. The Audit Committee agreed that
the Group should review and strengthen (if applicable) the internal
control and risk management in respect of the trading business after
the deregistration of its customers occurred. Save for the aforesaid, no
significant deficiency was identified under current year's review and the
systems were operating effectively and adequately. The Group continues
to review the need for an internal audit function annually.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy of the Company (the “Dividend Policy”) is in place
setting out the principles and guidelines that the Company intends to
apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net
profits as dividends to the shareholders of the Company.

The Board shall take into account of, including but not limited to, the
following factors when considering the declaration and payment of
dividends:

o the Company’s actual and expected financial performance;

o retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Group;

o the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity and
the relevant financial covenants;

o any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be imposed by
the Group’s contracting parties;
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o the Group's expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have an
impact on the business or financial performance and position of
the Company; and

o any other factors that the Board may deem appropriate.

The Dividend Policy shall be reviewed when necessary, and can be
revised by the Board from time to time.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of the Company Secretary is held by Mr. Ho Yu. His
biography is set out in the “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” section on page 60. Mr. Ho reports to the Chairman of
the Board from time to time. All directors have access to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary to ensure that board procedures, and
all applicable laws, rules and regulations are followed. During the year,
Mr. Ho undertook not less than 15 hours of professional training to
update his skills and knowledge.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company believes that effective communication with shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investors’ understanding
of the Group’s business performance and strategies. The Group also
recognises the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of
corporate information which enables shareholders and investors to make
a properly informed investment decision.

The Company continues to enhance communications and relationships
with its investors. Enquiries from investors are dealt with in an
informative and timely manner. Investors may write directly to the
Company at its principal place of business in Hong Kong for any
inquiries.

The annual general meeting (the “AGM") provides opportunity for
the shareholders to communicate directly with the directors. The
Chairman of the Company and the chairmen of the Board Committees
of the Company or, in their absence, other members of the respective
committees, will attend the AGM to answer shareholders’ questions.
The auditor of the Company will also attend the AGM to answer
qguestions about the conduct of the audit, the preparation and
content of the auditor's report, the accounting policies and auditor
independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
at www.cbgroup.com.hk, where extensive information and updates
on the Company's business developments and operations, financial
information, corporate governance practices and other information are
available for public access.

In view of the above shareholders’ communication policy, the Board
considered that the implementation of the shareholders’ communication
policy is satisfactory and effective during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

Under the Company’s Bye-laws, the Board, on the requisition of
shareholders of the Company holding not less than 10% of the paid-
up capital of the Company by sending a written notice to the Board or
the Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong, shall convene a special general meeting to address specific
issues of the Company within 21 days from the date of deposit of
written notice. The same requirement and procedure also applies to any
proposal to be tabled at shareholders’ meetings for adoption.

Specific enquiries by shareholders requiring the Board’s attention can be
sent in writing to the Board or the Company Secretary at the Company’s
principal place of business in Hong Kong.

In addition, the Company maintains contact with its shareholders
through annual general meetings or other general meetings, and
encourages shareholders to attend those meetings.

Notice of general meeting is sent by mail to the registered shareholders
of the Company. Agenda and resolutions are set out in the notice of
general meeting. A proxy form for use at a general meeting is enclosed
with the notice. Shareholders who do not intend or are unable to be
present at the meeting should fill out the form and return the same to
the share registrar and transfer office of the Company, so as to appoint
a representative, another shareholder or the chairman of the meeting as
their proxy.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

The Board confirmed that, during the year, there were no significant
changes made to the Company’s Bye-laws affecting its operations and
reporting practices.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

RREBRZBR AABNKB R
www.cbgroup.com.hk » A B & i 4855
EEMAXBERKREEZEEENKR
MER MBEER rEBEAERAREME
K DU AR A L HBE -

ENLARRBERR  EFRIAH/NE
BEERARRBBRERNATERS AW
BEHBEM-

ARERER

REBEAQTDHATDMAA  HHFEFDRE
NEHEREI0%NERBRR  BES
BRABWE  BERIEHERNEEEN
WA/ AERBNEBTEEEXME - EF
BRRREREERMERAEF218R 4
AREFSNAEURERAATDNEHRSE
HeFA—REKREFOERAREMINRKRR
AE ERBUERA S -

REMAAEFEHIFLFHESR > AIUE
EFEARRKREZ/REAATNWE  HUAB/E
NENEBITEEFEME -

i ZRBEBRITRRBFERGHH
thIRERAE > BRF—EFRTHE > WEE
REEFZEFRG -

AABELREAIUE T A LWL R K
RS RRAREGESTHARERRESR
THERRRAGEANRREZERK T
BUREHERRAEGHORE BIEZ X
BIAERZEBIAATRNDBFLBLE  UEE
— AR S —RRRAREERFEER
FEHRENRK-

BREXH
EERRD ENEAT T AFBAIEE
EHEHEERBESIRERY BNEA
25



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group is pleased to present its Environmental, Social and
Governance Report (the "ESG Report”) for the year ended 31 March
2023 ("Year 2022/23") to demonstrate its commitment to sustainable
development in aspects of environmental, social and governance (the
"ESG").

This ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “"ESG Reporting Guide"”)
as set out in Appendix 27 of the Listing Rules, which covers two
subject areas, Environmental and Social. Please refer to the Corporate
Governance Report in the annual report of the Company for details of
corporate governance of the Group.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
The Board’s oversight of ESG issues

The Board has a primary role in overseeing the Group's ESG issues. For
the Year 2022/23, the Board and the management evaluated from time
to time the impacts of ESG-related risks towards the operation and
formulated ESG-related policies in dealing with relevant risks. The Board
ensures that the management has all appropriate tools and resources to
oversee the ESG issues. The Group highly values the opinions of each
stakeholder and regards them as the cornerstone for the development
of the Group. For the Year 2022/23, ESG governance and ESG-related
issues were reviewed at regular meetings.

The Board’s ESG management approach and
strategy for material ESG-related issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of different
stakeholders on the ESG issues, materiality assessment is conducted
annually by the Group. The Group ensures various platforms, and
channels of communication are used to reach, listen and respond
to its key stakeholders. Through general communication with the
stakeholders, the Group is able to understand the expectations and
concerns from its stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group
to make more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impacts of the business decisions.
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The Group has evaluated the materiality of ESG aspects through the
following steps: (i) identification of ESG issues by the Group; (ii) key ESG
areas prioritization with stakeholder engagement; and (iii) validation and
determining material ESG issues based on the results of communication
with the stakeholders.

Engaging in these steps can enhance the understanding of the degree
of importance of the Group’s stakeholders to each material ESG issue,
and can enable the Board to plan the sustainable development direction
more comprehensively in the future.

The Board’s review progress against ESG-related
objectives and targets

The performance and the implementation progress of the ESG-related
objectives and targets should be carefully reviewed by the Group from
time to time. If the progress falls short of expectation or changes
of business operations, it may be necessary to make changes and
communicate about the objectives and targets with key stakeholders
such as employees, customers and suppliers.

The Board has set future strategic goals to enable the Group to develop
a realistic path and focus on the development direction for achieving its
vision. The Board will carefully examine the attainability of the targets
which should be weighed against the Group’s philosophy and goals.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

This ESG Report follows the four reporting principles in the ESG
Reporting Guide, including:

Materiality: the Group has identified a number of issues which cover
ESG, and invited stakeholders to assess the materiality of such issues
in the Year 2022/23. For details, please refer to the section headed
“Materiality Assessment” in this ESG Report.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Quantitative: data presented in this ESG Report have been collected
prudently. Please refer to the environmental and social performance
data for standards and methodologies used for calculation of key
performance indicators (“KPIs").

Balance: an unbiased and balanced picture of the performance has been
disclosed in a transparent manner.

Consistency: unless otherwise stated, this ESG Report uses the same
methodologies and KPIs as disclosed in previous ESG reports of the
Group to facilitate comparability at any time.

SCOPE OF REPORTING

The Group is principally engaged in: (i) trading of goods; (ii) the finance
leasing business; (iii) the money lending business; (iv) the securities and
futures dealing and related consultancy services; (v) international air
and sea freight forwarding and the provision of logistics services; (vi)
trading of securities; (vii) property investment business; (viii) the property
brokerage services; (ix) the building architecture and interior design
business and data analytical business; (x) the project management
business; (xi) the geothermal energy business; (xii) the building
construction contracting business; and (xiii) centralized heating business,
in Hong Kong, the PRC and other jurisdictions. The social data in this
ESG Report covers the entire group, and the environmental data covers
the business operations of the Company in Beijing, Henan, Shaanxi,
Hebei, Shanxi and Hong Kong.

KPIs data are gathered only from the operations under the Group’s
direct operational control. The Group will continue to strengthen
information of the major ESG aspects in order to enhance the disclosure
of information on sustainable development when and where applicable.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement is a key success factor in formulating
environmental and social strategy, defining the Group's objectives,
assessing materiality and developing policies. The Group's key
stakeholders include investors, government and regulatory bodies,
employees, customers, suppliers, society and the public. The Group has
conducted a survey, discussed or communicated with stakeholders to
understand their views and respond to their needs and expectations,
evaluated and prioritised their inputs to improve the Group’s
performance, and finally strived to provide value for the stakeholders.

Stakeholders

Expectations and appeals

FRESHE

FHENSEAFERERTERE R
EXEENER FEEEMRHEBR
EHER - AEENTERNELERE
HE - RNHEEEHE BT -TF - HEm-
HERRF -AEBABETHEE - BFNE
SmEER UWTHBEEZRE DEHESE
BRE AR ERRNEREER
RBZBERNBARF  URERNEF
NEREBE-

Communication and feedback

HFHE HASZ B 5 SR BB E O e
Investors ° Financial results e To improve profitability
BEE MR R &EAEEN
° Corporate transparency o Regular information disclosure
PEFERE HEEERE
° Sound risk control e To optimize risk management and
SoE E kT internal control

Governments and regulatory
bodies

BB AR

Employees
BT

Customers
BE

Suppliers
HFER

Society and the public
HERAR

e  Compliance with laws and regulations e

ESTIAAR

e Tax payment in accordance with laws

LR

° Career development platform
BEERERTE
e Salary and benefits

HENER

e  Safe working environment
Z2TIFIRIE

° Customer information security
ERERZ:

° Customer rights and interests
protection
EREDRE

o Good service guarantee

REFBIRF R

° Integrity cooperation
FIEETE

° Business ethics and credibility
PEBEEEE

° Environmental protection

RBIRR

e Employment opportunities

TEKE
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Compliance operation
BHREE
Tax payment in full and on time

LB B RRANAR

o Promotion mechanism
=ans 1l

e Competitive salary and employee
benefits
S5 FENREMANE TER

e To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness
RHETIRMHEI MRETLZ2ME

=%

o Customer privacy protection
RIEZRME
. Compliance marketing

BREH

e To provide reliable products and
services

RETENERKRSE

e  To build a responsible supply chain
TEaEENHEsE

e To perform the contract according with
laws

KERITER

o To put into use environmental
protection and energy saving
equipment
RIREIERERAGSA

e  To provide employment opportunities

At e Al



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

According to the ESG Reporting Guide, the Group collects and identifies
the issues of concern of major stakeholders through questionnaire
survey and interview, analyzes and sorts the issues to determine the
Company’s important issues in ESG for relevant disclosure. The results
of the materiality assessment will be used to guide the Group in
formulating future environmental, social and governance plans and
objectives, in a bid to creating sustainable value for stakeholders.

Based on the communication with various stakeholders, the Company
has identified the following issues as well as their respective priorities:
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ENVIRONMENT

To adhere to its commitment to sustainable development and to comply
with the requirements under relevant laws and regulations related to
environmental protection, the Group has been dedicated to reducing
the impact of its operating activities on the environment.

Emissions

The development and utilization of geothermal energy of the Group
may have some environmental impacts, including but not limited to:
(i) thermal pollution; (ii) air pollution; (iii) water pollution; and (iv)
soil pollution. The Group has conducted an environmental impact
assessment with reference to the requirements of the Environmental
Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China.

In the Year 2022/23, the key environmental performance indicators of
the Group's emissions are set out as follows:

IRIR
AEBBREEFAFRERNAEURE
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Environmental indictors Unit Year 2022/23 Year 2021/22
IRIBIEIE Bl 2022/235[E 2021/225E
Air emissions (Note 1)

BERBERR (15 —)

Emissions of Nitrogen oxides (NOx) kg 34.38 90.60
AFEYINOXBER T

Emissions of Sulfur oxides (SOx) kg 0.09 0.47
IR E¥I(SOX)HER F=

Emissions of Particulate matter (PM) kg 3.23 0.74
SERL(PM)BE T

Greenhouse gas emissions

BERAREE

Direct emissions (scope 1) kg COze 15,404 13,179
BB (EEH—) TRZEERES

Indirect emissions (scope 2) kg COze 8,206,358 8,077,053
W (FE ) TRZEERES

Other indirect emissions (scope 3) kg COze 127,109 264,207
HmE e (#E=) TRZEERES

Total greenhouse gas emissions (Note 2) kg COze 8,348,871 8,354,439
BERBHIRLE (i) TRZEERES

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions kg CO2e per employee 29,192 25,164

BEREBHREE FTR-_GLHREE

B%EER

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Note 1: The emission factors used in the calculation of air pollutants are sourced from
the EPD Vehicle Emission Calculation model and the Vehicle Emission Modeling
Software of the United States Environmental Protection Agency. These factors
are calculated on the assumption that the relative humidity is 80% and the
temperature is 25 degrees Celsius with an average speed of 30 kilometers per
hour and include running exhaust emission only.

Note 2: Greenhouse gas emissions (direct and indirect) and the removals can be
categorized into the following three separate scopes:

scope 1: Greenhouse gas emissions that attribute to business owned or
controlled by the Group (primarily from the fuel consumption of
vehicles).

scope 2: Greenhouse gas emissions occurred in the production process
resulting from generation of electricity purchased by the Group from
electric power company.

scope 3: All other indirect greenhouse gas emissions generated outside the
Group, including (i) methane gas generated at landfill by disposal
of paper waste; and (ii) indirect emissions due to electricity used for
processing drinking water/sewage water by external institutions.

The Group’s five-year target is to reduce the air emissions and the
greenhouse gas emissions intensity by 5% respectively based on the
Year 2021/22 baseline by the Year 2026/27.
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Environmental KPIs Emission reduction targets Benchmark year Status

IRIZFARGEWIER pEgz A= = HAEF AR R&

Intensity of NOx emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

NOxBE K 2 B 122026/27F E AR5 % 2021/225 T

Intensity of SOx emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

SOBEE E 122026/27F AR /D5% 2021/225F EITH

Intensity of PM emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

PMBER 2 122026/27F E AR /V5% 2021/225F ETH

Intensity of greenhouse gas emissions Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

BERBHREE 122026/27F E AR /V5% 2021/225F ETH

The Group adheres to the principle of “Three Simultaneously”, i.e. the
environmental governance design should be designed, constructed and
put into operation simultaneously with the main part of a project. The
Group’s construction causes environmental impact during construction
and operation, and the main pollution generated and protection
measures taken include pollution and protection during construction
and after use.
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In order to reduce the dust pollution at the construction sites, the
Group sprinkles water at regular time on the construction sites everyday
to prevent dust generation, and increases the volume and frequency
of sprinkling water on windy days. Solid wastes produced during the
construction period are mainly domestic waste and waste residual soil
generated during construction, which will be collected in dustbins and
then sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for disposal.
And the waste residual soil will be cleaned up and transported in time.

The wastewater generated during the construction period is mainly
domestic sewage and waste water generated from construction
activities. The construction waste water mainly contains sediment and
suspended matter, which will be collected first and then treated before
discharged to the sewer pipe. The waste water generated during
operation is mainly the heat pump room cleansing waste water and
system leakage waste water. The wastewater will be discharged from
the new pipe to regional existing storm water system.

ABEOETISMAIEES R AEBERE
THMESREREXK BLEBEEE  EX
BBEMABKERRHK - THEPMESL
NEREEY T E A EELIRMME T HE
EWEEL  gRIRENERTHIRIE
BETAXINDREESEE TR EE
EREEL-

hi TERRE AY75 K £ B2 7 A& 75 KM B &
BESEENSK LS KEZSZRED
RV glE RERBEET KEE-
EEHBNEKINEIERAREFREEK
MRAFLREK-BEKHMEEEHER
B ERR KA

Waste Unit Year 2022/23 Year 2021/22
EEWn B 2022/23FEE 2021/22FEE
Total hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFEEAEEEYES T ~EA B
Hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFELEBAEEENEE Fn/S4EE ~EA B
Total non-hazardous waste produced kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFELEBEEREYES T ~EA B
Non-hazardous waste intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FFELEBEREEYEE Fn/S4EE ~EA B

As the Group only generated an insignificant amount of non-hazardous
waste in its business activities for the Year 2022/23, relevant data
were not quantified. Non-hazardous waste mainly includes domestic
waste and waste residual soil generated during construction, which
will be sent to refuse disposal plants by sanitation workers for disposal
regularly. In addition, there were no relevant data as no hazardous
waste was generated in the Group's operation. If any hazardous waste
is required to be disposed of, the Group will engage professional
institutions to dispose of it.

For the Year 2022/23, the Group was not aware of any material
non-compliance with any relevant laws or regulations relating to air
and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land, and
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste, including the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China ({/F
EANRHEMBEIRIEREE)) and the Law of the People’s Republic of
China on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution ({FZE A
REMBE AR SEYBAAE)) . In addition, no major fines or sanctions
relating to the non-compliance with the relevant laws and regulations
have been received for the Year 2022/23.

The Group aims to maintain zero production of hazardous waste and
minimal production of non-hazardous waste by the Year 2026/27.
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Use of Resources

The Group recognizes the importance of environmental sustainability
and endeavors to minimize the impact of business on the environment
through adopting numerous energy-saving and conservation
initiatives. The Group’s policy is to ensure compliance with applicable
environmental laws and regulations and minimize its environmental
footprint through the efficient use of resources and the adoption of pro-
environmental management. The Group's eco-friendly measures at the
office are as follows:

e  staff is reminded to switch off lights and air-conditioning in the
meeting rooms and computers at workstations when not in use;

e whenever possible, documents are handled electronically other
than by using physical papers;

. staff is reminded to save water;

o staff is encouraged to reuse paper printed only on one side and
duplex printing and copying. Data on printing and copying is
regularly reviewed to assess the efficiency of paper usage;

o recycled office supplies are provided whenever possible; and

e conference calls instead of face-to-face meetings are arranged
where possible.

In addition, a series of energy conservation and emission reduction
measures have been adopted for the Group’s businesses of heating and
cooling supply by geothermal energy and centralized heating in order to
reduce the use of resources effectively.

To save electricity, the Group added transducers to electrical equipment
in the plants, which effectively adjusted the power of motors and
enabled them to operate at variable speeds, so as to achieve the goal of
energy saving.

The Group introduced advanced environmental facilities to construct
dry coal sheds in the plants, which could avoid natural losses caused
by wind and rain and therefore reduce environmental pollution. Such
construction also effectively prevented coal clogging in boilers due to
wet coals caused by wind and rain, and eliminated the fluctuation of
environmental data due to the unstable bottom temperature of boilers.

The Group set up a slag cooling system in the plants to recover waste
heat, improve the thermal efficiency of boilers, and reduce energy
consumption. Slag coolers facilitated the temperature of heated slags to
decrease from 900°C to below 100°C > i.e. approximately 2.5 GJ of heat
being recovered per hour based on the calculation of 12 tonnes of slags
being disposed of per hour. Without considering heat loss, the amount
of heat collected from slags per hour approximate to that of about 150
kgof coals, which indirectly improved the surrounding environment.
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During the Year 2022/23, the Group did not encounter any difficulties in
obtaining suitable water sources.

In order to enhance employees’ awareness of energy saving and
emission reduction and management's sense of responsibility and
mission of fulfilling such goals, the Group organized training every
Saturday to continuously teach them knowledge, good methods and
tips, make modest improvements to unreasonable practices, and keep
to make technological innovation, thereby making advancement in the
work of energy saving and emission reduction to improve efficiency.

The key environmental performance indicators of the Group's use of

122022/23F E > AEBEREGER KRS
T b R BE AT A B o

FEERTIRS B IHEERMPEEHE KR
BARFBEEEASHEFHERFENEER
B R SESABIEI FETRER A
# o BIlF A E N NEPT BASENM A
EIT/NBUNG  AET M TR R RN AE
BB TER MR E R RE W e

12202223 E > AEBEREANRRIR

resources for the Year 2022/23 are set out in the table below:

IBAERGERTIEWNT ¢

Environmental indictors Unit Year 2022/23 Year 2021/22
IRIGIER B 2022/235E 2021/225 &
Total energy consumption by type

RERB DHRERARES

Electricity purchased for consumption kWh 9,117,561 8,912,647
BEBENEESE TR &

Fuel consumption of vehicles (Note 1) kWh 56,719 48,831
BE AR (05 —) TR &

Total energy consumption kWh 9,174,280 8,961,478
BERBHFEMRR S TR &

Energy consumption intensity kWh per employee 32,078 26,992
BERBHFER E FRE S%RE

Water resource

KER

Total water consumption m3 151,534 298,272
WFEKE 7K

Water consumption intensity m3 per employee 530 898
¥EKEBE IHRSBREE

Packaging materials used (Note 2)

BRMEERE (W)

Packaging materials used for finished products kg Not Applicable Not Applicable
Sk mPr A E g T NEA ~EA
Packaging materials intensity kg per employee Not Applicable Not Applicable
FrRaEMBRE Fr/S84EE NEA ~EA
Energy sold to third parties

ME=HHENGER

Total heating (geothermal energy) kWh 72,301,958 63,979,723
BRR (MhZAAE) 4R 2 TR &

Total steam tonnes 75,417 100,174
FARE U
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Note 1: The Group uses the conversion factor of the Energy Data Manual issued by the
International Energy Agency to convert units of data collected (gasoline and
diesel) into KWh.

Note 2: No packaging material was consumed for the Year 2022/23 as the Group's
business does not involve the use of packing materials.

The 5-year target of the Group is to reduce the total energy
consumption intensity and water consumption intensity by 5% by the
Year 2026/27, respectively, based on the Year 2021/22 benchmark.

IR - HERERKRS

MaE—: AEBERBEREREEHNEREKETM
B E FIBPT U SRRV B (R0l RUm) BY
BUSBRDTRE-

WEZ . BRAEEEFA T ROERER WP
2022/23F E N HFECEMEL o

AREBWSEHHBZEMN2026/27FE /IR
1E2021/22F ERNEE D B 4B B R H FE
BERFEKBER5%

Environmental KPIs Reduction Target Benchmark Year Status

IRIZFARGENIER ORISR = HAEF N

Energy consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

AERBFEE E 122026/27F ERIEIE5% 2021/225F EITH

Water consumption intensity Reduce by 5% by the Year Year 2021/22 In progress
2026/27

FEXKEE 122026/27F ERIEAE5% 2021/226E EITH

Environmental and Natural Resources RIBRRAER

Featured with energy conservation, low carbon, and environmental
protection, developing geothermal heating is in compliance with
national policies. Such features determine that geothermal heating can
be a realistic choice to replace fossil energy such as coal on a large scale
and optimize the energy structure.

As a clean renewable energy, geothermal energy has the following
advantages: (i) geothermal central heating can achieve regional
modularized central heating without laying a large area of centralized
heating network, and its heating cost is lower as compared with that of
fossil energy; (i) geothermal resources are environmentally friendly and
clean and renewable, and do not produce waste gas or waste residue,
which is of great significance for the reduction of haze and smog and
suspended particles; and (iii) through the technology of geothermal
reinjection into the same reservoir bed, the heat-extracted tail water is
recharged into the same reservoir bed to achieve the renewable use of
geothermal resources.

ERMARRTEERER RERHE B
B IRRES R - AR RORTE 7 i ZAMHER
ARRRRCERRERSECAER B
FERAERIVIRERE

MEER—BBRRBERR BUTE
(A ERHEPERERREEES
& BERERAERNEFHAEE B
HEEBHENCAEREER (NMARERK
ERFENBRABENGM TELEER
EE HWALERNBINFRABERE
& 5 (i@ B[R E O E KM /B E Y
EBkEEZER MR ZZMAERHN
BIBEMMA-
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The National Development and Reform Commission, the National Energy
Administration and the Ministry of Land and Resources jointly published
the “Thirteenth Five-year Plan on the Development and Utilization
of Geothermal Energy” ((MIZAREREEEFIAT+=F1R%)) on 23
January 2017, which proposed to “innovate the geothermal energy
development and utilization mode, actively develop the geothermal
energy market, and comprehensively promote the effective utilization
of geothermal energy in accordance with the general requirements
of advanced technology, environmental friendliness and economic
feasibility”, and mentioned that advantages such as “promoting
hydrothermal geothermal heating based on the combination of
centralized and decentralized methods, and replacing traditional heating
with clean energy heating under the guiding principle of taking heat
but not water”. Those advantages will be beneficial to the sustainable
development of the Group’s business.

The Group’s projects for supplying heat are mainly applied in Hebei,
Shanxi and Shaanxi, etc. In order to improve the environmental quality
of these regions, the Group has constructed geothermal energy heating
projects to control the use of fossil energy and reduce emissions of
carbon dioxide and suspended particles, so as to improve the regional
environmental quality. These constructions bring both higher economic
benefits and important social benefits.

Climate Change

The continuous emission of greenhouse gas leads to climate change. In
response to climate change, the Group refers to the framework of the
Task Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosures (TCFD) of Financial
Stability Board to assess climate-related risks. There are two main types
of risks, which are: (i) physical risks associated with climate change
impacts; and (ii) transition risks associated with low-carbon economy.

The climate-related risks identified by the Group are mainly structural
damage to buildings caused by the increase in frequency of extreme
weather events and flooding due to changes in rainfall patterns. Such
climate change may affect labor management and planning, and also
increase the risk of work-related injuries for the employees. In addition,
there is a risk that the Group’s infrastructure and machines may be
damaged by climate change, and facilities damage will affect operations
and lead to an increase in operation costs.

In response to the above climate-related risks, the Group has purchased
employee injury insurances for all employees. Such insurances cover
expenses for employees’ injuries due to weather conditions. The Group
has also purchased relevant property insurance for all construction
projects, operating projects and the Group's key fixed assets to cover
property losses due to weather conditions and reduce maintenance costs
that may be required.
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SOCIAL

The Group believes that employees are its greatest asset which is crucial
to its continuous development. The Group establishes and operates
prudent human resources policies and practices strictly in compliance
with laws and regulations in respective jurisdictions where the group
entities are carrying on business. The Group updates and improves these
policies and practices regularly by taking into consideration the health
and well-being of its employees. All employees are kept abreast of any
updated policies and practices through internal memoranda.

Employment

As of 31 March 2023, the Group had 286 employees. The following
table sets out the Group's employee total workforce by different
category for the Year 2022/23:

Total workforce

EERH

IR - HERERKRS

it

FEBRD BINREENEE  HEE
BEREHEEZ - AEERREEEEE
EREEBRESRZEENEZRER
HEMRBREZENANDERBERKIED -
FEBEREMNTEEEBRRE
THETHREMBUAZSEERN -FTEE
THAIEBABHESE T BELEERMN
BAHIRERER-

&=

R2023FE3831H  AEEH286%EE ©
AEEIR2022/23FERABERE 2B
BEMAHE-FIHNT :

Year 2022/23
2022/23FEE

Year 2021/22
2021/22FE

By gender

¥R El o

- Male
B4

— Female

Eg 3

By employment type (Full time or Part time)
REFREREE S (X ERE
— Full time
2
— Part time

R

By age group

HEEAERE 2

— Under 30
305 AT

- 30-50
30E508%

— Above 50
5058 M

By geographical region
i IR @ i 2l
- Hong Kong
BE
— The PRC
FE

214 (75%) 280 (87%)

72 (25%) 42 (13%)

231 (81%) 316 (98%)

55 (19%) 6 (2%)

36 (13%) 35 (11%)

189 (66 %) 241 (75%)

61 (21%) 46 (14%)

29 (10%) 31 (10%)

257 (90%) 291 (90%)
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The following table sets out the Group's employee turnover rate by
different category for the Year 2022/23:

Employee turnover rate (Note 1)

BERALLE (izE—)

AERIR2022/23FERTEERE 2B
BERELLERTEHMT !

Year 2022/23
2022/23FE

Year 2021/22
2021/22FE

By gender

#HERE D

- Male
S

— Female

pogis

By age group

HEE AR D

— Under 30
30 A F

- 30-50
30E505%

— Above 50
505 U £

By geographical region
i IR & i & 3
- Hong Kong
Y
— The PRC
e

Note 1: The employee turnover rate by different category is calculated by dividing the
total number of employees lost in that group by the number of employees in
the corresponding group.

The Group offers competitive remuneration and employee benefits
to attract talented staff and use a performance-based remuneration
system to motivate and reward them in line with their contributions to
growing its business. An employee’s remuneration is determined with
reference to performance and market benchmarks. Salary levels are not
differentiated by gender. Salaries and benefits are in accordance with
local minimum wages or above. All employees are treated fairly and
equally, and their rights and interests are also protected.

The Group provides and maintains various statutory benefits for its staff,
such as mandatory provident fund, medical and work injury insurance,
sick leave, funeral leave and maternity leave, etc. It regularly reviews
packages and career advancement opportunities, particularly for key
positions, to ensure continuing market competitiveness.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

12% 22%

8% 16%

36% 37%
17% 18%

16% 20%

21% 9%

9% 22%

BRARERNE D HNEERKXRDEZAERB
BEMK@ABERLUBREAER BB B A BE
o

FEBRBEARINOFHFWNRETREF
S| AT » it 35 R 48 S B 1) 2 - BB e 22
BETAAEENEBRERFEERM &
BHRMNILSER/UNTHEEMET
B GREMRIM AR o #HEREHNT
GEMRBHENES -FIERENRFE
DEFRIENFE  HEN R Em ISR

o °

AEBRHEETREAMBZIRATER
oMbt RS BERERTERE R
B-BERERS AEEEHEEFTER
BEERMS CHEEERM  URFER
BHTHIERF T



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Group establishes the objective basis of key qualities and
requirements for candidates in its hiring processing and assesses the
suitability of the candidate to avoid risks of discrimination or bias.
Job openings are also offered to all qualified employees with good
work records so as to promote career advancement among employees
as well. Consistent criteria are applied to assess both internal and
external candidates regardless of age, sex, race, nationality or physical
disabilities to ensure fair judgment and avoid any risk of favoritism or
discrimination.

All work are reasonably assigned and should be performed voluntarily
by employees, and fair and reasonable working hours are arranged for
respective staff in accordance with various job needs. All employees
may resign upon reasonable notice and should not be dismissed for
unreasonable grounds.

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal
opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination and other benefits and
welfare for the Year 2022/23. The Group strictly complies with local
laws and regulations relating to employment, such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Law of the People’s Republic
of China on the Employment Contracts. In addition, there was no
circumstance of significant fines or sanctions as a result of non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations for the Year 2022/23.

Health and Safety

The Group's business includes the exploration and development of
geothermal resources and geothermal energy heating projects, which
mainly involve two types of hazards; one is the hazards or adverse
effects caused by natural factors, generally including earthquakes,
poor geology, high temperature in summer, low temperature in winter,
lightning strikes and other factors; and another one is the hazards
arising from the production process, including harmful dust and poison,
fire and explosion accidents, mechanical injuries and electrical injuries,
burn injuries due to high temperature, falling injuries and other factors.

To protect employees from the impacts of occupational hazards, the
Group requires that the project must be designed in accordance with
the "Hygienic Standards for the Design of Industrial Enterprises (GBZ
1-2010)" (TH PR EHEIFE)(GBZ 1-2010)) and the “Code
for Design of Industrial Heating, Ventilation and Air Conditioning (GB
50019-2015)" (T H# KRB R L= RPEHR TR ) (GB 50019-2015))
to prevent heatstroke. Measures such as heat insulation, ventilation, and
heating shall be adopted in accordance with the requirements of the
specification in the design to ensure a good working environment for
the operation, maintenance and production personnel.
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The Group has also carried out the design of overvoltage protection
and grounding of equipment in accordance with the requirements of
the”Technical Regulations for Design of Overvoltage Protection for
Power Equipment” {(BNHBEIBERRERFTRMTERE)) and the
“Technical Regulations for Grounding Design of Power Equipment”{ (&
TR BB R T MIRTED), which include the design of anti-static
for outdoor equipment. Moreover, outdoor equipment such as pumps
and other equipment should be installed with lightning rods as direct
lightning overvoltage protection facilities.

In addition, the noise generated by the heat pump units and circulating
water pumps operating in the exploration and development of the
project may cause hearing damage to the staff. Therefore, the Group
provides effective personal protection measures for the staff working in
noisy operation positions and also requires them to wear ear plugs, ear
muffs, etc. while patrolling or operating, so as to minimize the exposure
to high intensity noise environment and reduce the risk to human body
as far as possible.

For the Year 2022/23, number and rate of work-related fatalities and
lost days due to work injury are set out as follow:

Work-related fatalities
I3ET

Year 2022/23
2022/23FEE

K%lﬁ?ﬁ,ﬁ?«%ﬁﬂ%L RIRERE
R RAE) R (B /32 1 M 58 T T AR 2)
E'JszLﬁLﬁrﬁuxﬂﬁiﬂE’Jux;ﬂ' v H
PEEENRENHEERS %é%uﬂ
ENKREREREH FRAEETBE
[ER{R & 5% i ©

o> IEE B IFEREEPETHHAREA
MERKREENBREUEZHB TSR
BHES -EAk  AEEARSFER-M
NITIEABRMBERNEABREE 78
zz?@fﬁfi.ﬁ%@%ﬁﬁrf’ﬁB%Z\?Eﬂ_lﬁﬂ
E - HES BB EeARAEREIRIE
THRE BEHAENEE-

22022/23FEE > A TIET ABEIETXRL
RETITEEEANITIERHEIIENT :

For the
15 months ended
31 March 2021

8 E20214F
Year 2021/22 383181
2021/22FE 158 R

Number of work-related fatalities
A TERIERMIE T AR
Rate of work-related fatalities (%)

A TERA R SE T AIEE (%)

Lost days due to work injury

ETEERTIERH

Year 2022/23
2022/23FEE

Year 2021/22
2021/22FE

Lost days due to work injury

AIGIRENTIIERH

For the Year 2022/23, there were no work-related accidents, therefore,
there were no lost days due to work injury and no work-related
fatalities.

For the Year 2022/23, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations that has a significant
impact on providing a safe working environment and protecting
employees from occupational hazards. The Group strictly complies with
the local laws and regulations relating to health and safety, such as
the “Safety Production Law of the People’s Republic of China” ({1
AREMEAZZEEE)) and the “Regulation on Work-Related Injury
Insurances of the People’s Republic of China” ((F#EARELME T
{REE 1)) . In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2022/23.
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Development and Training

The Group encourages employees to attend appropriate courses to
enhance their competence for performance improvement and career
development. They are also encouraged to attend appropriate external
job-related courses or to acquire higher professional qualification to
enhance their competence and performance. All new employees are
briefed by the department heads to ensure the employees are aware and
familiarize themselves with the Group's values and goals and to ensure
the employees understand their role in the Group.

IR - HERERKRS

R AEI

AEEZBEI2MEENEIIRE 2
HAERERERBEERZEN - AEBTF
BB T2RGEIINE TFERMRRE
NERESHNEXER BRAEENRE
MeoFTEMESNERNFIEE ARGRURE
REENERANFTEENBERKE
S RREE THRERKIEENHS -

Year 2022/23 Year 2021/22
2022/23FE 2021/22FEE

Average training hours per employee (hours)

SREE TR ()

Average training hours employees completed by gender
HERB S HES TR Z IR
— Male (hours)
S5 ()
— Female (hours)

Lt CNE)

Average training hours employees completed by employee category
#REEEF B2 HES FIITHZIIEFH
— Senior Staff (hours)
B AR ()
— Middle Staff (hours)
AR (B
— Junior Staff (hours)
AR (1NBEF)

Percentage of employees trained (Note 1)

RillEEB AL (W57 —)

Percentage of employees trained by gender (Note 2)
BB ANZINREET AL (a2 D)
- Male
S
— Female

gogis

Percentage of employees trained by employee category (Note 2)
RESHENBSNZIEET DL I )
— Senior Staff
= AR
— Middle Staff
AR
— Junior Staff
AR

" 18

" 18

" 17

" 7

13 19

59% 60%

78% 80%

22% 20%

1% 8%

28% 26%

61% 66 %
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Note 1: Percentage of employees trained is calculated by dividing the number of
trained employees by the number of employees.

Note 2: Percentage of employees trained by employee category is calculated by
dividing the number of employees trained in that category by the number of
trained employees.

Labor Standards

The Group from time to time reviews its employment practice and
the Group’s guidelines on staff recruitment to ensure that it is in full
compliance with the relevant laws and regulations on the prevention of
child labor and forced labor in the PRC and Hong Kong.

The Group adopted stringent requirements in selecting employees. We
require job applicants to provide information such as identity cards,
proof of highest academic qualifications, professional certificates and
proof of separation from previous employment for identity verification
during recruitment. In the event that child labor or forced labor is
employed within the Group in violation of regulations, the Group will
immediately terminate the labor contract and, after identifying the
reasons, impose appropriate penalties on the non-compliant employees.

For the Year 2022/23, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance of the laws and regulations relating to the prevention of
child labor or forced labor. The Group strictly complies with the local
laws and regulations related to labor standards, such as the Labor Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Provisions on Prohibition of
Child Labor. In addition, there was no circumstance of significant fines
or sanctions as a result of non-compliance with the relevant laws and
regulations for the Year 2022/23.

Supply Chain Management

The Group has established internal control procedures for the selection
of suppliers. The Group requires that: (i) environmental certificates
shall be verified before the shortlisting of suppliers and environmental
ratings shall be approved by professionals; (i) only those suppliers who
have been shortlisted in the resource pool are allowed to participate
in the bidding process; and (iii) during the bidding process, assuming
that all suppliers meet the technical requirements, the expert panel
shall rate their environmental ratings and environmental solutions, with
the supplier with the highest rating being the preferred supplier and
the supplier with the second highest rating being its reserve supplier
(selected only if the preferred supplier waives to continue to perform the
bid).
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“Energy saving and environmental protection” is our highlight in
rendering services and selling products, which also echoes with the
environmental protection concept of our customers. Therefore, the
Group will give priority to those suppliers with eco-friendly products
to differentiate our products from those of other competitors, so as to
achieve differentiated marketing.

While the Group has established good relationships with its suppliers,
the Group also offers equal opportunity to all potential business
partners. Selection criteria such as quality and price of products,
supplier's reputation, background and experience are key factors to
the Group's procurement decisions. Furthermore, the Group expects its
suppliers to strictly comply with relevant laws and regulations.

For the Year 2022/23, the number of suppliers by geographical region is
as follows:

Geographical region
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Product Responsibility EmEE

The Group is responsible for its products and services and does not
engage in unfair business activities of any kind. Fraud, misleading
information, or any acts that destroy customer confidence or infringe
customer rights are strictly prohibited. The Group has also strictly
complied with relevant products and services related regulations.

For the commodity trading business, the Group has established
procedures for the recycling of products. After recycling, the Group tests
the products for environmental attributes and assesses whether the
products meet the future technical conditions for recycling purposes as
far as possible. For the Year 2022/23, the Group has not received any
products subject to recycling for safety and health reasons from our
customers.
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RIR - HHERERRS

For customers’ complaints, the Group will conduct corresponding
follow-up procedures in accordance with internal procedures and
guidelines. Upon receiving a customer’s complaint, we will promptly
contact the customer to understand the cause and discuss the solution
with the customer, conduct on-site and telephone communication
for preliminary resolution of the customer’s request and take relevant
investigation accordingly. In addition, we will carry out technical updates
or renovations based on environmental conditions for problems that
arise. The Group believes that complaints are a valuable opportunity
for it to obtain feedback from the community and customers, so as to
identify the need for service and policy improvement. The Group has
not received any complaint about its products and services for the Year
2022/23.

The Company's data protection and privacy policy is that while
collecting, processing and using personal data of the Group's customers
in its financial service sector, appropriate measures are taken to protect
such data from unauthorized access and abuse. Personal data is
collected only for lawful and relevant purposes. Employment contracts
stipulate employees’ duty in safeguarding confidential or sensitive
information that they have had access to during their employment.

The Group is committed to protecting intellectual property rights which
are of great importance to its business. The Group has developed
a method for the management of computer software copyrights to
strictly regulate its copyright application procedures. The Group has also
established a copyright list to record information such as application
numbers, application dates and deadlines of its software copyrights.

For the Year 2022/23, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to the health and
safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to the products
and methods of redemption. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to product liability, such as the Personal Data
(Privacy) Ordinance, the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China, the Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China. In addition, no significant
fines or sanctions have been reported for the Year 2022/23.

Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to uphold high standards on anti-corruption.
Adequate guidelines are implemented to ensure that all employees
(including directors) adhere to high standards of business and
professional and ethical conduct. All employees are encouraged to raise
any related concerns to the senior management in a strictly confidential
manner. Any matters of genuine concern are to be thoroughly
investigated and actions will be taken accordingly.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

For the Year 2022/23, the Group provides its directors, senior
management members and relevant employees with training packages
for directors and professionals prepared by the Independent Commission
Against Corruption (ICAC). The training packages cover the corruption
risks faced by directors, senior management and professionals of a
company during the preparation for listing, ordinary business operation
and takeovers and mergers, and dissect issues such as corruption, fraud,
conflicts of interest, cross-border bribery, backdoor listing and insider
trading.

To the best knowledge of the Company, the Group has been compliant
with all relevant anti-money laundering laws. The risk of establishing
relationships with individuals or organizations engaged in money
laundering or terrorism activities is minimized by implementing “know
your customer” and assessment processes. The Group has robust
internal control procedures in place to provide reasonable assurance
against fraud. For the Year 2022/23, the Group has not been involved in
any corruption lawsuits.

The Group holds the license or approval required to provide money
lending services, finance leasing services and regulated activities under
the Securities and Futures Ordinance. The management supports a
culture of integrity, zero tolerance for bribery and ensures that business
is conducted in accordance with the applicable laws and regulations.

For the Year 2022/23, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance with the laws and regulations relating to bribery, extortion,
fraud and money laundering. The Group strictly abides by the local laws
and regulations related to anti-corruption, such as the Prevention of
Bribery Ordinance, the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic of China
and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China.
In addition, no significant fines or sanctions have been reported for the
Year 2022/23.

Community Investment

The Group is fully aware of the importance of interacting with the
wider community in fulfilling corporate social responsibility and has
been eager to take initiatives in making cash donations to charitable
organizations and supporting the local communities and neighbors.

The Group would explore the possibility of finding suitable partners and
contributing to community and environmental protection programs that
facilitate positive changes. The Group would also, from time to time,
encourage its staff to support community service activities.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBREFRE

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yingqian (Chairman), aged 59, has been appointed
as non-executive director of the Company since June 2018 and
redesignated as executive director since October 2019. She holds a
bachelor degree of Economics from Renmin University of China (FRE]A
EEAK#) and a qualification of intermediate economist issued by Ministry
of Personnel of the PRC (FAZE AR FEFMEIAFEL) . Ms. Wang worked in
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Beijing Municipal Branch (FR[E]
TER1T7IER™217) from 1985 to 2006 and was the deputy general
manager of its corporate banking department from 2005 to 2006. She
worked in Bank of Communications Beijing Municipal Branch (3238 %R
73655 17) from 2006 to 2016 and served as its vice president from
2010 to 2013 and was a director of Bank of Communications Financial
Leasing Co., Ltd. (RIRERAEBREEAE]) from 2010 to 2012. For
the period from April 2017 to March 2019, Ms. Wang was an executive
director of Noble Century Investment Holdings Limited (currently known
as Hong Kong Chaoshang Group Limited), a company listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2322). For the period
from March 2016 to January 2020, she was the supervisor of Fortunes
United International Leasing Co., Ltd. (BH#cBEEMEHEEERA
&), a company established in the PRC. She has also been appointed
as (i) an independent director of ABC Life Insurance Co., Ltd, a
subsidiary of Agricultural Bank of China Limited (stock code: 1288) since
March 2018, (i) an independent director of Bloomage Biotechnology
Corporation Limited since March 2019, the shares of which has been
listed on the Science and Technology Innovation Board of the Shanghai
Stock Exchange (stock code: 688363) since November 2019, and (iii) an
independent director of Huatai Securities (Shanghai) Asset Management
Co., Ltd.* GEZRES (BB EESHEARAT) since December 2022.
Ms. Wang has over 30 years of experience in the commercial banking
industry and have extensive experience in project management and
financing.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer), aged 56, has been appointed
as executive director since January 2020. He graduated from Beijing
University of Civil Engineering and Architecture* (JEREHE KX
2) (formerly known as Beijing Institute of Architecture and Civil
Engineering* (b REZFE T 2PT)) with a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering in 1990 and obtained the qualification of senior engineer
in December 2000. Mr. Qin has nearly 30 years of experience in the
real estate construction management industry. He served as the chief
engineer of COSCO Real Estate Development Co., Ltd.* (FRizE#
EREARAT) (stock code: 3377) (currently known as Sino-Ocean
Group Holding Limited (Z¥EBZERABERAT)), which has been
listed on the Stock Exchange since 2007, from 2002 to 2004. He was
the project general manager, general manager of the intercity company
and regional deputy general manager of the eastern China in Neo-
China Group (Holdings) Limited (stock code: 563) (currently known as
Shanghai Industrial Urban Development Group Limited (755 2£ 15 /5 B
BEEBEABMR/AT)), which has been listed on the Stock Exchange since
1993, from 2004 to 2009. He was also the general manager of the
Beijing company and the Shijiazhuang company in Dalian Wanda Group
Co., Ltd.* (KEBEEBERMHBRAE)from 2009 to 2011, and the
president of Newbeacon Group Limited* (i E gl EEARAQE) from
2014 to 2017. Mr. Qin is also the general manager and/or director of
several subsidiaries of the Company.

Mr. Fan lJie, aged 48, has been appointed as executive director of
the Company since January 2017. He holds a Master's Degree in
Business Administration in Tsinghua University School of Economics
and Management and a Bachelor’s Degree in International Economic
in Renmin University of China. Mr. Fan has over 20 years of experience
in strategic marketing and project management. He had been with
Zhongrong International Trust Co., Ltd* (FREREIPR(E5E A RAE)) as the
Managing Director of the Trust and Investment Department from 2014
to 2022. Mr. Fan was a corporate partner and the vice president of the
Strategic Marketing Division of Adfaith Management Consulting Inc*
(CRERHREEEREHBRAE) from 2009 to 2014 and an
assistant to the general manager for medical business in an enterprise
located in Jiangxi Province, the PRC, from 2003 to 2005. In 2000 to
2002, he was appointed as the sales and distribution officer of the
Department of Medical System of an international conglomerate. Prior
to 2000, he worked as a marketing leader in the Nanchang Office of a
renowned food and beverage company for about three years. Currently,
Mr. Fan is the Managing Director of the Strategic Development
Department of the Group and the director of several subsidiaries of the
Company.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBREFRE

Mr. Li Haitao, aged 50, has been appointed as executive director of the
Company since December 2021. He graduated from Renmin University
of China in 1997 and majored in international finance. Mr. Li has over
20 years of experience in real estate development industry, specializing
in real estate policies analysis, land development, project management
and team building. He has successively held various management
positions since he formally entered the industry in 1997, including the
deputy general manager of Beijing Kehua Hongye Real Estate Co., Ltd.*
UERFIFERBEEME AT from 2000 to 2003; the general manager
of the project development department of Beijing New Shine Investment
Group Company Limited* (JEEFMINEEEBBRAE) from 2003
to 2007; the deputy general manager of project development of Yihai
Group from 2007 to 2009; the deputy general manager of Beijing
company of Beijing Changdao Xingye Real Estate Co., Ltd.* Gt RS
EEEMERZARAE)from 2010 to 2012; and the deputy general
manager of Beijing Taihe Jiayuan Real Estate Co., Ltd.* QR K& =E
EEREAREEAE)from 2012 to 2019. Mr. Li joined the Group
in 2019 and is responsible for the operation of several subsidiaries
of the Company. Currently, Mr. Li is also the general manager and/or
director of several subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Tao Lei, aged 36, has been appointed as executive director of
the Company since December 2021. She is a PRC certified public
accountant, a registered tax advisor, a registered asset appraiser and a
tutor for master’s degree in professional accounting (MPAcc) at Beijing
International Studies University. She graduated from Tianjin University
of Finance and Economics with a bachelor’s degree in accounting and
information management in 2008 and obtained a master's degree
in corporate management (international accounting) from Beijing
International Studies University in 2011. From 2011 to 2013, Ms.
Tao worked as a senior auditor of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and had
provided services for Hong Kong listed companies such as Shougang
Concord International Enterprises Company Limited, Capinfo Company
Limited, Air China Limited and Beijing Jingneng Clean Energy Co.,
Limited. From 2013 to 2020, Ms. Tao served as the group financial
controller of Sun.King Power Electronics Group Limited (currently known
as Sun.King Technology Group Limited) (a company listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange, stock code: 580). She joined the Group in
2020 and is responsible for the investment and financing.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tonghui, aged 60, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since April 2016. He obtained
a bachelor’s degree in international politics and a master degree in
international relations from Tokyo International University in 1995
and 1997 respectively. He has over 20 years of extensive experience
in investment activities and business management. During the period
between 1997 to 1998, he served as the representative of Nippon
Howaito Cooperation* (HZA8HH &KL &) in China. He had been
working as the deputy general manager in each of Shouchuang Longji
Company Limited* (BRIFEERMKHBRAE) from 1998 to 2004 and
Huajian Dongfang Software Company Limited* GEEREBEHHUHARES
£/~ ) from 2005 to 2008, respectively. He was the general manager
of Tangshan Haigang Xingerui Company Limited* (B EBFBIHEE
FEEE /A7) from 2009 to January 2019 and the assistant president of
Unisplendour Corporation Limited * (52813 B BRA ) from 2012 to
June 2019, which is listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (stock code:
000938). Since June 2019, he has been appointed as the executive
director of Qingkong Technology Services (Shenzhen) Company Limited*

Ms. Yin Meiqun, aged 52, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 2021. She graduated
from Shenyang University of Technology with a bachelor’s degree in
accounting in 1993 and obtained a master's degree in management
science and engineering from Harbin University of Science and
Technology in 2001 and a doctor’s degree in accounting from Renmin
University of China in 2005. She is a PRC certified public accountant, a
council member of the Accounting Society of China, a member of the
Accounting Education Committee of the Accounting Society of China
and a member of the Expert Committee on Management Accounting of
China* (TEIEE G5t HEXZEEE). She was a member of the People’s
Congress of the Chaoyang District of the Beijing Municipality from
November 2011 to October 2017 and has served as a representative
of the Beijing Municipal People’s Congress since November 2017. Ms.
Yin has nearly 30 years' experience of teaching in colleges. From July
1993 to June 2007, she taught at Harbin University of Science and
Technology. From July 2007 to August 2021, she taught at Beijing
International Studies University and successively served as the finance
director, auditing director of the university and the dean of School of
Business. She was re-designated as the head of department, a professor
and a doctoral supervisor of the Department of Finance and Accounting
of China University of Political Science and Law in September 2021. She
has been serving as (i) an independent director of Beijing Life Insurance
Co., Ltd. since March 2018, (ii) an independent director of Shandong
Chenming Paper Holdings Limited (a company listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange and Shenzhen Stock Exchange respectively, stock
code: 1812 and 488) since June 2019, and (iii) an independent director
of Shanggiu Ding Feng Wood Co., Ltd.* (BEFRERERMDEREA
&]) (a company listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations
(also known as the New Third Board), stock code: 873459) since May
2021.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEBREFRE

Mr. Ye Jianmu, aged 55, has been appointed as independent non-
executive director of the Company with effect from 11 October 2022.
He graduated from China University of Geosciences, Wuhan with a
bachelor's degree in Industrial Management and Engineering in 1992
and obtained a master's degree in Engineering in 1996 and a doctor’s
degree in Management Science and Engineering in 2003 from Wuhan
University of Technology. Mr. Ye has been teaching in the School of
Management of Wuhan University of Technology since July 2003 and
currently is a professor of the Finance and Accounting Faculty and a
doctoral supervisor. He is an expert reviewer in various science projects
conducted by government bodies, including the National Natural
Science Foundation of China* (B BEARIE2E®), the National
Social Science Fund of China* (IRt &R E2EE)and The Ministry
of Education of Humanities and Social Science Project* (B A& ZF A X1t
FIEHE). Mr. Ye is also a council member of the Accounting Society of
Wuhan City* (F2m 252 E). From April 2012 to March 2014, Mr.
Ye was an independent director of Hubei Hongcheng General Machinery
Co., Ltd.* GHIb i@ B i B& 15 B FR2A B)) (currently known as Hubei
Jumpcan Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd.* GHILEIZE£ RSB BRAE), a
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange, stock code: 600566).
Since December 2021, Mr. Ye has appointed as independent director
of Wuhan Changli New Material Technology Co., Ltd.* (B2 EF)#
MR IR B BRAE), which is in process of application for initial
public offering on the Shanghai Stock Exchange. He has also appointed
as independent director of Shanghai Baolong Automotive Technology
Co., Ltd.* (LBRESERERMHBRALAE), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 603197), since December 2022.

Senior Management

Mr. Ho Yu, aged 48, has been appointed as the company secretary and
chief financial officer of the Company since May 2013. Mr. Ho received
a master’s degree of Accounting from Curtin University of Technology,
Australia. Mr. Ho is an associate member of The Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Ho
was the company secretary and/or financial controller for two companies
listed on the Stock Exchange.
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The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 48 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 are set out
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on page 82 of the annual report.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Particulars of a discussion and analysis on the activities specified in
Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong
Kong), including a fair review of the Group's business, a discussion on
the principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, particulars of
important events affecting the Company that have occurred since the
end of the financial period and future development in the Company’s
business and analysis using financial key performance indicators, are
set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s Message”, “Management
Discussion and Analysis”, “Corporate Governance Report” and
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.
The above sections form an integral part of this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The environmental policies and performance of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 are set out in the section headed “Environmental,
Social and Governance Report” of this annual report.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS

The Group recognizes that employees, customers and suppliers are keys
to its sustainable growth and development. The Group is committed to
establishing a close and caring relationship with its employees, providing
quality services to its customers and enhancing cooperation with its
suppliers.
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Employees

Employees are crucial assets of the Group. The Group strives to
enhance employees’ sense of belonging and loyalty to the Group. The
Group provides a fair, healthy and safe workplace, promotes diversity,
provides competitive remuneration and benefits and career development
opportunities based on their merits and performance. The Group
also aims to commit resources to providing employment training and
development opportunities so that they can keep abreast of the latest
development of the market and the industry and, at the same time,
improve their skills and performance in their respective positions and
build up confidence and self-esteem. The Group also values and is open
to receiving feedback from employees with an aim to foster a good and
long-lasting relationship.

Customers

The Group understands that it is important to maintain good
relationship with customers and provide products and services in a
way that satisfy needs and requirements of the customers. The Group
strives to enhance the relationship with customers by continuous
interaction and communication with customers so that the Group can
respond proactively to cater for customers’ needs. The Group has also
established procedures in place for handling customers’ complaints to
ensure customers’ complaints are dealt with in a prompt and timely
manner. During the year under review, the Group has maintained good
relationship with its customers.

Suppliers

The Group is also dedicated to developing a good relationship with
suppliers and contractors as long-term business partners to ensure
stability of the Group's business. The Group reinforces business
partnerships with suppliers and contractors by ongoing communication
in a proactive and effective manner so as to ensure quality and timely
delivery. During the year under review, the Group has worked closely
with its suppliers and maintained good relationships with them.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Company was incorporated in Bermuda and therefore the Company
is subject to relevant laws and regulations in Bermuda. In addition, the
Company is registered as a non-Hong Kong Company under Part 16
of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of Hong Kong) and
therefore is subject to the relevant provisions under the Companies
Ordinance.

The Company is listed on the Stock Exchange and therefore the

Company is subject to the governance of the Listing Rules including the
disclosure requirements and corporate governance provisions therein.
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Under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO"), the Company is
required to maintain a register of interests in shares and short positions
and a register of directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
positions and is obliged to disclose price sensitive or inside information.

The Group is principally engaged in (i) trading of goods, (ii) the finance
leasing business, (iii) the money lending business, (iv) the securities and
futures dealing and related consultancy services, (v) international air and
sea freight forwarding and the provision of logistics services, (vi) trading
of securities, (vii) property investment, (viii) the property brokerage
business, (ix) the building architecture and interior design business and
data analytical business, (x) the project management business, (xi) the
geothermal energy business, (xii) the building construction contracting
business, and (xiii) centralised heating business, in Hong Kong, the PRC
and other jurisdictions, and therefore is subject to the relevant laws and
regulations in Hong Kong, the PRC and other jurisdictions where the
Group entities are carrying on businesses.

As far as the Board and management are aware, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.
During the year, there was no material breach of or non-compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year are set out in note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the
year are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’'s securities during the year ended 31
March 2023 (2022: Nil).

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, in the opinion of the directors, the Company had
no reserves available for distribution to shareholders (2022: Nil).
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DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Ms. Wang Yinggian (Chairman)

Mr. Qin Jie (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Fan Jie

Mr. Li Haitao

Ms. Tao Lei

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Liu Tonghui
Ms. Yin Meiqun
Mr. Ye Jianmu
(with effect from 11 October 2022)
Mr. Liu Haiping
(ceased on 29 April 2022)
Mr. Ru Xiangan
(ceased on 11 October 2022)

In accordance with Bye-law 86(2) of the Company's Bye-laws, Mr. Ye
Jianmu will be subject to re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting.

In accordance with Bye-law 87(1) of the Company’s Bye-laws, Ms. Wang
Yinggian, Mr. Fan Jie and Mr. Li Haitao shall retire at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-election at the annual general meeting.

None of the directors being proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
annual general meeting has any service contract which is not
determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation (other than statutory compensation).

Each of the directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment with the Company for a term of three years, which can
be terminated by not less than three months’ or one month’s notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive
directors, an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the
independent non-executive directors are still independent.
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DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES'
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executives and their associates in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company and its associated corporations as recorded in
the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange

pursuant to the Model Code, were as follows:

Long position in shares of the Company
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Percentage of
the issued
share capital

Capacity Interest in shares of the Company

EHRATE#T

13 B 15 1 21 [N i

(Note)

Name of Director EEHA (H333)

Mr. Liu Tonghui it Beneficial owner 10,000,000 0.66%
BEaEAA

Mr. Qin lie mARE Beneficial owner 6,000,000 0.39%
BEaEAA

Mr. Li Haitao FHERE Beneficial owner 3,000,000 0.20%
BEaEAA

Ms. Tao Lei MEZL Beneficial owner 2,692,000 0.18%
BEaEAA

Note: The percentage is calculated on basis of 1,525,284,939 shares of the Company in ~ [izf: BQWIEARBNR I E_=F=B=+—H

issue as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the directors
and chief executives, nor their associates, had any interests or short
positions in any shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporations.
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SHARE OPTIONS

The 2021 Share Option Scheme was adopted pursuant to a resolution
on 1 September 2021 (the “Adoption Date”) and took effect from 2
September 2021 (the “Effective Date”). The purposes of the 2021 Share
Option Scheme are to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to provide additional incentives or rewards to employees, directors,
consultants, business associates and advisers of the Group for their
contribution to the Group and to promote its success. The 2021 Share
Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of ten years
commencing on the Effective Date.

Eligible participants of the 2021 Share Option Scheme include the
following persons:

(@) any employee or proposed employee (whether full time or part
time) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any entity in which
any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(b) any directors, non-executive directors (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or any
entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(c) any supplier of goods or services to any member of the Group or
any entity in which any member of the Group holds any equity
interest;

(d) any person or entity that provides research, development or other
technological support to the Group or any entity in which any
member of the Group holds any equity interest;

(e) any shareholder of or holder of any securities issued by any
member of the Group or any entity in which any member of the
Group holds any equity interest; and

(f)  any other group or classes of persons or entities from time to time
determined by the Board as having contributed or may contribute
to by way of joint venture, business alliances or other business
arrangements to the development and growth of the Group.
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The total number of shares of the Company available for issue under
the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Group must not in aggregate exceed 10% of the issued share
capital of the Company as at the Adoption Date (the “Scheme Mandate
Limit”) or the date of refreshing the Scheme Mandate Limit approved
by shareholders of the Company in general meeting. The maximum
number of shares issuable upon exercise of the options which may be
granted under the 2021 Share Option Scheme and any other share
option scheme of the Group (including both exercised and outstanding
options) to each participant (other than a substantial shareholder or
an independent non-executive director as explained below) in any
12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the shares of the Company in
issue from time to time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company or any of their associates, are subject to
approval by the independent non-executive directors of the Company
(excluding any independent non-executive director who is the grantee
of the options). Where any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the Company,
or to any of their respective associates (as defined under the Listing
Rules) would result in the Company’s shares issued and to be issued
upon exercise of all options already granted and to be granted
(including options exercised, cancelled and outstanding) to such
person(s) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant (a) representing in aggregate over 0.10 per cent of the Company’s
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the closing
price of the Company’s shares at the date of each grant, in excess of
HK$5 million, such further grant of options is subject to approval by the
shareholders of the Company in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted in writing by a
participant within 21 days from the date of offer upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee. The exercise period for
the share options granted is determined by the Board, which period
shall not be more than 10 years from the date of grant.
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The amount payable of each share to be subscribed for under an option
in the event of the option being exercised shall be determined by the
Board in its absolute discretion and must be at least the higher of:

(i)  the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant (which must be a
business day);

(i) the average closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii) the nominal value of the shares.

The following table discloses movements of the share options under the
2021 Share Option Scheme during the year:

REREETENERT  BREBRER
BHEREROHNENSEREFREZED
FEE BARTIIRSE

(i) fon RIRHBH (WAEREXEH) £
P HRERFMIIBKHE ;

(i) ROREBEZEB/EOHMAEEEERE
WX ERRERMIINFHWS
E4

iy RIVEE-

TERRE_T - -—FRERESEETER
BRERZEE) !

Forfeited/
Exercise Price  Outstanding Granted Exercised Lapsed Outstanding
(HKS per as at during during during as at
Date of grant Exercisable period share) 1.4.2022 the year the year the year 31.3.2023
I8 WIB-ZE R RIBZ=
(BRRMH mA-H #&%/ =B=+-H
KHAH 1788 #) HWATHE FABRE FRETE F K17
Employees 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 to 27.4.2028 (Note) 0.80 - 30,000,000 5 - 30,000,000
&S ZECCE “EC_FMACTNARE
mAZ+N\R “E-\FMAZ+tH
(M3
Consultants 28.4.2022 28.4.2022 to 27.4.2028 (Note) 0.80 - 60,000,000 - - 60,000,000
B EC4MA ZBRZEMAZYN\BE
—+AR “BN\FMAZ+tA
(Rr3E)
Total st - 90,000,000 - - 90,000,000

Note: Subject to the Board’s absolute discretion to change the vesting period of the
share options granted to the relevant employees in the event of termination of
employment of the relevant employees, every 20% of the share options granted
to and accepted by the relevant employees and consultants shall be vested on
each anniversary of the date of grant until such 90,000,000 share options are
fully vested.

ARRANGEMENTS TO PURCHASE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, or any of its subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures
of, the Company or any other body corporate.
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken in the usual
course of business are set out in note 47 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group in this annual report. None of the related
party transactions constituted discloseable non-exempted connected
transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction under
the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance, to which the
Company or any of its subsidiaries, was a party and in which a director
of the Company or an entity connected with a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the
end of the year or at any time during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, none of the directors of the
Company had any interest in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the Company was
entered into or existed during the year ended 31 March 2023.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS IN
SHARES AND SHORT POSITION IN SHARES

As at 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the following
persons other than the directors or chief executive of the Company,
in the Company's shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company
pursuant to Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and which have
been recorded in the register kept by the Company pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO, were as follow:

TR 2 BRI R R
2 HE

A _E_=ZF=ZB=+—H ' UTEHA
T (IEARARBEERNFETHRALR) PBAE
NERD P EBIRIEES MBS EAIEXV
B2 R B3N A AR B E R B AL B
RARNBIRIEE S RBPERFFE3361&75F
BEEBEMzERARABUWT

Percentage of
the Company's

Name Capacity Interest in shares issued share capital
L VNG
e 4 513 B 1n # 2 BEITRFE L
(Note 5)
(MEzE5)
Wang Baoning (Note 1) Interest in a controlled corporation 244,296,000 16.02%
FTRE (Mst) REGIABER
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (“Sunbow”)  Beneficial owner 244,296,000 16.02%
(Note 1)
Sunbow Int'l Enterprise Limited (TSunbow]) B@m#EAE A
(=)
Yeung Yat Ping (Note 2) Interest in a controlled corporation 115,935,000 7.60%
tB—5 (EE2) REGIABES
Ping Pacific Limited (“Ping Pacific”) (Note 2)  Beneficial owner 115,935,000 7.60%
Ping Pacific Limited (MPing PacificJ) (MizE2) EZEE A
Wang Yicheng (Note 3) Beneficial owner 59,970,000 3.93%
T (5E3) BREBA
Interest in a controlled 30,750,000 2.02%
incorporation
REGIAB R
Li Meng Zhe (Note 4) Interest in a controlled corporation 76,324,110 5.00%
Li Meng Zhe (Fi5E4) REGIABER
South Leader Limited (“South Leader”) Beneficial owner 76,324,110 5.00%
(Note 4)
South Leader Limited (T South Leader J) BHEAA
(fiizt4)
Notes: B 52

(1) 244,296,000 shares are held by Sunbow. As Mr. Wang Baoning has the 100%
shareholding in Sunbow, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in all
the shares beneficially held by Sunbow.
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2) 115,935,000 shares are held by Ping Pacific. As Mr. Yeung Yat Ping has the 100%
shareholding in Ping Pacific, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested in
all the shares beneficially held by Ping Pacific.

(3) 59,970,000 shares and 30,750,000 shares are held by Mr. Wang Yicheng and
Glorious Investment Enterprise Ltd respectively. As Mr. Wang Yicheng has the
100% shareholding in Glorious Investment Enterprise Ltd, by virtue of the SFO,
he is deemed to be interested in all the shares beneficially held by Glorious
Investment Enterprise Ltd.

(4) 76,324,110 shares are held by South Leader. As Mr. Li Meng Zhe has the 100%
shareholding in South Leader, by virtue of the SFO, he is deemed to be interested
in all the shares beneficially held by South Leader.

(5)  The percentage is calculated on the basis of 1,525,284,939 shares of the
Company in issue as at 31 March 2023.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any
other relevant interests or short position in the issued share capital of
the Company as at 31 March 2023.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The information in respect of the Group's sales and purchases
attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
year is as follows:

Directors’ Report
EER%RS

(2) 115,935,000 17 EBPing Pacifict B « A HE—
4 APIng Pacificz100% R 18 RIBHEH K
HAE RG] AR ERPing PacificE m A HFT
BRMpAER -

(3) 59,970,000% f& 15 % 30,750,000/ f& 5 53 B
E—# 5t 4 K Glorious Investment Enterprise Ltd
R BRI —MiEHEAGlorious Investment
Enterprise LtdZ100% i # > RIREHF R EAE K
) > 1 #43 YE R Glorious Investment Enterprise Ltd
BRFENMBERG FER R

(4) 76,324,110 IR 15 BSouth LeaderiH A o HALI
Meng ZhesE4E#E A South Leader. 100% &1 - iR
BESREEREG HERERSouth Leader®
HRANMBRGPER R

(5) BAOLNEBARDNR_ZE_=ZF=B=+—HZ
BEE1TRR151,525,284,939 R A E L E o

BREXFIRBEEIIN KT _=ZF=H

=t+t—H ARBLUFMBRAEREEH
TRAZEFNHEMAAREDRIRA -

TEERRMER

FRN EREIBERRPRHEMGAEERH
ERMFBRZENIRIEIWT

Percentage of the Group’s total

ERERLBENE L
Purchases Sales
REERR HERR
The largest customer RARER - 23%
Five largest customers in aggregate ARERGE - 73%
The largest supplier RAMER 16% =
Five largest suppliers in aggregate hARHEREES ST 27% =

At no time during the year, have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the Company (which, to the knowledge of the directors,
owns more than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Bye-
laws, or the laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

RERERRRE ZADES HBHB A
EARR GLESFAEA R QT REEE
B5%E) BMEEAILSEIEZZ R RHER
Z R o

BiiEER

RABZ AR EREZD IR
AABDABLEARRERREEHIRZE
TR ERRE -
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Directors’ Report
EER%RS

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient
public float throughout the year ended 31 March 2023 and as at the
latest practicable date prior to the issue of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for director’s
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its directors and
senior management arising out of corporate activities. The permitted
indemnity provision is in force for the benefit of the directors as required
by section 470 of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws of
Hong Kong) when the report of the directors is approved in accordance
with section 391(1)(a) of the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622, Laws
of Hong Kong).

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been audited by ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited, the auditors
of the Company, who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for
re-appointment at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board

Mr. Qin Jie

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
Hong Kong, 28 June 2023
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ZHONGHUI

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA BEST GROUP HOLDING LIMITED
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 82 to 230,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
March 2023, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in equity
and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year ended 31 March
2023, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year ended 31 March 2023 in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA"”) and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS OF OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing ("HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and
we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the
Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIAUZHEMRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
i. Goodwill

Refer to Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements

The Group tested the amount of goodwill for impairment. This
impairment test is significant to our audit because the balance
of goodwill of approximately HK$255,626,000 as at 31 March
2023 and the impairment loss on goodwill for the year ended
31 March 2023 of approximately HK$12,197,000 are material to
the consolidated financial statements. In addition, the Group’s
impairment test involves application of judgements and is based on
assumptions and estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the identification of the related cash generating
units;

—  Assessing the arithmetical accuracy of the fair value and
value-in-use calculations;

— Comparing the actual cash flows with the cash flow
projections;

—  Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions
(including revenue growth, profit margins, terminal growth

rates and discount rates);

—  Assessing the competence, independence and integrity of the
external valuers engaged by the Company; and

—  Checking input data to supporting evidence.

We consider that the Group's impairment test for goodwill is
supported by the available evidence.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract
assets

Refer to Notes 32, 26, 28, 33 and 29 to the consolidated financial
statements

The Group tested the amount of loans and interest receivables,
finance lease receivables, trade and other receivables, other loans
and interest receivables and contract assets for impairment. These
impairment tests are significant to our audit because the balances
of loans and interests receivables, finance lease receivables, trade
and other receivables, other loans and interest receivable and
contract assets of approximately HK$342,073,000, HK$4,546,000,
HK$450,696,000, HK$24,564,000, and HK$303,604,000
respectively as at 31 March 2023 and the impairment losses on
loan and interest receivables, trade and other receivables and
contract assets for the year ended 31 March 2023 of approximately
HK$59,616,000, HK$198,933,000 and HK$9,331,000, respectively
are material to the consolidated financial statements. In addition,
the Group's impairment test involves application of judgement and
is based on estimates.

Our audit procedures included, among others:

—  Assessing the Group's procedures on granting loans limits and
loans periods to borrowers;

—  Assessing the transaction history with the borrowers;
—  Evaluating the Group’s impairment assessment;
—  Assessing aging of the debts;

—  Assessing creditworthiness of the borrowers, guarantors and
the value of collateral pledged,;

—  Checking subsequent settlements from the borrowers; and

—  Assessing the disclosure of the Group’s exposure to credit risk
in the consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BIAUZHEMRES

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

ii. Loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, trade and other receivables, other
loans and interest receivables and contract
assets (Continued)

We consider that the Group’s impairment test for loans and
interest receivables, finance lease receivables, trade and other
receivables, other loans and interest receivables and contract assets
are supported by the available evidence.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises all the information in the Company's annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.
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AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you,
as a body, in accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements is located at the HKICPA's website at:

http://www.hkicpa.org.hk/en/standards-and-setting/standards/our-views/
auditre/

This description forms part of our auditor’s report.

ZHONGHUI ANDA CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Li Chi Hoi

Audit Engagement Director

Practising Certificate Number P07268

Hong Kong
28 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mefmREMZENER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—F-= -
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M 5F FHET THET
Turnover EERR 9 504,665 858,457
Revenue: Wz 10
— Trading of goods —EEfm 111,478 345,620
— Provision of international air and sea —RHEEMTERE LEE
freight forwarding services R 1,816 1,242
— Consultancy income from finance leases —REEH SRR A 537 2,296
— Interest income from money lending —fBEMEWA 7,902 23,763
- Brokerage commission and consultancy ——iEH R EEE LA HERART
income from securities and future 2 L AE R ERUWA
brokerage related services 293 364
— Brokerage commission and consultancy — — ¥ AL RS 2 K42
income from property brokerage service — 1fs K EERIUA 814 =
— Heating and cooling supply by — M EABE MRS
geothermal energy 18,718 18,410
— Construction contracting services —BEXKERBEWA
fee income 230,100 329,451
— Heating supply and industrial —{HBE R TZEZ[UWA
steam income 60,406 64,629
— Project management service income —IBEEBERBIA 31,371 44,758
— Interior design service income —ERNRFTRBEA 6,482 10,024
- Rental income —fEWA 6,624 7,075
- Data analytical service income —BIR D ITARFE WA 28,124 10,825
504,665 858,457
Operating costs: e
— Cost of trading goods sold — B mmiHERA (109,829) (340,515)
— Cost of providing international air and ~ —312 B R 2= K
sea freight forwarding services B EERBE A (1,184) (810)
— Cost of providing securities and futures ~—iZ2fftz55H R HAEAL
brokerage related services HE B AR 7S A AN (1) (M
— Cost of providing property brokerage and —32 ¥ %4 40 K BA RS
consultancy services ARFE A A (1,012) (2,077)
— Cost of heating and cooling supply by ~ —#hZAFEHBE RS B A
geothermal energy (13,338) (14,011)
— Cost of providing construction —RHERKERBRA
contracting services (191,813) (287,317)
— Cost of providing heating supply and —REHE R TEZARAE
industrial steam (73,961) (65,065)
— Cost of providing project management  —3i2{{IEE EMEIRFE M A
service (4,843) (8,261)
- Cost of providing interior design services —31gfftZ= R sHARFE AL A - (1,346)
- Cost of providing data analytical services —312 (ft#UIR DT ARFE AL A& (5.111) (8,566)
(401,092) (727,969)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
GelEEREMEERER

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

2023 2022
—EZ= ==
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Mk FET FHET
Other income HAA 12 10,133 10,632
Administrative and other expenses TEREMEEH (50,717) (51,135)
Staff costs BB A 13 (72,652) (81,398)
Finance costs FATE AL AR 13 (36,452) (37,357)
Fair value (loss)/gain on step acquisition of DT NEM B AT ZAFE
subsidiaries (&518) /W 24 (1,059) 4,198
Unrealised gain on fair value change REMERNTFEESH 2 RE
on investment properties R 20 2,051 6,572
Realised/unrealised gain on fair value BAFEFABENEME
change on financial assets at fair value EAFEEZSHZEEIR S
through profit or loss REIR W 30 6,837 18,521
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AR Z WE - 48,221
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary HH—EWBAR W 45 2,769 =
Impairment loss on finance lease receivable FEUWRLE TR E B R(EEE 26 - (10,296)
Impairment loss on trade and other [ LT BR R R ELfth FE W =R B
receivables BER1E 28 (198,933) (548)
Impairment loss on loans and interest EWERRH SR ERE
receivables 32 (59,616) (22,987)
Impairment loss on goodwill mEREERE 21 (12,197) (14,000)
Impairment loss on contract assets SHNEERERE 29 (9,331) =
Share of loss of associates DMEBE R EEE (482) (406)
Share of loss of a joint venture MME—EEE AT EE - (1,593)
Loss before tax PRIZATES 1R (316,076) (1,088)
Income tax expense FrigfEZ 15 (16,054) (10,035)
Loss for the year FREE 13 (332,130) (11,123)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mefmREMZENER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—F-= -
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
Mok FHET FHET
Other comprehensive income (expenses) E fth 2 E U2 (& H)
Items that may be reclassified BE A EEIRmcEHE -
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on MEBINETBREL 2
translation of foreign operations B2 =28 (44,779) 21,583
Translation reserve released upon deemed RIFHE—FIEE A%
disposal of a joint venture FRPREE R REHE 51 S
Translation reserve released upon HIE— M B A B B bR
deregistration of a subsidiary bE R 38 S
Translation reserve released upon deemed 1R {F ! E Bt & A 5118 R
disposal of associates bE R - 7
Translation reserve released upon HEWB AR RBMREIRER
disposal of subsidiaries H1E = (934)
Items that will not be subsequently HBETFrEEN 7 EEEm
reclassified to profit or loss: ZHEE
Fair value gain on financial assets at BAFEFAREMEZENRE
fair value through ZEMEBEEZ ATERG
other comprehensive income 25 140 -
(44,550) 20,656
Total comprehensive FERzmE () KREetE
(expenses)/income for the year (376,680) 9,533
(Loss) Profit for the year attributable to: XA FREMLER (B548) & F :
— owners of the Company S VNEIEZT= DN (333,793) (6,349)
- non-controlling interests —FEER RS 1,663 (4,774)
(332,130) (11,123)
Total comprehensive EaEERE2E (Zd) k&
(expenses)/income for the year 4azE -
attributable to:
— owners of the Company S VNEIEZT= DN (374,665) 12,325
- non-controlling interests —FEER RS (2,015) (2,792)
(376,680) 9,533
Loss per share sREE 17
— Basic and diluted (HK cents) —EARREE GBI (21.88) (0.45)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
AR

As at 31 March 202383 _&E_=F=/A=+—H
2023 2022
—EZ= ==
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME-BEMEE 18 295,437 286,958
Right-of-use assets FRAEEE 19 3,716 17,663
Investment properties SEME 20 121,433 129,026
Goodwill mmE 21 255,626 273,707
Intangible asset EmEEE 22 811 811
Interests in associates REBERB R 23 22,251 24,572
Interests in joint ventures RNEERNB ¥R 24 - 5,192
Financial assets at fair value BAFEFABRZ /M
through profit or loss BE 30 - 29,633
Financial assets at fair value through BATES AEMEE
other comprehensive income Rz EMEE 25 8,780 8,640
Loans receivables B E= 32 44,300 30,113
Regulatory deposits EERE 205 205
Deferred tax assets FIERIBE E 36 - 9,410
752,559 815,930
Current assets RENEE
Inventory FE& 27 6,416 4,430
Finance lease receivables W E R E RIS 26 4,546 4,914
Loans and interest receivables W ER KT B 32 297,773 369,117
Other loan and interest receivables HEWERKRFE 33 24,564 9,252
Trade and other receivables FEU AR A R EL At FE W =R 1B 28 450,696 624,359
Contract assets BHEE 29 303,604 370,760
Promissory note receivable FEWUR 2 Eis 42 - 90,000
Amounts due from a joint venture il el —YN=s =] 24 - 2,222
Bank balances and cash IRTTAERRIRSE
— trust and segregated accounts —EERBIURE 31 3,867 3,855
Bank balances and cash IRTTAERRIRSE
— general accounts ——NRER P 31 50,134 46,049
1,141,600 1,524,958
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

REMBIRRR

As at 31 March 20238 —E_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—Eg”= =2
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
IS FET FET
Current liabilities REIAR

Trade and other payables FETRR A R E eI =R IB 34 620,765 655,202
Contract liabilities aHEaE 29 15,419 10,805
Lease liabilities HEAaE 35 3,682 14,944
Trust loans SELE™ 37 228,472 246,940
Short term loans fEHRE® 38 6,529 27,286
Bank loans BITEMR 39 93,674 88,900
Amounts due to a joint venture FEN—B&ER B 2B 24 - 123
Tax liabilities mEaE 34,880 32,339
1,003,421 1,076,539
Net current assets REBEERE 138,179 448,419
Total assets less current liabilities MEERREBAR 890,738 1,264,349

Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Long-term loan REAEM 38 343 =
Lease liabilities HEaE 35 - 3,841
343 3,841
NET ASSETS BEEFE 890,395 1,260,508
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

As at 31 March 20238 —_E_=F=F=+—H

HEMBRRR

2023 2022
=== =S
NOTES HK$000 HK$'000
M =E FET FET
Capital and Reserves B2 B 5 1

Share capital [N 40 152,529 152,529
Share premium and reserves R im B R E 688,798 1,056,896

Equity attributable to owners of EN/NSIEE DNy
the Company 841,327 1,209,425
Non-controlling interests JEER R 49,068 51,083
TOTAL EQUITY s 890,395 1,260,508

The consolidated financial statements on pages 82 to 230 were
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 June
2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

Qin Jie
Director

EF

B2EEF20EZGAUBREREN
ET-HFRNBZ+H/\BREZERHERE

BT WA TIRER
Tao Lei
M=
Director
BE
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
HEEREHR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

Investment Non-
Share Share  Contributed ~ Translation Statutory  revaluation  Accumulated controlling
capital premium surplus reserve reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
RE ROEE  BABRK  HABREE  iEEE REEREE  2n6E gt FERER )
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TER TER TER TER TER TER THER TER TER TER
(Note i) (Note ii)
(ki) (e
At 1 April 2021 RZE_-£NE-A 101,686 1,005,094 408,738 (16,229) 3,908 (33,110) (369,944) 1,100,143 49574 1,149,717
Loss for the year ERER - - - - - - (6,349) (6,349) @774 (11,123)
Other comprehensive income (expenses)  EREMBEMNE (KH) :
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on BERNEEREL ERER
translation of foreign operations - - - 19,601 - - - 19,601 1,982 21,583
Translation reserve released upon RIELEREATRERERER
deemed disposal of associates - - - 7 - - - 7 - 7
Translation reserve released upon HERBADRRRER A
disposal of subsidiaries - - - (934) - - - (934) - (934)
Total comprehensive income (expenses)  ERZERE (i) BE
for the year - - - 18,674 - - (6,349) 12,325 (2,79) 9,533
Issue of rights shares (Note 40) ETHRRS (o) 50,843 50,843 - - - - - 101,68 = 101,686
Transaction costs attributable to issue of ~ EfTHEBREERZAA
new ordinary shares - (4,729) - - - - - (4,729 - (4,729
Acquisition of subsidiaries hENBAR - - - - - - - - 4301 4301
At 31 March 2022 RZBZ"£=f=1+-H 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 2,445 3,908 (33,110) (376,93) 1,209,425 51,083 1,260,508
Share  Investment Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Translation  Statutory options  revaluation Accumulated controlling
capital  premium surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve losses  Sub-total interests Total
Rk RAEE BARE  BEEE  ARHE RRERE REEGEE  RHEE it FEREE @it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
Tn FEn FEn FEn FEn FEn T#n TEn T#r Tén FEn
(Note i) (Note ii)
(M) (i)
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZEMA-A 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 2,445 3,908 - (33,1100 (376,293) 1,209,425 51,083 1,260,508
Loss for the year FRBE - - - - - - - (33793 (333793) 1663 (332,130)
Other comprehensive income (expenses) FREMPENE (G
for the year:
Exchange differences arising on BERNEBRELZERER
translation of foreign operations - - - (41,101) - - - - (41,101) (3.678) (44,779)
Fair value gain on financia assets at fair RATEFALMREREZ
value through other comprehensive income £ EEZ ATENE - - - - - - 140 - 140 - 140
Translation reserve released upon deemed ~ BfEHE—-FEEATE
disposal of a joint venture BREQEE = - - 51 - - - - 51 - 51
Translation reserve released upon HE-ENBATRERERGERE
deregistration of a subsidiary = = = 38 = = = = 38 = 38
Total comprehensive incomel(expenses) FREENE/ (K1) B8
for the year = = - on) s s w0 (B9 (M) (015 (376,680)
Recognition of equity-settled share-based ~ BRRLBREEMRABAERNAR
payments = = = = = 6,567 = = 6,567 = 6,567
At 31 March 2023 RIEZZEZR=+-H 152,529 1,051,208 408,738 (38,567) 3,908 6,567 (32,970)  (710,086) 841,327 49,068 890,395
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Note i:

Note ii:

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

GERDEBR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

The contributed surplus of the Group represents (i) the difference between
the nominal value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) in 1996
and the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange and (ii)
the credit arising from the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the
paid-up capital of the Company on 2 September 2020.

In accordance with the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) Company Law
and the PRC subsidiaries’ Articles of Association, a subsidiary registered in
the PRC, prior to any dividend distribution, is required to appropriate 10%
of its annual statutory net profit as determined in accordance with relevant
statutory rules and regulations applicable to enterprises established in the PRC
(after offsetting any prior years' losses) to the statutory reserve. When the
balance of such reserve fund reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further
appropriation is optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior
years' losses or to increase capital. However, such balance of the statutory
reserve must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after such
usages. The balance is reclassified to retained earnings at the date of disposal
of the subsidiary.

B 5 -

B &ii:

AEBZBABBIENERBDROK—ANN
FEEBHERZAARAE (M) TR
EHR RBEEFMBENB AR ZRMNEE
BEATMMBETZARBDROEBZER
RINVKRZBZZFENA_HBEBFEHEELQT
BRRAEENREHBFTEENER-

RIFREARFEME (M) A 8%k B
BrEZAMERMAR RPEZRZMER
BEER D IKMEMRKRE A RIS EEE AT
BIN0% TN EE M - SFEEMATHIRES
RPEMIz CEBRZAMEERRRE
REE (BEMHERLRTEER MZEE
EBRIEEBREERMNS0%  AIFEZRTE
R RIE — 2 B SR TE A R A IEES ST Al
FEZBERIIEMBRE - AW EREERHE
BRZBRRBRERTERZ25% AEEFI1H
EWNBAREHENDEERERN -
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

2023 2022
ZEZ= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REER
Loss before tax PRI ARS8 (316,076) (1,088)
Adjustments for: T NHIEE EH AR
Depreciation of property, ME-BERZBITE
plant and equipment 13,511 11,127
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEETE 14,020 13,463
Gain on lease modification MEET s (49) (39)
Finance costs BB A A 36,452 37,357
Loss on disposal of property, plant and HEME -BERFREZ
equipment 518 230 1,239
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWNB AR ZWHE - (48,221)
Reversal of impairment loss on finance FEWRERERIBRE
lease receivable 538 # (0] (696) =
Share of loss of associates DEEE QB EE 482 406
Share of loss of a joint venture DME—REEERATEIE - 1,593
Unrealised gain on fair value change on ~ REYEAFEESFHZ
investment properties REIR W (2,051) (6,572)
Realised/unrealised gain on fair value BATEF ABRZ T/
change on financial assets at EEATEEZH 2B
fair value through profit or loss I REIRW R (6,837) (18,521)
Fair value loss/(gain) on step acquisition of 2 FZURERB AT =2
subsidiaries ANFEBE wE) 1,059 (4,198)
Interest income from bank, REIRIT - HEMEWER
other loans receivables and REWARTREZ
promissory note receivable FE U A (4,527) (6,041)
Government grant BT 48 BN (4,610) (3,886)
Recognition of equity-settled RURRGEURND S
share-based payments EROR 6,567 =
Impairment loss on finance lease FEWRERERIBRE
receivable K518 - 10,296
Impairment loss on trade and other & ST AR TR B EL th & W =R 1B
receivables BIER1E 198,933 548
Impairment loss on loans and interest EWER KR S RERE
receivables 59,616 22,987
Impairment loss on goodwill BmEZBEEE 12,197 14,000
Impairment loss on contract assets BREERBERBE 9,331 =




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
EeRERER

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

2023 2022
—EZ= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
TFHET FET
Operating cash inflow before BESEIFI o KERS
movements in working capital mJ\ 17,552 24,450
Increase in trade and other receivables i LST BR TR R EL th & W =R 1B
10 (51,754) (206,396)
Decrease in finance lease receivables & W Bt 5 AR & PR IE R D - 1,219
(Increase)/decrease in cash and bank fﬁ%)ﬁ’zfﬁﬁ EER (gm)
balances — trust and segregated WL —EsERBIRR
account (12) 187
Increase in loans and interest receivables — FEUS & = & FI| 2180 (2,459) (11,319)
(Increase)/decrease in other loans HEWERKRFE
and interest receivables (tgm) b (14,558) 76,684
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other JPE A< BR =k R EL At FE A<
payables B CRL) /10 (21,301) 173,568
Increase in properties under development 3B PS5 EY) £
for sale - (16,025)
Decrease/(increase) in contract assets SHEERD, (EM) 57,825 (74,699)
Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities aHasEm, Gl 4,614 (2,735)
Increase in inventory FEEM (2,319) (353)
Cash used in operations KEEBPIARE (12,412) (35,419)
Income tax paid [SENIFIECT (3.873) (5,258)
NET CASH USED IN REEHFARE R
OPERATING ACTIVITIES (16,285) (40,677)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

2023 2022
—E== ==
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
Iz FET FET
INVESTING ACTIVITIES KREEH
Interest received from bank, other loans R EBIRTT  EMhEIKE R
receivables and promissory note BEWAREE
receivable BUF S 8,617 5,483
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from acquisition WEHBAT ZIRE
of subsidiaries WA CRY) 358 44 35 (73,434)
Repayment of consideration payables EEEMRE (11,424) (47,259)
Cash outflow from investment in a joint RE—BHE AT ZHE
venture piidust - (5,062)
Net cash inflow from disposal of HE—RBNBRBEZ
subsidiary BE&mAFE - 23,336
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEWME - BEMRET
plant and equipment BIE 1,457 176
Purchase of property, BEWE BEMRE
plant and equipment (6,411) (13,923)
Receipts of promissory note AEEBEKA 90,000 -
NET CASH GENERATED FROM/(USED IN) {2 & ZEFR1S, (FiA) R&
INVESTING ACTIVITIES FEE 82,274 (110,683)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REEEE
Receipts of government grant AT 4 B U A 4,610 3,886
Net proceeds from right issue HAG PSR IEF 58 — 96,957
Advance to a joint venture E—EEEATRN - (2,222)
Payment of trust loans interest T HETLETFE (5,735) (24,342)
Payment of short-term loans TR EM (18,669) (20,170)
Payment of short-term loans interest FTEBRERFE (260) (3,086)
Payment of bank loans F(FIRITER (56,975) (12,347)
Payment of bank loans interest FRIRITERFE (5,265) (1,790)
New borrowing from short term loans FEEHERZHER - 27,286
New borrowing from long term loan RERBAERZHMER 343 =
New borrowing from bank loans KERITERZIER 68,370 88,900
Repayment of lease liabilities and interest (HiETHE&GEBERF]E (16,588) (16,201)
NET CASH (USED IN)/GENERATED MEEE FrA) FiiEz
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES HE 35 (30,169) 136,871
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HeERkREZEEERBZ
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS wm, GRL) B%E 35,820 (14,489)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS REVZRESRIRE%E
AT THE BEGINNING OF THE YEAR IEH 46,049 50,307
Effect of changes in foreign exchange rate FEZREE) > 222 (31,735) 10,231
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERZEER
AT THE END OF YEAR HREeE%EEER"
represented by bank balances and cash MIRTT R R IREFIER 50,134 46,049
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

GENERAL

China Best Group Holding Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on the Stock Exchange.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the "“Corporate
Information” of the annual report.

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries (together with the Company
referred to as the “Group”) are set out in note 48.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of the
Company.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group

In the current year, the Group has adopted the following new
and revised HKFRSs (which include all HKFRSs, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKAS"), and Interpretations) issued
by Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the
“HKICPA") for the first time for the consolidated financial
statements.

HKAS 16 (Amendments) Property, plant and equipment:
Amendments in relation to Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments in relation to Onerous
Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling a Contract

Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting

Annual improvements to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020 Cycle

HKAS 37 (Amendments)

HKFRS 3 (Amendments)

Amendments to HKFRSs

—iRE#

HEEEMERBRAT ((FAF) A
REREEMATZEREERA
5) > ELAR A TE ST L7 o

AABEMPEREREEEE M
MU FRZ AT E R AKEE

ERBZEEEBRAREER-HE
EMBAR ERAABDMRER EAE
B 2 EBHICMEE48

maEMBRENET (T8T)) 25
HBARNBZEEERHER °

FERME] R G T B R M
g%%?ﬁEEU(r%§ﬁ§ﬂti%$E€§ﬁ£
Al

(a) ANEEERMMZ T R AZ(E
sJ 2R

REFER FEBRRBRES
MBERRHFECEREMLUTES
BEHMAE (TEBEFHMA
g1 B2 REESTE B/
BREER (BEMAEE AU
BREEAN -BEBGER (THE
GEHER) R o

EBGSER VEN- B
F165% RERBRIZFE
(CHES) Ll A

EBGSER HEBEEMA0ERZ
F3ITH (BITEK)  BI-BROEE

ERMBREER MBRSZBSRE
F35% (BT %)

BRYMBRE ERMBREER
3P4 ) E-N\EETZT

TEBMZBE
i
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

(a) New and amended standards adopted by
the Group (Continued)

The Group concluded that the application of the
Amendments to Reference to the Conceptual Framework in
HKFRSs and the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the amounts reported and/or
disclosures set out in the consolidated financial statements.

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on 1 April
2022 and not early adopted by the Group

FER ] R A MEST B BT
Eﬁ%?éiﬂU(r%§ﬂ§ﬂ#i%$E%§§§
A1) @

(a)

(b)

7 5 E R Z R Re AR AE
sT#EH &)

RAFE FEERABAES
MRS EAIRE MEER
EE] R B AR B RS A 2 54T
BESEAMBRENIE S
BRAFAMIZREELEEA
o

7 5 [ I REE R ERAA S —
Z__FMA—-HREZ
BstiAEEEMmERKE
X 2w ET 2 R R ZE RIMEET

HKAS 8 (Amendments)
SR EERESH (BFTA)
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
BRI EAF15 (BT E)
HKAS 12 (Amendments)

ERGTERE 125 (B5T4)
HKFRS 17
BEEVBRSENE17R
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
BEGEF IR (BT
HKAS 1 (Amendments)
ERAGHENF 15 (BT A)
HKFRS 16

BEEVBRSENE 165

HK-Int 5

BERESSH

HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28
(Amendments)

Amendments in relation to definition of accounting estimates

B EHh stV ERBRE 2 &R

Amendments in relation to disclosure of accounting policies

BB ERRE BT

Amendments in relation to deferred tax related to assets and
liabilities arising from a single transaction

BELBE—XZNEERBERBNEERE &

Insurance contracts

REREH

Classification of liabilities as current or non-current

BREZRENIFREDE

Non-current liabilities with covenants

MWHEZENIERBIAEER

Amendments in relation to lease liability in a sale and
leaseback

HERRHENEESBRRZEE]

Amendments in relation to Amendments to HKAS 1

ER G ERB1SE (1B5TA) Z185]

Sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture

Zs
Effective for
accounting
periods
beginning
on or after
UL B A
ZEREZ
BEHARER
1 January 2023
—E”=%—A—H
1 January 2023
“B2-=%—H—H
1 January 2023
“E2”=F—A—H
1 January 2023
_E”_=%—A—H
1 January 2024
“Z-mME—F—H
1 January 2024
“E2mE—F—H
1 January 2024
—E_mME—-F—H
1 January 2024
“Z-mME—F—H
To be determined
HETE

BEEVBREENFI0RRERS REERARSRAANSELEHIHETIAEE

sHEERIEE285% (BATA)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (CONTINUED)

(b) New standards and amendments to
standards issued but not yet effective for
the accounting period beginning on 1 April
2022 and not early adopted by the Group
(Continued)

The Group is in the process of making an assessment on
the impact of these new standards and amendments to
standards but is not yet in a position to state whether these
new standards and amendments to standards would have
a material impact on its result of operations and financial
position.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the
“Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the
historical cost basis, except for certain financial instruments and
investment properties that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants in the principal (or most advantageous) market at the
measurement date under current market conditions (i.e. an exit
price) regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. Details of fair value
measurement are explained in the accounting policies set out
below.

FE P BT 5T R AGAE ST B B A 55
MERA (maumRe
A1) &

OR:EIECES e ) S
T——FNE— A
B3t AR B ARG E 14 R A
M2 TR AR R

(48)

AERIEENEZ S ER R
ZAMESI R E B EEAR
Rz EMTER R EAET AR
CEHHKERERYB R RE
FERTE-

FEGHER
BEMBRRDRESEGHMA
B2 BB B REEAEY I
S REMBRANARLAES -
BIRA (TEFIRAL) REBADHH)
REZBARBEE-

RERESHER BFETERITAERR
BEYMEULXFESAEIN GEMBR
RUESE A E RS

FEEMA—REDBZBERRRFE M
BTYZRBZATEHE

AFEBEURFHHHOERT > R
EQPATHE2REEIE H&EFF)
mBEZERFRZPHEBEEIE
HEBEEAINZERS BIERHE
B MAmZEREEERITER
HAEREMMLE AGE - AFE
STEZFBERN TXAEH S5 EER T E
o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

38

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

The preparation of the consolidated financial statements
in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain key
assumptions and estimates. It also requires the directors of the
Company (the “Directors”) to exercise its judgements in the
process of applying the accounting policies. The areas involving
critical judgements and areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to these consolidated financial statements, are disclosed
in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (i.e. its subsidiaries). If a subsidiary prepares its financial
statements using accounting policies other than those adopted
in the consolidated financial statements for like transaction and
events in similar circumstances, appropriate adjustments are
made to that subsidiary’s financial statement in preparing the
consolidated financial statements to ensure conformity with the
Group's accounting policies.

Control is achieved when the Group has: (i) the power over
the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power
over the investee to affect the amount of the Group’s return.

The Company reassesses whether it controls an investee if facts
and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more
of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Company obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Income and expenses of a subsidiary are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until
the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.
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MROCEBMBREERNESH
BREAERETHRKRR kMG
NRARBDEE (E%)) £EA G
BRBEPELHFE - ZEBED K
BRI TR ERK KRGS HZSE
REMBRERAEATENLE K
BRG oM BmEM s

TEISHHREHW T

mEREEE

REMBRREBBEERBDREIRFE
flzER BENBRE) 2MHR
KoM BADREEYHFHRERE
AR5 BRMB OIS R B R
BRTZEHAINEEGREMBR
RFFRAZE AEHREESYHRE

EHZWEB AR ZMBREFL
BERE UWERTEAEE 2G5
R ©

AEBRFLUTER FESERE ()
BEAEHERSREERZEN (VA2
HARTREERMERSIERIKR A
iR RGiVERENEREHNER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income
of subsidiaries are attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the Group
are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests are presented in the consolidated
statement of financial position within equity, separately from
equity attributable to the equity shareholders of the Company.
Non-controlling interests in the result of the Group are presented
on the face of the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income as an allocation of the total profit or
loss and total comprehensive income for the year between non-
controlling interests and the equity shareholders of the Company.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's ownership interests in existing subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiaries
are accounted for as equity transactions. The carrying amounts of
the Group's interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted
to reflect the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries.
Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid
or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners
of the Company.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in
existing subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, it (i) derecognises
the assets (including any goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary
at their carrying amounts at the date when control is lost, (ii)
derecognises the carrying amount of any non-controlling interests
in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost (including
any components of other comprehensive income attributable to
them), and (iii) recognises the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest,
with any resulting difference being recognised as a gain or loss in
profit or loss attributable to the Group. When assets and liabilities
of the subsidiary are carried at revalued amounts or fair values
and the related cumulative gain or loss has been recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity, the
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity are accounted for as if the Group had
directly disposed of the related assets and liabilities (i.e. reclassified
to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earnings as
specified by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any investment
retained in the former subsidiary at the date when control is lost
is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for subsequent
accounting under HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments or, when
applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in an
associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Business combinations are accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the
sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by
the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
incurred to effect a business combination are recognised in profit
or loss as incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value, except that:

e deferred tax assets or liabilities arising from the assets
acquired and liabilities assumed in the business combination
are recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income Taxes;

o assets or liabilities related to the acquiree’s employee benefit
arrangements are recognised and measured in accordance
with HKAS 19 Employee Benefits;

e liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment transactions of the acquiree or the replacement of
the acquiree’s share-based payment transactions with the
share-based payment transactions of the Group are measured
in accordance with HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment at the
acquisition date (see the accounting policy below); and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for sale
in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale
and Discontinued Operations are measured in accordance
with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the aggregate of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net
of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and the liabilities assumed. If, after re-assessment, the net of the
acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed exceeds the aggregate of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held interest
in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised immediately in
profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests, unless as required by another standards,
are measured at acquisition-date fair value except for non-
controlling interests that are present ownership interests and
entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the entity’s net
assets in the event of liquidation are measured either at fair value
or at the present ownership instruments’ proportionate share in
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets on
a transaction-by-transaction basis.

When the consideration transferred by the Group in a
business combination includes assets or liabilities resulting
from a contingent consideration arrangement, the contingent
consideration is measured at its acquisition-date fair value and
included as part of the consideration transferred in a business
combination. Changes in the fair value of the contingent
consideration that qualify as measurement period adjustments
are adjusted retrospectively, with the corresponding adjustments
made against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are
adjustments that arise from additional information obtained during
the “measurement period” (which cannot exceed one year from
the acquisition date) about facts and circumstances that existed at
the acquisition date.

The subsequent accounting for changes in the fair value of the
contingent consideration that do not qualify as measurement
period adjustments depends on how the contingent consideration
is classified. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is
not remeasured at subsequent reporting dates and its subsequent
settlement is accounted for within equity. Other contingent
consideration that is within the scope of HKFRS 9 is measured at
fair value at each reporting date, and changes in fair value are
recognised in profit or loss in accordance with HKFRS 9. Other
contingent consideration that is not within the scope of HKFRS 9 is
measured at fair value at each reporting date and changes in fair
value are recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

When a business combination is achieved in stages, the Group's
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair
value at the acquisition date (i.e. the date when the Group obtains
control), and the resulting gain or loss, if any, is recognised in profit
or loss. Amounts arising from interests in the acquiree prior to
the acquisition date that have previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss where such
treatment would be appropriate if that interest were disposed of.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incomplete by
the end of the reporting period in which the combination occurs,
the Group reports provisional amounts for the items for which the
accounting is incomplete. During the measurement period (see
above), the provisional amounts recognised at the acquisition date
are adjusted retrospectively or additional assets or liabilities are
recognised as of that date, to reflect new information obtained
about facts and circumstances that existed at the acquisition date
that, if known, would have affected the amounts recognised at
that date.

Associates

Associates are entities over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of an entity but is not
control or joint control over those policies. The existence and
effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or
convertible, including potential voting rights held by other entities,
are considered when assessing whether the Group has significant
influence. In assessing whether a potential voting right contributes
to significant influence, the holder’s intention and financial ability
to exercise or convert that right is not considered.

Investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements by the equity method and is initially
recognised at cost. Identifiable assets and liabilities of the associate
in an acquisition are measured at their fair values at the acquisition
date. The excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group's share
of the net fair value of the associate’s identifiable assets and
liabilities is recorded as goodwill. The goodwill is included in the
carrying amount of the investment and is tested for impairment
together with the investment at the end of each reporting period
when there is objective evidence that the investment is impaired.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Associates (Continued)

The Group’s share of an associate’s post-acquisition profits or
losses is recognised in consolidated profit or loss, and its share of
the post-acquisition movements in reserves is recognised in the
consolidated reserves. The cumulative post-acquisition movements
are adjusted against the carrying amount of the investment. When
the Group's share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its
interest in the associate, including any other unsecured receivables,
the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate. If
the associate subsequently reports profits, the Group resumes
recognising its share of those profits only after its share of the
profits equals the share of losses not recognised.

The gain or loss on the disposal of an associate that results in a
loss of significant influence represents the difference between (i)
the fair value of the consideration of the sale plus the fair value of
any investment retained in that associate and (ii) the Group's share
of the net assets of that associate plus any remaining goodwill
relating to that associate and any related accumulated foreign
currency translation reserve. If an investment in an associate
becomes an investment in a joint venture, the Group continues
to apply the equity method and does not remeasure the retained
interest.

Unrealised profits on transactions between the Group and its
associates are eliminated to the extent of the Group’s interests
in the associates. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed
where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

Joint Ventures

A joint venture is a contractual arrangement whereby the Group
and other parties undertake an economic activity through an
entity that is separate from the parties and subject to joint control.
Investment in a joint venture is stated at cost less impairment
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Joint Ventures (Continued)

Investment in a joint venture is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. The investment is
initially recorded at the transaction price (including transaction
costs) and is subsequently adjusted to reflect the Group’s share of
profit or loss after the date of acquisition. The Group’s share of the
profit or loss of the joint venture is recognised in the consolidated
profit or loss. Distributions received from a joint venture reduce the
carrying amount of the investment.

Identifiable assets and liabilities of a joint venture in an acquisition
are measured at their acquisition date fair values. The excess of
the cost of acquisition over the Group's share of the net fair value
of the joint venture’s identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded
as goodwill. Goodwill relating to a joint venture is included in
the carrying amount of the investment unless fully amortised or
impaired. Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of
the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition is
recognised in consolidated profit or loss.

When the Group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the joint
venture, the Group's interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the Group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments on
behalf of the joint venture.

The difference between the proceeds from the disposal of a joint
venture and its carrying amount as of the date of disposal is
recognised in the consolidated profit or loss as the gain or loss on
disposal of the joint venture.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from upstream and
downstream transactions are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's interests in joint ventures. Accounting policies of joint
ventures have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency
with the policies adopted by the Group.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising from a business combination is carried at cost less
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that is expected to benefit from the synergies of
the combination.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment annually or more frequently when there
is indication that the unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising
on an acquisition in a reporting period, the cash-generating unit
to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
before the end of that reporting period. If the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of
any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of
the unit on a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit. Any impairment loss for goodwill is recognised
directly in profit or loss. An impairment loss recognised for
goodwill is not reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal.

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a
contract with a customer with reference to the customary business
practices and excludes amounts collected on behalf of third
parties. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised product or service
exceeds one year, the consideration is adjusted for the effect of a
significant financing component.

The Group recognises revenue when it satisfies a performance
obligation by transferring control over a product or service to a
customer. Depending on the terms of a contract and the laws that
apply to that contract, a performance obligation can be satisfied
over time or at a point in time. A performance obligation is
satisfied over time if:

—  the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group’s performance;

—  the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset that
the customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced; or

— the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to
date.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

If a performance obligation is satisfied over time, revenue is
recognised by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is
recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control of
the product or service.

Other revenue

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ rights to
receive payment are established.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing
costs eligible for capitalisation.

To the extent that funds are borrowed generally and used for
the purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset, the amount of
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation is determined by applying
a capitalisation rate to the expenditures on that asset. The
capitalisation rate is the weighted average of the borrowing costs
applicable to the borrowings of the Group that are outstanding
during the period, other than borrowings made specifically for the
purpose of obtaining a qualifying asset.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Related Parties

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the Group.

(A) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related
to the Group if that person:
i has control or joint control over the Group;
ii.  has significant influence over the Group; or

iii. is a member of the key management personnel of the
Company or of a parent of the Company.

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies:

i.  The entity and the Company are members of the same

group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

ii.  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

iii. Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

iv.  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the
other entity is an associate of the third entity.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)
Related Parties (Continued)

(B) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following
conditions applies: (Continued)

v.  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity
related to the Group. If the Group is itself such a plan,
the sponsoring employers are also related to the Group.

vi.  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (A).

vii. A person identified in (A)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

viii. The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
Company or to a parent of the Company.

Fiduciary activities

The Group maintains segregated accounts with authorised
institutions to hold clients’ monies arising from its normal course of
the regulated business activities. The Group has classified the bank
balances—trust and segregated accounts within the current assets
in the consolidated statement of financial position and recognised
the corresponding account payables to respective clients and
other institutions on the grounds that it is liable for any loss or
misappropriation of clients’ monies. The Group is not allowed to
use the clients’ monies to settle its own obligations. The cash held
on behalf of customers is restricted and governed by the Securities
and Futures (Client Money) Rules under the Securities and Futures
Ordinance.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates of
exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions. At the end
of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that date. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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38

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items,
and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised in
profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for exchange
differences arising on a monetary item that forms part of the
Company’s net investment in a foreign operation, in which case,
such exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in equity and will be reclassified from
equity to profit or loss on disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group's foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are translated
at the average exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences
arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of translation reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (i.e. a disposal of the
Group’s entire interest in a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a foreign
operation, a disposal involving loss of joint control over a joint
arrangement that includes a foreign operation, or a disposal
involving loss of significant influence over an associate that
includes a foreign operation), all of the exchange differences
accumulated in equity in respect of that operation attributable
to the owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.
In addition, in relation to a partial disposal of a subsidiary that
does not result in the Group losing control over the subsidiary,
the proportionate share of accumulated exchange differences are
reattributed to non-controlling interests and are not recognised in
profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (i.e. partial disposals of
associates or joint arrangements that do not result in the Group
losing significant influence or joint control), the proportionate
share of the accumulated exchange differences is reclassified to
profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching
to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic
basis over the periods in which the Group recognises as expenses
the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Retirement benefits scheme

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans, the
Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF”) Scheme, Central Provident
Fund (“CPF"”) Scheme and state-managed retirement benefit
schemes are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in
respect of wages and salaries, annual leaves and sick leave in the
period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount
of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service.

Liabilities recognised in respect of short-term employee benefits are
measured at the undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to
be paid in exchange for the related service.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable
and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period.
Taxable profit differs from (loss) profit before tax as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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38

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
difference to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will
be available against which those deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or from
the initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of
other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the
taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that there will be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise
the benefits of the temporary differences and they are expected to
reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that
are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is settled
or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws) that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the
Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or
settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Plant and equipment

Plant and equipment (classified as finance leases) held for use in
the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative
purpose are stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of items of
plant and equipment less their residual values over their estimated
useful lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal
or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as
the difference between the sale proceeds and the carrying amount
of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Lease
The Group as lessee

Leases are recognised as right-of-use assets and corresponding
lease liabilities when the leased assets are available for use by the
Group. Right-of-use assets are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation of right-of-use
assets is calculated at rates to write off their cost over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis.
The principal useful lives are as follows:
Land and buildings 2-3 years
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the amount
of the initial measurement of the lease liabilities, lease payments
prepaid, initial direct costs and the restoration costs. Lease
liabilities include the net present value of the lease payments
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease if that
rate can be determined, or otherwise the Group's incremental
borrowing rate. Each lease payment is allocated between the
liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or
loss over the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate
of interest on the remaining balance of the lease liability.
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38

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Lease (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)

Payments associated with short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as expenses in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms. Short-term leases are leases with an
initial lease term of 12 months or less. Low-value assets are assets
of value below US$5,000.

The Group as lessor

(i)  Operating leases
Leases that do not substantially transfer to the lessees all
the risks and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted
for as operating leases. Rental income from operating leases
is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease.

(if)  Finance leases

Leases that substantially transfer to the lessees all the risks
and rewards of ownership of assets are accounted for as
finance leases. Amounts due from lessees under finance
leases are recognised as receivables at the amount of the
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income
is allocated to accounting periods so as to reflect a constant
periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment in the
leases.

Investment properties

Investment properties are land and/or buildings held to earn rentals
and/or for capital appreciation. An investment property is measured
initially at its cost including all direct costs attributable to the

property.

After initial recognition, the investment property is stated at its
fair value based on valuation by an external independent valuer.
Gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of the investment
property are recognised in profit or loss for the period in which
they arise.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount
of the property, and is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible asset
Intangible asset acquired separately

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life that is acquired
separately is carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated
impairment losses.

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no
future economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gains
or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset are
measured at the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset and are recognised in profit or
loss in the period when the asset is derecognised.

Regulatory deposits

Regulatory deposits are stated at cost less subsequent accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial
position of the Company at cost less accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to
receive cash flows from the assets expire; the Group transfers
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the assets;
or the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the assets but has not retained
control on the assets. On derecognition of a financial asset, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the
consideration received is recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified
in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability
derecognised and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or
loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial assets

Financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis where the purchase or sale of an asset is under a contract
whose terms require delivery of the asset within the timeframe
established by the market concerned, and are initially recognised at
fair value, plus directly attributable transaction costs except in the
case of investments at fair value through profit or loss. Transaction
costs directly attributable to the acquisition of investments at fair
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or
loss.

Financial assets of the Group are classified under the following
categories:

- Financial assets at amortised cost;

—  Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income; and

—  Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

(i) Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets (including trade and other receivables) are
classified under this category if they satisfy both of the
following conditions:

- the assets are held within a business model whose
objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows; and

—  the contractual terms of the assets give rise on specified
dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

They are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method less loss allowance for expected
credit losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

3. FEEHHE ®

ETMEE ®
(i) BRAFEAABRMZE K Z

Financial assets (Continued)

(ii) Financial assets at fair value through other

comprehensive income

On initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable
election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate
investments in equity instruments that are not held for
trading as at fair value through other comprehensive income.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income are subsequently measured at fair value with gains
and losses arising from changes in fair values recognised
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
investment revaluation reserve. On derecognition of an
investment, the cumulative gains or losses previously
accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve are not
reclassified to profit or loss.

Dividends on these investments are recognised in profit or
loss, unless the dividends clearly represent a recovery of part
of the cost of the investment.

(iii) Financial assets at fair value through profit or

loss

Financial assets are classified under this category if they do
not meet the conditions to be measured at amortised cost
and the conditions of debt investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income unless the Group designates an
equity investment that is not held for trading as at fair value
through other comprehensive income on initial recognition.

Investments at fair value through profit or loss are
subsequently measured at fair value with any gains or losses
arising from changes in fair values recognised in profit or
loss. The fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or loss
are net of any interest income and dividend income. Interest
income and dividend income are recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Loss allowances for expected credit losses

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses on
financial assets at amortised cost, contract assets and finance lease
receivables. Expected credit losses are the weighted average of
credit losses with the respective risks of a default occurring as the
weights.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group measures the loss
allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to the
expected credit losses that result from all possible default events
over the expected life of that financial instrument (“lifetime
expected credit losses”) for trade receivables and contract assets,
or if the credit risk on that financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

If, at the end of the reporting period, the credit risk on a financial
instrument (other than trade receivables and contract assets) has
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group
measures the loss allowance for that financial instrument at an
amount equal to the portion of lifetime expected credit losses that
represents the expected credit losses that result from default events
on that financial instrument that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting period.

The amount of expected credit losses or reversal to adjust the
loss allowance at the end of the reporting period to the required
amount is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or
loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the consolidated statement of
financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-
term deposits with an original maturity of three months or less.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash
and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits as
defined above.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified according
to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into
and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument
under HKFRSs. An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of
its liabilities. The accounting policies adopted for specific financial
liabilities and equity instruments are set out below.

Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction
costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at
least 12 months after the reporting period.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value
and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

Share options granted to employees

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the
fair value of share options granted at the grant date is recognised
as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in equity
(share options reserve).

3.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Share-based payment transactions (Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
(Continued)

Share options granted to employees (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates
of the number of options that are expected to ultimately vest.
The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the
vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that
the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a
corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to share
premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting
date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
accumulated losses.

Share options granted to consultants

Share options issued in exchange for goods or services are
measured at the fair values of the goods or services received,
unless that fair value cannot be reliably measured, in which case
the goods or services received are measured by reference to the fair
value of the share options granted. The fair values of the goods or
services received are recognised as expenses, with a corresponding
increase in equity (share options reserve), when the Group obtains
the goods or when the counterparties render services, unless the
goods or services qualify for recognition as assets.

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine
the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating
unit to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable and consistent
basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating unit, or otherwise they are
allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating units for which
a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible
assets (other than impairment of goodwill set
out in accounting policy of goodwill above)
(Continued)

Intangible asset with indefinite useful life is tested for impairment
at least annually, and whenever there is an indication that it may
be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal
and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future
cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or the cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount
that would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or the cash-generating unit) in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income
immediately.

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value, except for the Group's share-based
payment transactions, leasing transactions, value in use of
property, plant and equipment and intangible asset for the purpose
of impairment assessment, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would
take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset or
liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Fair value measurement(Continued)

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs. Specifically,
the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three
levels, based on the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level T — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 — Valuation technique for which the lowest level input that
is significant to the fair value measurement is directly or
indirectly observable.

Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is
unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether
transfer occur between levels of the fair value hierarchy for assets
and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis
by reviewing their respective fair value measurement.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or
amount when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that
an outflow of economic benefits will be required to settle the
obligation and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time
value of money is material, provisions are stated at the present
value of the expenditures expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow is remote. Possible obligations, whose
existence will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events are also disclosed as
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow is remote.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Events after the reporting period

Events after the reporting period that provide additional
information about the Group’s position at the end of the reporting
period or those that indicate the going concern assumption is
not appropriate are adjusting events and are reflected in the
consolidated financial statements. Events after the reporting period
that are not adjusting events are disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements when material.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the Directors are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the amounts of assets, liabilities,
revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in the
consolidated financial statements. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors
that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from
these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an on-
going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of resulting in a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year.

Fair value of investment properties

The Group appointed an independent professional valuer to assess
the fair values of the investment properties. In determining the fair
values, the valuer has utilised a method of valuation which involves
certain estimates. The Directors have exercised their judgements
and are satisfied that the method of valuation is reflective of the
current market conditions.

3.
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4.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables,
other loans and interest receivables and
contract assets

The policy for impairment of trade receivables, finance lease
receivables, loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest
receivables and contract assets of the Group are based on the
evaluation of collectability and aging analysis of accounts and on
management’s judgment. A considerable amount of judgment is
required in assessing the ultimate realisation of these receivables,
including the current creditworthiness and the past collection
history of each customer. If the financial conditions of customers
of the Group were to deteriorate, resulting in an impairment
of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may
be required. At 31 March 2023, the carrying amounts of
trade receivables, finance lease receivables, loans and interest
receivables, other loans and interest receivables and contract assets
were approximately HK$119,855,000 (2022: HK$265,365,000),
HK$4,546,000 (2022: HK$4,914,000), HK$342,073,000 (2022:
HK$399,230,000), HK$24,564,000 (2022: HK$9,252,000) and
HK$303,604,000 (2022: HK$370,760,000) respectively, and net
of allowance for impairment of approximately HK$199,947,000
(2022: HK$2,019,000), HK$43,351,000 (2022: HK$46,855,000),
HK$126,069,000 (2022: HK$66,453,000), HK$Nil (2022: HK$NiIl)
and HK$9,354,000 (2022: HK$Nil) respectively.

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the value in use or the fair value loss cost of disposal of the
cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated. The
value in use calculation requires the Group to estimate the future
cash flows expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.
Where the actual future cash flows are less than expected, a
material impairment loss may arise. The calculation of fair value
less cost of disposal under market approach mainly replies on
a sufficient number of comparable transactions. The sufficiency
of comparable transactions is limited by market information
and observability of transactions with similar natures. Actual
transactions involving the subject business might be concluded
at a higher or lower value depending on circumstances of the
transactions. As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of
goodwill is HK$255,626,000 (2022: HK$273,707,000), net
of accumulated impairment loss of HK$78,801,000 (2022:
HK$66,604,000). Details of the recoverable amount calculation are
disclosed in note 21.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Provision for current and deferred taxation

The Group is subject to taxation in various jurisdictions. Significant
judgment is required in determining the provision for taxation
and the timing of payment of the related taxation. There are
many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax in the period in which such
determination is made.

At 31 March 2023, the Group has estimated unutilised tax losses
of approximately HK$662,353,000 (2022: HK$539,676,000)
available for offset against future profits. The Directors make
estimates on the future profit streams of the Group entities of
which tax losses are not utilised. No deferred tax asset has been
recognised of the remaining tax losses due to the unpredictability
of future profit streams for the years ended 31 March 2023 and
2022 (note 36).

Depreciation and useful lives of property, plant
and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over their estimated useful lives, after taking into account the
estimated residual value. The Group assesses annually the residual
value and the useful life of the property, plant and equipment
with reference to the estimated periods that the Group intends
to derive future economic benefits from the use of these assets
and if the expectation differs from the carrying amount, such
differences from the carrying amount will impact the depreciation
charges in the year in which the estimates change. At 31 March
2023, the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment was
approximately HK$295,437,000 (2022: HK$286,958,000), net of
accumulated depreciation and impairment loss of approximately
HK$44,071,000 (2022: HK$34,610,000).
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5. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 5.

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of cash and cash
equivalents and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure on a regular basis.
As part of this review, the Directors consider the cost of capital
and the risks associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance its
overall capital structure through new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt.

BEXEEEE

A E 2 E AL R A E R A
0 A FREB B L ESRRE
5 2 AR 5 A5 A B9 o s S L B
SR K MR o

FEREARBEERERREEER
BUKRAABEAE ANELEDR (BEE
BITRERA;ER) ©

EFEHMRHBERRB AR Z—
R EFEEETHEAKREEZERALRM
BMzRAR - REEFZHBER T&
ERBBETHRO RBETHES TS
HEREARE-

6. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 6. EMTAH
Categories of financial instruments ERTEZEER
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAT TET
Financial assets ERMEE
Financial assets at fair value through BAFEFABRZ
profit or loss — mandatorily measured TREE BT E = 29,633
Financial assets at fair value through other R AFEFFAEMEE
comprehensive income WaHz EMEE 8,780 8,640
Financial assets at amortised cost (including IR AT ECEHEE
cash and cash equivalents) (BEREEREESEIEE) 767,816 1,074,103
776,596 1,112,376
Financial liabilities ERaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEHENAGTECEMAE 949,783 1,018,451
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s major financial instruments include regulatory
deposits, trade and other receivables, finance lease receivables,
loans and interest receivables, other loans and interest receivables,
promissory note receivable, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, amounts due from a joint venture, bank
balances and cash, trade and other payables, trust loans, short
term loans, long-term loan, bank loans and amount due to a
joint venture. Details of the financial instruments are disclosed
in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk
and other price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on
how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate
measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk
(i) Currency risk

Other than the subsidiaries established in the PRC and
Singapore of which functional currency is Renminbi (“RMB")
and Singapore dollars (“SGD") respectively, the functional
currency of the Company and other subsidiaries is HK$.
Certain bank balances and cash are denominated in
currencies other than the functional currencies of the group
entities to which they relate. Foreign currencies are also used
to settle expenses for overseas operations, which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency

7.

MEEREEBERBE
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BIRMIENRITEFRIRE  BARNR R
HtEOREEEER BHER K
HER RITERKEN—BSERH
ME-ARERMIAZHFBRENEAR
i ZESMIAERZ 2 AREE
%R (R @R REAME
BRER) S EERBKRRBE T AR
BRERABZHEREN T -EEEE
EEMERZEAR BERFRENR
WEITEEHE -

15 & %
() BEfmEE

BRBS R B R M NI B 3L = MY /B8 A B
ZHEEEDNB/ARE TAR
1) ReFinsg T (TR sTy) b
KTABREMNE AT 2N E
BRBT & TRITEGRRRERN
HAEEERINEEEUIIZEE
sHE - BINEE TR A INEEAS 1 B
SO MEARERAZINERER -

FEBLMIMESHEZEBEENR

denominated monetary assets at the reporting date are as EBZEEREAEWT
follows:
2023 2022
—T=F g

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET TET
RMB AR 786 850
United States dollars (“USD") E7 (Emx)) 6,132 6,869
British Pound (“GBP") wE (TE%E)) = 2
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy but the management monitors foreign exchange
exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.

No sensitivity analysis was prepared for USD as HK$ is pegged
to USD.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is currently exposed to RMB foreign currency risk.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 10%
(2022: 10%) increase and decrease in functional currencies
of the relevant group entities, HK$ or RMB, against the
relevant foreign currencies. 10% (2022: 10%) is the
sensitivity rate used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change
in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes
only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary
items and adjusts their translation at the end of the reporting
period for a 10% (2022: 10%) change in foreign currency
rates.

A negative number below indicates an increase in loss (2022:
increase in loss) for the period where the respective functional
currency (HK$ or RMB) strengthens 10% (2022: 10%) against
the relevant foreign currency (RMB or HK$). For a 10% (2022:
10%) weakening of respective functional currency (HK$ or
RMB) against the relevant foreign currency (RMB or HK$),
there would be an equal and opposite impact on the loss
(2022: loss) for the year and the balances below would be
positive.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7. BiEEMEIEEHEREBE
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#8)

FE%HI‘AA nﬁ
() ErEmE &
HREDHT (B)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Effect on profit or loss

HiEm 28
2023 2022
—EI=F -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Strengthen against RMB by 10% (note a) @ AR ¥F{E10% (fizEa) (79) (85)
Notes: BEE
(@)  This is mainly attributable to the exposure outstanding on RMB bank (@) WHEFEHRERARBIRITER
balances and cash at year end. KRIREREBZRK -

(ii) FJEmpE

FEBRZFRBRITHEBRARRER
FRE R - R EEZ R HIR
TRBFERFZIBNERITE UK
APENREAREERME -

(ii) Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances. It is the Group’s policy to keep
its bank balances at floating rate of interest so as to minimise
the fair value interest rate risk.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in FAEBTARBBRERKEFE (5
relation to loans and interest receivable (see note 32 for BERMEE32)  HEMmERE R KT
details), other loans and interest receivables (see note 33 for B GFERME33) Wié”& nﬁéﬁﬂ
details), finance lease receivables (see note 26 for details), B8 1A %M‘J‘DEZG) B
trust loans (see note 37 for details), short term loans (see GEIBRMIZE37) “IHHER (u¥ 15
note 38 for details) and bank loans (see note 39 for details). RMFE38) EZ%E?T%TTA (n¥ 15 B MIEE
39) MAZAFENZ R -

& H IR R % A A F = & i

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging

policy. However, the management monitors interest rate
exposure and will consider other necessary actions when
significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

KoM BEEESERNXER
WERARARRERNREARRZ
R EMPTETE) -
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Market risk (Continued)
(ii) Interest rate risk (Continued)

The Directors consider that the interest rate risk in relation
to variable rate bank balances is insignificant due to these
balances are either within short maturity period or the
outstanding balances are not significant.

(iii) Other price risk

As at 31 March 2023, the Group is exposed to other price risk
through its investment in unlisted equity securities. The Group
has appointed a special team to monitor the price risk and
will consider hedging the risk exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below have been determined based on
the exposure to other price risk at the end of the reporting
period.

If the value of the financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income had been 20% (2022: 20%) higher/
lower, the investment revaluation reserve for the year ended
31 March 2023 would increase/decrease by approximately
HK$1,756,000 (2022: HK$1,728,000) as a result of the
changes in fair value of these investments.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is not
representative of the other price risk for the investments in
listed equity securities as the year end exposure does not
reflects the exposure during the year.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s maximum exposure
to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group due to
a failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer. The default risk of the
industry in which customers operate also has an influence on credit
risk but to a lesser extent. The Directors consider the credit risk
under control since the management exercise due care in granting
credit and check the financial background of these customers on a
regular basis.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties
are banks with high credit ratings assigned by international credit-
rating agencies.

The Directors acknowledged that operational and financial status
of the Group's customers, especially those customers in the
property sector who are vulnerable to the related governmental
policies, are subject to a certain degree of volatility under the
prevailing political, fiscal and economic conditions from time to
time.

For loan and interest receivables, the Group has a high
concentration of credit risk on loans and interest receivables as
11% (2022: 13%) and 51% (2022: 58%) of the total loans and
interest receivables was due from the single largest customer
and the five largest customers in the money lending segment
respectively.
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

For finance lease receivables, the Group has a high concentration
of credit risk on finance lease receivables as 42% (2022: 100%)
and 100% (2022: 100%) of the total finance lease receivables was
due from the single largest customer and the five largest customers
in the finance leasing segment respectively.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations
are mainly in the PRC, which accounted for 99% (2022: 99%) of
the total trade receivables as at 31 March 2023. The Group has
concentration of credit risk as 48% (2022: 38%) and 80% (2022:
88%) of the total trade receivables were due from the Group’s
largest customer and the five largest customers respectively.

In order to minimise the credit risk, especially on the money
lending business and finance leasing business, the Group has
adopted and followed a series of internal control procedures to
ensure a comprehensive risk management, so as to safeguard the
interests of the Company and its shareholders. The key internal
controls adopted by the Group in terms of credit risk assessment,
credit approval and ongoing monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection are outlined below:

(1) Credit risk assessment by the business team

After receiving the potential customer’s application, the
business team will, in compliance with the requirements
under applicable laws and regulations in Hong Kong and the
PRC, perform know-your-client (the “KYC") process, conduct
background and credit checks on the applicant and guarantor
(if any) and their respective assets and financial conditions,
conduct interviews with the applicant and perform due
diligence on the intended lease assets (in the case of finance
lease).
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AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

(2) Formulation of the preliminary business
proposal by the business team

Based on the results of the credit risk assessment, the
business team will formulate the key terms of the loan or the
finance lease, including the principal amount, the interest rate
and the tenure, and issue a preliminary business proposal,
taking into consideration factors including:

(h)

whether there are any personal or corporate guarantees;
whether there is any security;

whether there is any connected person relationship as
ascribed under the Listing Rules;

the background, income stream, and personal financial
position of individual clients;

the financial status, business performance, reputation in
industry, business plan and shareholder’s background of

the corporate customers;

the cost of providing such financial assistance services (if
any);

the risk factors; and

the proposed use of proceeds by borrowers.

The interest rate determined should reflect the risk level
for the transaction and should be in compliance with the
requirements under applicable laws.
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7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7. HAFERGEEEHERKE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (#&)

Credit risk (Continued) EERME @

(3) Assessing by the risk control and compliance (3) BfEIEFIR S AHREEITIL
department
After receiving the relevant application materials and the REBERRRZEG R EREBIZEERS
preliminary business proposal from the business team, the E XV AERE R A A L R #0 2 FS 5T
risk control and compliance department of the Group will S BBIEREERERER
independently review the entire application including the BIEKYC - BHHAEREERRT
KYC, due diligence and credit risk assessment materials and MR X5 R AEE — 2T
further evaluate the terms of the transaction, and formulate EOERBIRR R g

its independent opinions and/or suggestions.

(4) Credit approval 1) EEE#H
For the business cases which have passed the credit Bl M EETHREFNERER
assessment procedures as outlined above, they will then REERAANFAHITEZEGRESH
be passed to the executive committee or the Board or the WA RIFRME) RIR MR
shareholders of the Company (as the case may be) for EBETRERBDLLMER ZRIZE
approval in accordance with the transaction size indicated TER ARBENABMERTE
by applicable percentage ratios under the Listing Rules. SERGNARARUHEEEED
The company secretary of the Company will calculate the kEZ2 BEMNES LHWRIEGEHE
size tests for each transaction for Directors’ review and Mk REMESRE B ERFO 4
consideration in order to comply with the Listing Rules SN A BBV 12 B R 5 B #5 R R o

including the notification and shareholder’s approval
requirements, and where necessary, consult with the
Company's legal adviser or financial adviser.

(5) On going monitoring of loan recoverability and (5) FFBEZEF ALK MERE

loan collection XY E]

(@) In respect of money lending clients, the Group will (a) BEEPLPHFE A~EBRBEA
issue a monthly statement setting out the outstanding BB HIERERBMR
payables and the due dates, which will be sent to the ERIEE HEFERE
relevant customer as well as for the business team to P B > LUE T E X
follow up in due course. In respect of finance lease ANREE - MEMEMERFA A
clients, the Group will visit the business premises of the H AERRETEEFER
customers quarterly, communicate with the person-in- NEEEM BaFEANERR
charge regarding the business operations and financial FHEBEERMBARR L
conditions of the customers and issue payment notices M2 P AT B o

to the customers.
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AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

(5) On going monitoring of loan recoverability and
loan collection (Continued)

(b)

The business team will communicate with the customers
on a regular basis to understand the customers’ latest
situation. For finance lease customers, the business team
will perform checks on the use of proceeds within one
month of drawdown, and subsequently will perform
checks on the business operations of the customers on a
quarterly basis.

Customers will be required to submit supporting
documents (such as financial statements, bank or
securities account statements and title certificates) on a
regular basis. For finance lease customers, the business
team will perform checks on the usage of the finance
lease assets and take photos of the conditions of the
finance lease assets during on-site inspection for cross-
checking by the risk control team. The Group will closely
monitor the situation of the customers by various means
and watch out for any adverse condition or red flag
which may give rise to a default in payment.

For customers who are in default, an overdue repayment
notice will be issued, and the customer’s office or
residential unit may be visited. The Group will analyse
the financial status of the overdue customers, and
discuss with the customers and make updates to the
repayment plan as appropriate with a view to gradually
recover the overdue payments. The status of the overdue
transactions will be reported to the management
and Directors of the Company on a regular basis. If
necessary, the Group may commence legal actions
against the customer after seeking legal advice.

(b)
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7.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group considers whether there has been a significant increase
in credit risk of financial assets on an ongoing basis throughout
each reporting period by comparing the risk of a default occurring
as at the reporting date with the risk of default as at the date
of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following
information is used:

— actual or expected significant adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected to cause
a significant change to the borrower’s ability to meet its
obligations;

— actual or expected significant changes in the operating results
of the borrower;

— significant increases in credit risk on other financial
instruments of the same borrower;

—  significant changes in the value of the collateral or in the
quality of guarantees or credit enhancements; and

—  significant changes in the expected performance and behavior
of the borrower, including changes in the payment status of
borrowers.

A significant increase in credit risk is presumed if a debtor is more
than 30 days past due in making a contractual payment, unless
the Group has supportable information which can demonstrate
otherwise. A default on a financial asset occurs when a debtor fails
to make contractual payments within 90 days when they fall due
and this debtor is unlikely to repay the amount due.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED)
Credit risk (Continued)

Financial assets are written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovery, such as a debtor failing to engage in a
repayment plan with the Group. The Group normally categorises a
receivable for write off when the Group determine that the debtor
does not have assets or source of income that could generate
sufficient cash flow to repay the amounts subject to write-off.
Where receivables have been written off, the Group, if practicable
and economical, continues to engage in enforcement activity to
attempt to recover the receivable due.

Save for specified in respective notes, the Group uses four
categories for loans and interest receivables, finance lease
receivables, other loans and interest receivables, deposits and
other receivables which reflect their credit risk and how the loss
provision is determined for each of the categories. In calculating
the expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss
rates based on the market benchmark or internal records for each
category and adjusts for forward looking data.
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AR B] £ RS0 IR & R E B SRR
BEAEE-REFABBURED
KR IFIEE - 119 RSB EMEY > BIA &
B (EFERIOTRTEEERZZER
™) MBI EGR ST e ELE Y 2 A R
R IE

BRREWEREEEN FEBREWE
MEME EUBMEBAERER HME
WEMRKRFE BT REMERRIED
AOERUD N RMREEERRE  &E
BEANAZEWERR D RIEE - E5t
ERAGEEGEXE  AERRETIS
BEERNS AL EHEBBETHE
o W ARRBUREITHE -

Category Definition Loss provision
Rl BE B iREE
Performing The counterparty has a low risk of default 12 month expected credit losses
("ECL")
R HFEHENRRME 1218 B FEERE ER518
(IFREAE & R518))
Doubtful There has been a significant increase in Lifetime ECL — not credit-impaired
credit risk since initial recognition
TR EE R B 8 AR AR IE AN SHTREEERE-— —BEERE
In default There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL — credit-impaired
credit-impaired
EHN BEREBERTEECHREGERE S HTREEERE - —EERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor ~ Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the
Group has no realistic prospect of recovery.
24 BRBERTEBALRBREV AL > MALE M

E B MR A B mIER TR -

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R

135



136

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

7. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.

MEEREEBERBER

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE @
Other
loans
Loans and Finance and Deposits
interest lease interest and other
receivables receivables receivables receivables Total
ERERK FEWRIE HithELg BERHM
FE HEMRE BRRAE e FRIE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FTERT TERT TET FTET
2023 ZEICHE
Carrying amount IREE 468,142 47,897 24,564 222,572 763,175
Loss allowance EEEE (126,069) (43,351) - = (169,420)
Carrying amount (net)  BEE1E (%) 342,073 4,546 24,564 222,572 593,755
Other
loans Amounts
Loans and Finance  Promissory and Deposits due from
interest lease note interest and other a joint
receivables receivables receivable receivables receivables venture Total
L —
EWET R G Uk HinfEw  mekEM Ei=VNGl
FIE HEFE AREE EBIRKAE FEWFRIE A st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET AT TET AT AT AT TAET
2022 “BICHE
Carrying amount REE 465,683 51,769 90,000 9,252 253,216 2,222 872,142
Loss allowance BIREE (66,453) (46,855) S S = = (113,308)
Carrying amount (net)  BREE (328 399,230 4,914 90,000 9,252 253,216 2,222 758,834
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 7.

A MBRRME

MEEREEBERBE

AND POLICIES (CONTINUED) (&)
Credit risk (Continued) EERE @
Amounts
Loans and Finance  Promissory Other loans Deposits due from
interest lease note and interest  and other a joint
receivables receivables  receivable receivables receivables venture Total
s —
Expected credit EWERR e R E FEUk HitfEW REREM BENT
loss rate EHEERER FE HEME AREE ERRIE FEBFRIE A st
2023 —E°=F 27% 91%  NAFREH - - NATREH 22%
2022 BT CF 14% 91% - - - - 13%

All of these receivables after loss allowance are considered to
have low risk and under the ‘Performing’ category because they
have a low risk of default and have strong ability to meet their
obligations.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and
maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed adequate
by the management to finance the Group's operations and
mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of its bank balances and cash and considers
the risk is minimal.

Except for a long term loan of HK$343,000 of which the maturity
is beyond one year, the maturity dates of all financial liabilities are
repayable on demand or within one year as at the end of each of
the reporting periods.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the
consolidated financial statements approximate their fair values due
to short-term or immediate maturities.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments
that are measured at fair value at the end of each reporting period
for recurring measurement, grouped into Levels 1, Levels 2 or
Levels 3 based on the degree to which the fair value is observable
or unobservable in accordance with the Group's accounting policy.

PRAEZFEIGRIE (RIDRBIERER) 13
WERERREB R85 T5ER
HEMRBRERERRENR

MENE £ AR

HEERDESRB FAEEREZTH
RRrREAFEEEEEE  BUHE
ERRAEREERHMESRARRE
MK B BEEGEHRITHER
RREZEARN LR RERMARE
&Ko

PR EHIE 343,000 VB H BB
—FSREBRERR - FFETRER
HEARERFN —FREER-

ATE B
EERR ARERUARB R
R SMEE RS M A RTHH
A E R ARG M B IRER ZREER
HAFEHES-

TREHZEEMEERZREHR
UrrEstEazEMIEDR BE
AEEGSHHRREAFETRREN
THEEREDERFE B BB
HE=fE-

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R

137



138

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2023:

8. AFEHE®W
ACBC=F=A=+-H2AFHE
B2 ERINE

Fair value measurements using

ERAUTHARBZATENE

Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
£ BIE ! F=E: Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET THET FET
Recurring fair value measurements: & EMHATEE ©
Financial assets at fair value through 1ZAF{Ezt AEM 2 E WG
other comprehensive income ZEMEE
— Unlisted equity security N - 8,780 - 8,780
Investment properties REME - - 121,433 121,433
Total recurring fair value KENATETELE
measurements - 8,780 121,433 130,213

Disclosures of level in fair value hierarchy at 31 March 2022:

f:v__i B=+—BZA¥E
Bz EBHRIFE

Fair value measurements using

ERNTHARBZ ATEFE

Level 1: Level 2: Level 3: Total
£ £ = et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THET FHET
Recurring fair value measurements: & EEAFEE !
Financial assets at fair value BRATEFABGRZ SMEE
through profit or loss
- Contingent consideration — R HARE
receivable - - 29,633 29,633
Financial assets at fair value through ¥ AFEStAEMEME
other comprehensive income Wamz eHEE
— Unlisted equity security —JEEmRARS - 8,640 = 8,640
Investment properties REME - = 129,026 129,026
Total recurring fair value RENATETERE
measurements = 8,640 158,659 167,299
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

Disclosure of valuation techniques and inputs used in fair value

measurements:

Level 2 fair value measurements

8.

AEE=E @

AFEFEZEERMNTRBAREZ

mWEE -

B_EAFEFE

Description Valuation technique Inputs 2023 2022
18 R {ER M A 8% == S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets at Comparable Share price and 8,780 8,640
fair value through other Transaction Method marketability
comprehensive income discount
— Unlisted equity security
BATESAEMEE IS Z DS B R mS R
WmzeMmEE #r:e
—IF LR AT 5
Level 3 fair value measurements BZEATEFE
Effect on fair
value for
Unobservable increase of
Description Valuation technique  inputs Range input 2023 2022
BARE
EMHATE
HE ERA AR BERRAYE #E ZRE ZEIZH TBITE
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET TERT
Contingent Discounted payoff Discounted rate 13% Decrease N/A 29,633
consideration with scenario
receivable
R HARE RAREIR IR BIRE 13% B TEH
Investment Income capitalisation (i) Monthly rental RMB165/m? (i) Increase 121,433 129,026
properties (ii) Rental yield 6% (ii) Decrease
REME B AL () BiR& AR¥1655T,/ () 3210
AR
(ii) A E U = 6% (ii) D

There were no transfers between levels of fair value hierarchy in
the current and prior years.

REFERBEFE > EAFERBR

Z B EmETER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

8. AFEFE®
hEE=BATEHB EHBNERN

8. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS (CONTINUED)

The movements during the year in the balance of these level 3 fair

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

value measurements are as follow: EEUT
2023 2022
—F-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through BATFEFAEGZESHEE
profit or loss
At beginning of year REH 29,633 10,679
Add: Settlement of contingent consideration fill : ZEEWEHNB AT EEZ
receivable arising from acquisition of e S AARME
subsidiaries (34,271) -
Realised/unrealised gain on fair value change AV {E&S) 2 B8R~
RER W S 6,837 18,521
Exchange differences BE R =48 (2,199) 433
At end of year R - 29,633
Change in unrealised gain REEMRMFTEESTA
for the year included in BmFERERE
profit or loss for assets held at IR U 2 B
the end of the reporting period - 18,521
Investment properties KEM=
At beginning of year TEER]) 129,026 117,582
Fair value gains NFEW S 2,051 6,572
Exchange differences P =RE (9,644) 4,872
At end of year X 121,433 129,026
Change in fair value gains included REREMRMMFEESTA
in profit or loss for assets held BRWATEKGDES
at the end of the reporting period 2,051 6,572




TURNOVER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

An analysis of the Group’s turnover for the year is as follows:

9. BXEE
ENAEEEEIES DTN

2023 2022
—¥-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Trading of goods BEMM 111,478 345,620
Provision of international air and sea REEEMZERE FEERK
freight forwarding services 1,816 1,242
Consultancy income from finance leases RMEREREBRRA 537 2,296
Interest income from money lending BEF BWA 7,902 23,763
Brokerage commission and consultancy BEMIAERLEBRE A A
income from securities and (GRS ON
future brokerage related services 293 364
Brokerage commission and consultancy MER LR L LT~
income from property brokerage service BRI 814 =
Heating and cooling supply by R AE (R B %
geothermal energy 18,718 18,410
Construction contracting services fee income IR K G IRFEE A 230,100 329,451
Interior design service income EANFRBUA 6,482 10,024
Project management service income EHEEERBUWA 31,371 44,758
Heating supply and industrial steam income  fHBE & T2 ZE SR A 60,406 64,629
Rental income & WA 6,624 7,075
Data analytical service income R D ITARFEURA 28,124 10,825
504,665 858,457
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

10. REVENUE 10. W&
2023 2022
—E_= BT &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Revenue from contracts with BEEaHRE (M)
customers (Note) 490,139 827,619
Revenue from other sources: FBEMKIFE 2 W -
Interest income from money lending BEF2UWA 7,902 23,763
Rental income from investment properties KREMEZHSWRA 6,624 7,075
504,665 858,457
Timing of recognition of revenue from BER MRS
contracts with customers:
At a point in time RE—RrREE 113,295 346,863
Over time W5 55 e 7% 376,844 480,756
490,139 827,619
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Note:

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

FZR=A—HILFE

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers:

Year ended 31 March 2023

For the year ended 31 March 20238 — & — =

10. &= @

MIsE -

=R AW

ZHD

BE_T-=F=HA=+—HL=EE

Heating
International and cooling
Securities airand supply of Building  Customised
Trading Finance  and futures  sea freight Property  geothermal  construction technical Project  Centralised
of goods leasing  brokerage  forwarding brokerage energy  contracting support  management heating Total
#5k  ERAER ik BFEE B
BEBR RERE Haas BLEE nEEs HERS &8 24 FREE Enits @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FiEn FEn TR TR FEn TiEn TR TR TR FEr TR
Geographic Markets HEHR
Hong Kong & - - 293 - - - - - - - 293
PRC HE 11,478 537 = = 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 313N 60,406 438,030
Singapore g - - - 1,816 - - - - - - 1,816
111,478 537 293 1,816 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 31,371 60,406 490,139
Major Products/Services IEER/BE
Trading of electronic products EEETER 11,478 - - - - - - - - - 11,478
Finandial services SRE% - 537 293 - - - - - - - 830
International ai and sea ERHZRS L BERH
freight forwarding services - - - 1,816 - - - - - - 1816
Property brokerage and NERERBERER
consultancy services - - - - 814 - - - - - 814
Heating and cooling supply by HEAERERS
geothermal energy - - - - - 18,718 - - - - 18,718
Building construction BFREAE
contracting services - - - - - - 230,100 - - = 230,100
Interior design services ERRARE - - - = = = = 6,482 = s 6,482
Data analytical senvices HEDRE - - - - - - - 814 - - 814
Project management services BEEERE - - - - - - - - 3131 - 31371
Heating supply and industrial steam HRRIEES - - - - - - - - - 60,406 60,406
111,478 537 293 1,816 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 31,371 60,406 490,139
Timing of recognition of revenue  F R AKKEHREDRE
from contracts with customers
At a point in time RE-EEY 111,478 - 1 1816 - - - - - - 113,295
Over time it - 531 29 - 814 18718 230,100 34,606 3131 60,406 376,844
111,478 537 293 1,816 814 18,718 230,100 34,606 3131 60,406 490,139

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R

143



144

Note: (Continued)

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Year ended 31 March 2022

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
FAMBEIRRMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

10. Y z= @

MiEE © ()

HEZZ-F=-RB=1+—HIFE

Heating
International  and cooling Property
Securities air and supply of Building  Customised ~ development
Trading Finance  and futures  seafreight  geothermal  construction technical ~ and project  Centralised
of goods leasing  brokerage  forwarding energy  contracting support  management heating Total
25k ERAZR HEE  BFRE BERN  WEEER
EEBR REHE  HEEL BLE HERSL ) %H  BEEE  Edf# 5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEn TiEn TiEn TEn T TER TER TER TR TiEn
Geographic Markets WEHR
Hong Kong &E - - 364 - - - - - - 364
PRC E 345,620 2,29 S S 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 826,013
Singapore g - - - 1,221 - - - - 5 1.2
North and South of America b EES] - - - 2 - - - - - 21
345,620 2,29 364 1,242 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 827,619
Major Products/Services ZER/B%
Trading of electronic products BEETER 345,620 - - - - - - - 5 345,620
Financial services SRR - 2,29 364 - - - - - - 2,660
International air and sea EBRRERE L EERE
freight forwarding services = = 0 1242 = = - - - 1,282
Heating and cooling supply by HAERERS
geothermal energy - - - - 18,410 - - - - 18,410
Building construction BRREEAE
contracting services - - - - - 329,451 - - S 329,451
Iterior design services ERRRE - - - = S S 10,024 = = 10,024
Data analytical services BB DITRE - - - - - - 10,825 - - 10,825
Project management services EEEERY - - - - - - - 44,758 - 44,758
Heating supply and industrial steam HERIERN - - - - - - - - 64,629 64,629
345,620 2,29 364 1,242 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 827,619
Timing of recognition of revenue BRAHNNEREDRR
from contracts with customers
Ata point in time PE-BEL 345,620 - 1 1,242 - - - - - 346863
Over time REEES - 229% 363 - 18410 329451 20,849 44,758 64629 480,756
345,620 2,29 364 1,242 18,410 329,451 20,849 44,758 64,629 827,619
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Trading of goods

Revenue from the trading of goods is recognised when the goods
are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all the following
conditions are satisfied:

the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks
and rewards of ownership of the goods;

—  the Group retains neither continuing managerial involvement
to the degree usually associated with ownership nor effective
control over the goods sold;

- the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

— it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
transaction will flow to the Group; and

—  the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the
transaction can be measured reliably.

Sales to customers are normally made with credit terms of 90 days.

Finance leasing

Consultancy income from finance leasing is recognised in the
accounting period in which the services are rendered. The
customers pay the consultancy service fee to the Group according
to the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts.

Securities and futures brokerage

Commission income on dealing in securities and futures contract is
recognised on a trade date basis when the services are rendered,
the amount for which can be reliably estimated and it is probable
that the income will be received. The commission income is due on
the settlement date of their respective trade dates, normally two or
three business days after the respective trade date.

Consultancy income from securities and future brokerage related
services is recognised in the accounting period in which the
services are rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service
fee to the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated
in the contracts.

International air and sea freight forwarding

Income from provision of freight forwarding services is recognised
when the services are provided. The Group normally allow credit
period of 90 days.

10. Y z= @

BEERm
BEERRERERRG RIS S
BEER ERTUREEREEN:

- FEERBEREAREZIEZRAR
RERERTFET ;

- FERUTRFRBHMEBRZE
BEESHE (—REREESR
BERZRER) TERBBERE
k2

— WEESTEEDEMEE

— HEXSEMZEEN DA R
ALER; &

- MZEXRZELAREELEZM
REEF]EEMIGHE o

6% F 845 — IRIZOOK 5 T HATE L o
MERE
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7R R R A A 5 B S Y R R AR 75
o

a3 R R AR 4T

BEMBEEATRZZAERA
RERHRF RS B EEER
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

Property brokerage

Commission income on dealing in property agency contract is
recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for which
can be reliably estimated and it is probable that the income will be
received. The customers pay the commission income to the Group
upon the sales of property is completed.

Consultancy income from property brokerage related services is
recognised in the accounting period in which the services are
rendered. The customers pay the consultancy service fee to the
Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Heating and cooling supply by geothermal
energy

Income from heating and cooling supply by geothermal energy
is recognised when the services are rendered. The customers
pay the fee according to the heating and cooling supply actually
consumed.

Building construction contracting

The Group provides construction contracting services to the
customers. When the progress towards complete satisfaction of
the performance obligations of a construction contract can be
measured reasonably, revenue from the contract and the contract
costs are recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the percentage of contract costs incurred
to date to the estimated total contract costs for the contract. This
method provides the most reliable estimate of the percentage of
completion.

When the progress towards complete satisfaction of the
performance obligations of a construction contract cannot be
measured reasonably, revenue is recognised only to the extent of
contract costs incurred that is expected to be recoverable.

The customers pay the contract prices to the Group according to
the payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts. If the service
rendered by the Group exceeds the payments, a contract asset is
recognised. If the payments exceed the service rendered, a contract
liability is recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

10. REVENUE (CONTINUED)

11.

Customised technical support

The Group provides customised technical support services which
include building architecture and interior design services and
data analytical services to the customer. Building architecture and
interior design services income and data analytical services income
are recognised when the services are rendered, the amount for
which can be reliably estimated and they are probable that the
income will be received. The customers pay the services income to
the Group according to the payment schedules as stipulated in the
contracts.

Project management

Revenue from the Group's project management business derived
from entrusted construction agreements and management
services. Project management service income is recognised when
the services are rendered, the amount for which can be reliably
estimated and it is probable that the income will be received. The
customers pay the service income to the Group according to the
payment schedules as stipulated in the contracts.

Centralised heating

Heating supply and industrial steam income is recognised when the
services are rendered. The customers pay the fee according to the
heating and industrial steam actually consumed.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Directors, being the chief operating
decision maker, for the purpose of resource allocation and
assessment of segment performance focuses on the type of goods
sold or services delivered or provided. The Directors have chosen
to organise the Group around difference in products and services.
No operating segments identified by the chief operating decision
maker have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments
of the Group.

Specifically, the Group's reportable segments are as follows:

(a) Trading of goods segment engages in trading of products
including but not limited to electronic appliance in the PRC;

(b) Finance leasing segment engages in finance leasing of plant
and machinery as well as providing consultancy services with
respect of finance leasing in the PRC;

10. Y z= @

11.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% —

BB+ —HIFE

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

(o]

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

0]

(0

(k)

)

(m)

Money lending segment engages in money lending in Hong
Kong;

Securities and futures brokerage segment engages in
securities and futures dealing services as well as providing
consultancy services with respect of securities and futures
brokerage in Hong Kong;

International air and sea freight forwarding segment engages
in the provision of international air and sea freight forwarding
and logistic services to customers in Singapore;

Securities trading segment engages in trading of equity
securities and dividend income from held for trading
investments in Hong Kong;

Property investment segment engages in investments of
properties for rental income and capital appreciation in the
PRC;

Customised technical support segment engages in provision
of building architecture and interior design services and data
analytical services in the PRC;

Property brokerage segment engages in provision of property
agency and consultancy service in the PRC;

Project management segment engages in entrusted
construction and projects management services in the PRC;

Geothermal energy segment engages in provision of heating
and cooling supply by geothermal energy to buildings in the
PRC;

Building construction contracting segment engages in
provision of building construction contracting service on
project basis in the PRC; and

Centralised heating segment engages in the business of using
coal-fired boilers to provide centralised heating, including
industrial steam, through centralised pipe networks in the
PRC.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 %F —&FE — =F = =+—HIFFEZE

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED) MN.oHEH @
Segment revenues and results D ERUN S R B4R
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by T RRERZREREE DA
reportable and operating segments. Dz W R B Do
Year ended 31 March 2023 BE_T-_=F=HA=+—HLEE
International
Securities air and Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money andfutures  seafreight  Securities ~ Property  technical  Property Project  Geothermal construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage ~ forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating Total
#5k  ERRZR #3 BFRE

EEEG  BERA 8 HESE BSLEE  BHER  MERE RERE MBEE REEER Ak LS, it
HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0  HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKS000
TR TEm  TEn TR TEn  TEn TEn  TEn  fEmn  FEn TEr TEn TEn TER

Turnover E28 11478 537 7,902 293 1,816 - 6,624 34,606 814 3137 18,718 230,100 60,406 504,665
Revenue fiom SIBRNE
external customers 111478 537 7,902 293 1816 = 6,624 34,606 814 3131 18,718 230,100 60,406 504,665
Reportable seqment profitloss) FIHEHPER/ (B (192.208) (100) (55,380) (16,761) (310) = 134 13,307 (6,399) (26,987) (2,985) 14,821 (22,285) (287,959)
Share of los of associates  HERELTEE (482)
Gan on deregstration of s~ E-FIHERTZ
subsidiary i3 2769
Fair value loss on step AHREHERTZ
acquision of subsidaries  ATEHE (1,059)
Unallocated corporate income KRR AZHA 11,664
Undllocated corporate expenses  KARAERT (41,009)
Loss before tax BHAER (316,076)
—
Year ended 31 March 2022 E_E - F-A=+—HULEFE
International Property
Securities air and Customised development Buiding
Trading of Finance Money  andfutures  sea freight Securities Property technical Propetty  and project  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending ~ brokerage ~ forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating Total
25k EERZR R NE¥RR BFRE

EEER  RERA R HEEE BIHE  B5EE NERE Tk OMEEE BEEE B A EofE 3t
HKSO00  HKSOOD  HKSO00  HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSOO0  HKEOOD  HKSOOD  HKSO00 K000 HKSO00  HKSO0D  HKSO00  HKS000
TEn TR TEn TAr  TEL TEn e TR TR TEn TAn TR TEn TEL

Turnover 828 345,620 2% 23,763 364 1,02 = 7075 20849 = 44,758 18410 319,451 64,629 858,457
Revenue from SBRNE

external customers 345,620 2,0% 23,763 364 1,24 - 7,075 20849 - 44,7158 18,410 319,451 64,629 858,457
Reportable segment puofitlloss) FTRERPER/ (B8 (8652 (12.210) (3756 (19079 410) - 12,005 (124) (5724) (13099 (6918) 29735 (7680)  (36507)
Share of loss of associates HMEBEATER (406)
Share of loss of ajoint venture  HE-EABAREH (1,593)
(Gain on disposal of subsidiaries % EMEAT 2 i 80
Fair value gain on step AHRENERTZ

acquisition of subsidiaries ATENE 4198
Undllocated corporate income ~ RARAZMA 5,261
Unallocated corporate expenses  £HEA2HT (40,268)
Loss before tax BHAER (1,088)

—
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same
as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3. Segment
results represent the (loss from) profit earned by each segment
without allocation of central administration costs, Directors’
emoluments, depreciation of certain property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets, realised/unrealised gain on fair value
change on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
share of loss of associates, share of loss of a joint venture, gain
on disposal of subsidiaries, gain on deregistration of a subsidiary,
fair value (loss) gain on step acquisition of subsidiaries, net foreign
exchange gain (loss), loss on disposal of property, plant and
equipment, gain on lease modification, interest expense on certain
lease liabilities, short term loans and trust loans, interest expenses
on consideration payables, interest income from promissory note
receivable, interest income from other loan receivables, bank
interest income and sundry income. This is the measure reported
to the chief operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.

Segment assets and liabilities

M. DHEM @

DEWE R EE @

REDBZ G5t BUREM FEIFT A A
EBRZEHBRER - DB EERER
KD (BEEZ BB BILZEA
HURDEPARITHEE - EFH
B ETYWE BERREBURERE
BEZITE BRATESFARGZZS
MEEATEEZH2EEER KER
Wi DEBERBBE - MME—HE
BARBE HERBAR 2 W 5
H—RENEARZ W 0P Wi
BRBIZATEER) W ER W
(R PR -LEVE BERRE
ZEBEEBE -HEEgIIzREm &5 THER
B EHERRERERT SR B
HREFNERAX BREARREZR
BUWA -~ H B ERZF BWRA IR
THEBMARBEIRA LA EE
EEAREERFERDE KRR
EREtE-

PHWEERER

The following is an analysis of the Group's assets and liabilities by TXAREERBRRGDHAD2EE
reportable segments. VSa=R=bakiine
At 31 March 2023 RZEB_=%=ZRA=+—H
International
Securities air and Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money and futures  sea freight  Securities Property  technical Property Project ~ Geothermal ~construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage management energy  contracting heating Total
5k ERHZR BB ByRE &3t
EEBR  BEEE B8 BESE  BIEE  B5RE MERE R MEEE EEER EE RE B4R
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
TEn TEn TR TR TER T Tin TEn Tin TEn TEn TER Fin TEn
ASSETS i3
Segment assets (Note) HHEE
(H3h) 4,531 9,04 342,912 453 93 121,57 185,575 17,655 58,089 29431 578,206 154106 1,705912
Unallocated corporate assets i 4
gz 188,247
Consolidated assets RAEE 1,804,159
LIABILITIES &k

Segment liabilties HHeE 136,731

5763

4122

166

603

16,137

o

04

29,909 52,432 453,958 65,241 766,466

Unallocated corporate lablties FktE
&f

Consolidated libilies EEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

11.SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

At 31 March 2022

A MBRRME

1M1.9BEH @

PHEERERE®

N_E__F£=H=+—H

International Property
Securities air and Customised development Buiding
Trading of Finance Money  andfutures  sea freight Securiies Property technical Property  andproject  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending ~ brokerage ~ forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating Total
#5k  ERATR 23 NEEER ¥
EEBR  BEES B8 HEEE  BLEE  #5EE O MERE O BERRE MREK ERER Bk REEE EMER @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
TEn T TEn TEn T TEn Tin T TEn TErn TEn T TEn TEn
ASSETS BE
Seqment assets HEE 196,987 9312 400,067 16,672 12 = 129,286 178,585 24,689 52,587 228021 621219 145,119 2,003,256
Undlocated coporate assets ~ RARLEEE 337632
Consoldated assets GREE 2,340,888
LIABILITIES =
Seqment liabiltes e 134,719 5,826 12 4,645 1418 - 28,99 1122 26,601 59,283 517,967 31,882 814,429
Unallocated corporate liabities ~ KARLEEE 265,951
Consoldated lablties Gosf

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and
allocating resources between segments:

all assets are allocated to reportable segments other than
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deferred tax assets, interests in associates, interests
in joint ventures, financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss, amounts due from a joint venture, promissory note
receivable, other loan and interest receivables, bank balances
and cash, the equipment of head office and certain right-of-
use assets and other receivables; and

all liabilities are allocated to reportable segments other than
tax liabilities, amount due to a joint venture, consideration
payables and certain lease liabilities, trust loans and other
payables.

1,080,380

MHERDERBRNEDBEIEE
pE

BREAFESAHMEARDZ
THEE REERBREE KB
ERBZED -REERBZE
m RBATEFARDZZEHME
E-BR—HBEERABRE K
W R R Hth W E R A
B RTEGRKRRE - BREFRE
ZRERETEREEEREAM
FEWRIESN  FREBEERNEE
BEDE ; &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued)

Note: In respect of business segments which incurred recurring losses and were

considered to have indication of suffering impairment loss, the assessment
of possible impairment loss was conducted on relevant segment assets.
Details of the impairment loss assessment and the impairment losses
(if applicable) made for the year ended 31 March 2023 are disclosed in
the respective notes, except for that of the Group’s centralised heating
business.

For segment assets of the Group’s centralised heating business, the
recoverable amount of this business segment's cash generating unit has
been determined based on the value-in-use calculation with reference to
a valuation performed by an independent professional qualified valuer
not connected to the Group. That calculation adopted a pre-tax discount
rate of 20.7% and used cash flow projections based on financial budgets
covering 5-year period approved by management of the Group. Cash
flows beyond 5 years were projected by using 2% growth rate. Other key
assumptions for the value-in-use calculations related to the estimation of
cash inflows/outflows, including budgeted revenue, based on such cash
generating unit's past performance and management’s expectations for
the market development. Given that the recoverable amount of this cash
generating unit is higher than its carrying amount, no impairment loss was
recognized in this regard for the year ended 31 March 2023.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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11. SEGMENT INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

Other segment information

Year ended 31 March 2023

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 %F —&FE — =F = =+—HIFFEZE

1M1.9BEH @

HithEE#
BHE_Z_=#=RB=+—HLTFE

International
Securities airand Customised Building
Trading of Finance Money  and futures sea freight Securities Property technical Property Project  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
goods leasing lending  brokerage  forwarding trading  investment support  brokerage  management energy  contracting heating  Unallocated Total
#5%k ARG
AR HARR 8 HRER BLAE a5ER NERR  HREARE EE REEE LETI £ ) fnits A Bt
HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000
T TR T T T Fin T T FEn T FEn T TR Fin TEn
Amountsincuded i the measure of HENTREINTEERIAL
segment profitorloss or segment assets: £
Additions to non-current assets (Note) ~~ FEFEEHEE (1) - - - - - - - - - - 230 - 4 B 45,093
Depreciaton of property, plant and 9% BERERRE
equipment - - - 4 2 - - 4 86 8 4105 2 8,991 L] 1351
Unredlised gan on farvalue changeon -~ BEHEAFEEHZRERNE
investment properties - - - - - - 2,051 - - - - - - - 2,051
Impaiment loss on contract assets AHEEHESE - - - - - - - - - - - 9331 - - 9331
Impairment loss on trade and other BUETREHE B
Teceivables 178,869 - - - - - - 400 4618 15,046 - - - - 198,933
Impairment loss on loans and interest ~~ EERIRA| S HEFE
receivables - - 59,616 - - - - - - - - - - - 59,616
Impairment loss on goodwill BEZAERE - - - 12,197 - - - - - - - - - - 12,197
Amounts reqularly provided to the chief
operating decision maker but not
included in the measure of segment
profit or loss or seqment assets:
(Gain)Loss on disposal of property, bR BERRE (R /68
plant and equipment - - - - - - - - - - 300 - - (10) 20
Inerst income ELON (1 (1) (1 (11) = = = (17) = (1416) (1 (18 U (3060) (4521)
Year ended 31 March 2022 BE_Z-__F=-A=+—HIFE
Intemational Property
Securities airand Customised development Building
Trading of Finance Mongy  andfutwres sea freight Securities Property technical Property  andproject  Geothermal  construction  Centralised
qoods leasing lending hrogvage ;ngv;g!rg trading  investment support brokerage managemseg energy  contracting heating ~ Unalocated Total
ERER BERE &8 BaRg BLEE ELEL] NERE  HEEHRE pE Ak BTRERD £z AR Bt
HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HKS 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 1000 HK$'000 HK$ 000 HK$'000 HK$ 000
T TEn THn THn Fin THn Tin THn Fin THn Tin THn Tin THn Tin
Amounts included in the measure of HENTRRANTEERHAL
seqment profitorloss or segment assets: £
Addton tooncurent asetsNote) - FEFABAE () = = = 4 = = = 136,269 = 7 150 - 1400 - 150,192
Depreciaton of property, plant and N2 ERRRETE
equipment S 16 S ) 2 e S 17 129 8 4451 55 59M 59 AN
Unrealised gain on fai value change on - REMERTEZEHZ RERME
investment properties - - - - - - 65712 - - - - S o S 6,571
Impairment logs on finance lease receivable MBI ER &ZEHERS - 10,29 - - - - - - - - - - - - 1029
Impaiiment oss on trade and other BURTREMREERERR
feceivables = 548 = - = = - - = - - - - o 548
Impaiment logs on loans and nterest ~ EUEHRRIE HIEHE
receivables - - 297 - - - - - - - - - - - 297
Impairment loss on qoodill BECAERE - - - 14,000 - - - - - - - - - - 14,000
Amounts requlrl provided to the cief - EBRFEEBARERER
operating decison maker but not RHBADREINDEER
included in the measure of segment FEHAZEE:
profitor loss or segment assets:
Loss on disposal of property,plantand & E BRRAEER
equipment - - - - - - - - - - - - 1239 - 1239
Interest income HRMA ¢ 3) s (302 s S - {15) - (582) 6) 1) 0] 5,104) (6,041)
Note: Additions to non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, s : REERDEECEYE BERRK

goodwill, intangible assets and investment properties.

B BE BUEERKEME-
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

Geographical information

International air and sea freight forwarding services are carried
out in Singapore. Trading of goods, finance leasing, building
architecture and interior design services, data analytical services,
property brokerage services, project management services,
geothermal energy services, building construction contracting
services and centralised heating services are carried out in the PRC.
Trading of securities, money lending and securities and futures
brokerage services are carried out in Hong Kong.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external customers
is presented based on the location of the operations of the
customers. Information about the Group's non-current assets is
presented based on the geographical location of assets.

HEE R

BIERANZE Ko E G EEF5TH IO # NI
BT -BEEEm MEAE BTFER
RERR RS  BUBRD RS W=
AR - mE B ERS B2 BERR
B BFREEAGRS REDHRAR
BIYRAEET EFEE (A8 NE
SRAGEERBIINEBET

KB EE WS EHRE G
BHER - AEBFRBEEER
P REEFEHERY] o

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets
SMERE B U B FRBEE

2023 2022 2023 2022
= “ET"fF CBI=E "Z__F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAERT FTET AR FTERT
Hong Kong 55 8,195 24,127 4,325 16,752
PRC HE 494,654 833,088 668,974 673,746
Singapore N 1,816 1,221 8 4
North and South America bEMREEMN - 21 = =
504,665 858,457 673,307 690,502

Note: Non-current assets included property, plant and equipment, goodwill,
intangible assets and investment properties.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing

Mz FRBEEQENE - BERRFE-H
B BLEERKREME-

FEEREHN
FIEFEE R (G A B AR IR E BB 10%

over 10% of the overall revenue of the Group is as follows: ZHREREERZIWENT

2023 2022
—E-= -

HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FET
— Customer A’ -y =1=l 111,478 199,099
— Customer B2 —BR " - 146,520
— Customer C3 =J=I S 118,323 267,602
— Customer D3 =N 107,252 -

Revenue from trading of goods segment
2 No revenue from Customer B for the year ended 31 March 2023

3 Revenue mainly from building construction contracting segment
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

A MBRRME

12. OTHER INCOME 12. Hfthlg A
2023 2022
—E-= B &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Interest income from REBUTERZFEWA

- bank —iR1T 66 83
— other loans receivables —HthEWRER 1,406 558
— promissory note receivable — PR R 3,055 5,400
Government grant (Note) Bt Bh (i EE) 4,610 3,886
Sundry income HIEWA 251 600

Reversal of impairment loss on FEW RE AR & R IE R E R 18
finance lease receivable £ 696 =
Gain on lease modification HEEF 2 W=mE 49 39
Net foreign exchange gain B 42 U 2 VB 2B - 66
10,133 10,632
Note: During the year, the government grants received by the Group included: Mzt : AFEE > AEERESHNBNHEIEE

(i) a government grant from Singapore of approximately HK$4,000
(2022: HK$128,000) in relation to the job credit scheme in Singapore
on the condition that the Group has made CPF contributions in
Singapore. The government grant has been recognised in the same
years in which the expenses were recognised;

(i) a government grant from Hong Kong of approximately HK$624,000
(2022: HK$Nil) in relation to the tranche of Employment Support
scheme in Hong Kong; and

(i) a government grant from the PRC of approximately HK$3,982,000
(2022: HK$3,758,000) mainly in relation to the subsidies on heating
supply services provided by geothermal energy segment and
centralised heating segment without condition.

@)

(i)

(iii)

TN — BT E MBI TR ER
103 BURT #5 Bh 494,000 7T (Z
T 1 128,00087T) c &HEA
REBEERFHMBEHPRAKE
SHR - ZBTHENE R
T2 EEEENRER ;

MEE—ERRENZNESSE
BT #B14624,0008 T (=
ZZE BT R

BRI BAAE DB REPHEASD
PRI 2 AR TS M B AR 1
SR BT Bh493,982,00058
TT(ZE "4 :3,758,00057T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

13.LOSS FOR THE YEAR 13. FAEIE
The Group's loss for the year is stated after charging the following: AEBZFABELENBRTIEIE
BER
2023 2022
g = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Finance costs B FE RS
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEaGNERX 1,452 2,578
Interest expense on bank loans RITERNEMZ 5,265 1,790
Interest expenses on short-term loans ZHAIE A BB X 311 3,141
Interest expense on trust loans EREERNERXZ 28,594 27,983
Interest expense on consideration payable FEAENERX 830 1,865
36,452 37,357
Staff costs BSR4
Directors’ emoluments (note 14(a)) EEHN FTsE140)) 6,860 7,087
Other staff costs Hihg S A 51,239 62,911
Retirement benefits scheme contributions BRIRENE B
(excluding those for Directors) (FEEMESHN 10,103 11,400
Share-based payment — employees MRGBAERNCR—EE 4,450 =
Total staff costs RER AT 72,652 81,398
Other items HthERH
Auditor’s remuneration ZE BN & 1,300 1,300
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment4J 2 « i = K % 6 2 I &8 13,511 11,127
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERTE 14,020 13,463
Net foreign exchange loss (EREIETE 47 S
Loss on disposal of property, HEME -BEREEZ
plant and equipment 518 230 1,239
Share-based payment — consultants MM 2B — B’ 2,117 =
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses ~ HEFRAR Y 2 FE A 109,829 340,515
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

14. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
EMOLUMENTS AND EMPLOYEES’
EMOLUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(a)

(b) Employees’ emoluments (b) EEM =
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in REBLELRSHATEE=4
the Group, three (31 March 2022: four) were Directors (CE - —&F#=ZR=+—H '@
whose emoluments are set out in (a) above. The aggregate %) B FEZIMEEHN LX)
emoluments of the remaining two (31 March 2022: one) My o Higm (CE-__—F=H8
individual were as follows: =+—H:—%) ALZS4%58
wr
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FTET
Salaries and other benefits e REMBEF 2,619 1,440
Retirement benefits scheme BARBHF B
contributions 105 18
2,724 1,458
The emoluments were within the following bands: ST N EER :
2023 2022
—EZ= g
No. of No. of
employee employee
EE A BB A#
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017& 521,500,000 7% 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 522,000,000 7T 1 —

Directors’ and chief executive’s
emoluments (Continued)

Note:

(i) Other benefits represented rents paid for Directors’ quarters.

A MBRRME

14 EERFETHAEMER

EEME ®

(a) EERTETHAEMS
(&)
B 5E -

iy HthEAEENEEESHES-

For the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no
emoluments were paid by the Group to the Directors and the
five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None
of the Directors and the employees waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments paid by the Group during the years ended 31
March 2023 and 2022.

REBEE_E_=FK_ZF__F

—A=+—BLEE xEEL
EHOBEEREILBREHA TG
Bl < AT 5| 12 S 0 A A 5= B ol 1F
AEEMARERZ B IE
AHBEE - RBEE_S _=&F
Irgmmels — s = 5| = S (5| e 4E
B rUIEEENEERETIRAR
BEAREB LT ZERE -

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/23F R
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

15. FhiSMR A

2023 2022
—E-= TETTF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
Current tax: EHRIE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax R EMER 7,593 9,988
(Over)/Under provision in prior years: BIEFEE (BREERE)
BELRE
PRC Enterprise Income Tax FE TS (223) 47
Deferred tax (note 36): IEFRIE (FI5E36) !
Current year rEE 8,684 =
16,054 10,035

Hong Kong Profits Tax has not been provided for the years ended
31 March 2023 and 2022 as the loss for the taxation purpose is
estimated during both periods.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the "“EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate
of the PRC subsidiaries, except for Beijing Shuwu Big Data Research
Company Limited* (b RE R AZKIEMIEAE AT (“Beijing
Shuwu), is 25%.

Beijing Shuwu, which is principally engaged in provision of
financial information, solution and data analytical services in the
PRC and qualified as high-tech enterprise that needs key support,
is entitled to enjoy a lower tax rate of 15% pursuant to Article 28
of the EIT Law.

No provision for Singapore and the United States of America Profits
Tax has been made as the Group did not generate any assessable
profits in Singapore and the United States of America for the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

HREBE _ S _=FRr_E__F=
B=+—HLEFEMGFMREMS H
BEE WU EmEREtRE S
IEEY g e

RBPEEXEMRERE (TRERRT
MIE1) RIEEFREREBRIEG > &
B E AR Gt REBERNBIRMER
RAB (MEREE) BRIN ZMER
25% e

IREREENTRUEFREMBE
FBRDEZBRBEDTRT  BIRE
HEFHNSMRMEE RBEEFR
BMIESB281% > I ER15%MRER

AAERTERNBE S _=ZFK_
T HE-RB=+—BHLFEERHM
RERENZRGREAEEEANERRNRE
) BB EE R AT AN IR K = F B & RE
FISRIEL B -



For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

15. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (CONTINUED) 15.

The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the loss
before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

16.

Friiifx @

FARAZHAEHRAXRGEED REM
£ E W m & FT 5 Z BRI A S 18 ¥ AR 1

other comprehensive income as follows: T
2023 2022
—gZ= S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss before tax PRI BTES 18 (316,076) (1,088)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 25% R AMFAERIRE25%
(2022: 25%) (CTEBE-"4F :125%) 5t &
Z I8 (79,019) (272)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries THMAZERELS ZWE
operating in other jurisdictions RERBIEMEZ ZE 7,737 41
Tax effect of expenses not deductible ENCEAL iy A
for tax purpose 72,977 14,486
Tax effect of income not taxable BARRBAZRFEE
for tax purpose (16,994) (16,294)
Tax effect of tax losses utilised EFARBERINBETE (73) (1,680)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised FERZMBHEBRBZREEE 22,940 13,673
(Over)/Under provision in prior years BIEFERE (BEEE) BETRR (223) 47
Reversal of deferred tax assets BIETRIEE E R 8,684 -
Tax effect of temporary difference FERERERRBEEE
not recognised 25 34
Income tax expense FRSMRBE X 16,054 10,035
Details of deferred tax are set out in note 36. RIETR B BRI MIEE36 0
DIVIDEND 16. &8
No dividend was paid or proposed for the year ended 31 March KABRBEZE_=F=RB=1+—

2023, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the

reporting period (2022: nil).

HiEFET KA REIREMRES
BRESPARLRTERKEMEKRE

o —cE

T

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

17.LOSS PER SHARE 17. 8RR ESHE
The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share attributable RABEEANEBLESRERNREEES
to the owners of the Company is based on the following data: BILBRBEUATEESE
2023 2022
g = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Loss K518
Loss for the purpose of basic and diluted MEREAREEEIE
loss per share mEZ2E8
(Loss for the year attributable to (KRB ANEBEERN
owners of the Company) E518) (333,793) (6,349)
2023 2022
—EZ= TECCE
‘000 ‘000
T T
Number of shares K& B

Weighted average number of ordinary shares FiEREAR K EEEBMS
for the purpose of basic and diluted loss ZE R INEF I
per share

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended
31 March 2023 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s
outstanding share options because the exercise price of those
shares is higher than the average market price of the Company’s
shares.

There was no dilutive potential ordinary shares during the year

ended 31 March 2022, and therefore, diluted loss per share is
equal to basic loss per share.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

1,525,285 1,423,026

BHE _Z_=F=-B=+—BHLEE
NERBEEBEBNTELIRERREAR
Bl ARTTHENEREETSE AR
ZERMPUTEESR AR RGN
FHEHEe

REE_E__F=A=+—HILHF
EowmEBTEHELERKR Hit 8K
HEEmEEERENEE N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 %F —&FE — =F = =+—HIFFEZE

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 18. ME - -BERRZE
Furniture Plant Land
and Office Motor Leasehold and and  Construction

fixtures  equipment vehicles improvements  machinery building in progress Total
BRERXE MARRE RE HEMERE ERRES  DHRET  £RIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000
Thn TEn Thn Fhn Thn Tén Fhn Tén

COosT
At 1 April 2021 856 3,264 11,182 1212 161,967 37,666 81,706 297,853
Exchange realignment ERBE 18 52 158 3 6,581 1,530 3,320 11,662
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEHBAR - 49 S = 5 - - 19
Additions RE - 478 209 - 388 380 12,468 13,923
Transfer from construction in progress BREERIE - = = = 2153 = (2,153) =
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAR - (368) - - - - S (368)
Written off Hiss - (40) - S S S S (40)
Disposals HeE = (26) = - (1,485) - - (1511)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIEZZEZR=+-HR

ZBZTEMA-H 874 3,409 11,549 1,215 169,604 39,576 95,341 321,568
Exchange realignment ERBEE 36) (1) (319) 6) 12,685) (2,960) (1.131) (23.248)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WEREAT 16 It} - - - - S 59
Additions RE - 26 331 - 22,416 - 22,320 45,093
Transfer from construction in progress BRpERIR - = = = 2,409 = (2,409) =
Disposals tE - - (1,931) - (1,545) - (488) (3,964)
At 31 March 2023 RIEZZEZA=+-H 854 3367 9,630 1,209 180,199 36,616 107,633 339,508
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION SERAE

AND IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2021 RZE--£ERFE-A 712 2,670 10,336 616 8118 761 - 23213
Exchange realignment EQEE 16 30 130 1 45 53 - 682
Provided for the year EREE 11 362 362 260 8,571 1,561 = 11127
Disposals of subsidiaries HERBAR - (276) = = = = = (276)
Witten off s - (40) - - - S S (40)
Disposals HE 5 (12) & 5 (84) = = (%)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIEZZE

ZE_"ERA-H 739 2,734 10,828 877 17,057 2375 - 34,610
Exchange realignment EQ#E 3 (50) (264) (6) (1,248) (174) - (1,773)
Provided for the year EREE 3 261 229 27 11303 1478 = 13511
Disposals HeE - - (1.931) - (346) - - 1)
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F=F=1-8 il 2,945 8,862 1,098 26,766 3,679 - 44,071
CARRYING VALUES Bl
At 31 March 2023 AZET=E-R=+-H 133 2 768 1 153433 32,931 107,633 295,437
At 31 March 2022 RIEZZEZR=+-H 135 675 ol 338 152,547 37,201 95,341 286,958
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

18. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

19.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated
on a straight-line basis at the following useful life and rates per

18.

ME-BERSHE @

LtHEME - -BERKRFEEEREER
EEZU T EAFRHRFERRR

annum: 2
Furniture and fixtures 10% — 33.33% R REE 10%-33.33%
Office equipment 10% — 33.33% MANEZRE 10%-33.33%
Motor vehicles 10% — 33.33% RE 10%-33.33%
Leasehold improvements Over the term of the lease or three HMEMEREE MHEFAN=F
years, whichever is shorter UBRIEE B )
Plant and machinery 5% —33.33% R R 14 2% 5%-33.33%
Land and building 3.33% TR EEF 3.33%
RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 19. EHEEE
2023 2022
—E=F =S
HK$000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Right-of-use assets TREEE
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —-MREVERRBEERS 3,716 17,663
Lease commitment of short-term leases FRHATRE 2 HE AR 286 253
The maturity analysis, based on BERRBRBEREN
undiscounted cash flows, of the AEEBEESEN
Group's lease liabilities is as follows: RS AUWT
— Less than 1 year —— %R 3,764 16,394
- Between 1 and 2 years ——EWF - 3,927
3,764 20,321
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A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

19. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (CONTINUED)

19.FHEEE ®

2023 2022
—EZ= TETTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET

Depreciation charges mEER
— Office premises and staffs’ quarters —MREVEREERES 14,020 13,463
Lease interest HEFME 1,452 2,578
Expenses related to short-term leases FPHATR EAERARE S 1,424 1,862
Total cash outflow for leases EERe M 4EEE 16,588 18,063
Addition to right-of-use assets REFRAEEE 2,376 20,674

The Group leases various premises and staffs’ quarters. Lease
agreements are typically made for fixed periods of one to three
years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants and the leased assets
may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

rEEHEZENEREEES -H
EMZNEEHREER —E=F-
HEEFRRDIZENEEETER &
FRETROER G - HE R H
WEEMEARZE MEBEEEETRT
REfEmBAREER-

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 20. IR B &
(a) Movement during the year (a) xXEEEH
2023 2022
=== =S
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
At 1 April RmA—H 129,026 117,582
Fair value gains REBEW R 2,051 6,572
Exchange differences P =28 (9,644) 4,872
At 31 March R=A=+—H 121,433 129,026

HEEMITRERAS 2022/23% 5K 165
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED) 20. R EBEYE @

(b) Investment properties valuation (b)

The Group's investment properties were valued at their
fair values at 31 March 2023 and 2022 by independent
professional qualified valuer not connected to the Group, on
a market value basis, in accordance with Valuation Standards
on Properties issued by Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

Fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
categorised as Level 3 measurement in the fair value
hierarchy. During the year, there were no transfers among the
fair value hierarchy.

The Group’s investment properties are valued using the
income capitalisation method by capitalising the net income
from the existing tenancies and reversionary income potential
at appropriate capitalisation rates for individual properties.
The capitalisation rate adopted is derived by making reference
to the yields achieved from analysis of comparable property
investment transactions and valuer's view of prevailing
investor expectations regarding rental growth and perceived
risks.

Set out below is the significant unobservable inputs used for
fair value measurements:

REYEMLE

AEEBREYEENR ==

M_E___HF=ZRB=+—HHAHA
PiN/NSI i e R VA= =g 0
HEMUTEAEEELT G
WhZBHERNSMBEBEH
MEAELERETC

AEERBEVENATEFEY
WEERSATERETHNE =R
Ble RAEFE  ARFERESD
T R o

AEEEZRREMERABA
EXxERibE #2AYES
BHEAECXRRRITHEHERNFK
ARBEERBBATUBEARICE
B-FMBEANEREXRZ2ERLL
B ERER R EIR A EE
HRTREERPESERRE
BREEMSH

UTFARFESEFRERANER
FERI BV E A B

Weighted average

Fair Value capitalisation rate

AFE MEEHEREE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—EZ=§ _ZT”__f C"BI=f _E__fF
HK$'000 HK$'000 % %

FTERT TERT

Mainland it 121,433 129,026 6 6
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A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

20. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (CONTINUED)
(b) Investment properties valuation (Continued)

(c)

The fair values of the Group’s investment properties are
inversely related to capitalisation rates, which are determined
by reference to investors’ expectations on investment yields,
rental growth and the risk profile of the properties being
valued. A lower (higher) capitalisation rate would imply a
higher (lower) property value.

Gross rental income and direct operating expenses from
investment properties during the year amounted to
HK$6,624,000 (2022: HK$7,075,000) and HK$343,000
(2022: HK$93,000) respectively.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of 1 year,
with an option to renew the lease after that date at which
time all terms are renegotiated. Leases do not include variable
lease payment terms.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

20. KEYE ®
(b) EMEMLE @

(c)

FEBRBEMENRTERER
EXRZ&HEH HEES2SHR
EEHNREMOKRMEAR B8
R WYX BB R R 2ROR
Eo-BME 83 NEXREXREE
EYMEBERERS &) -

RAEEE  REYENERS
WARBEEERSZI DA
6,624,000 (ZE - "4 :
7,075,00078 75) %&343,000/48 7T
TE T T4 1 93,0005 7T) ©

AEBMEERES D HAR
M B 0 7 o T TR 09 41 44 5 R 0B
%516 I B B T LU
BT R B P A5 16 5 25 6 2B 9 1
7 o BT 6 15 A A B 10 R
o

KRS xEBREATRH
HAEERE AR RHIE B U
RARRBIREEMRUOT ¢

2023 2022

—E-= TEICE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Within 1 year —FR 345 7,075

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL 21. "8
HK$'000
FHET
COST PN
At 1 April 2021 R —FEMA—H 201,490
Acquisition of subsidiaries W RSB B A ) 136,269
Exchange differences (ER =% 2,552
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R_E-_—_F=RA=+—HK
—E_ "M/ —H 340,311
Exchange differences =28 (5,884)
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=fF=B=+—H 334,427
IMPAIRMENT A
At 1 April 2021 R_Z2_—FMA—H 52,604
Provided for the year FEREE 14,000
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 E’::%::E—ﬁ =+—Hk
“EHFMWA—H 66,604
Provided for the year EREE 12,197
At 31 March 2023 A B =F=ZHA=+—H 78,801
CARRYING VALUE IREE
At 31 March 2023 RZZ2Z=%=H=+—H 255,626
At 31 March 2022 RZE2ZZH#=H=+—H 273,707

BEKREE HRRER EDEET
JIREELEN (ReEEEEM)

The carrying amounts of goodwill (after impairment) was allocated
to the following cash generating units (“CGUs"):

2023 2022
—E”= -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Regulated financial services business THRECRRFEE 3,403 15,600

Property brokerage services business MR A ARTE =75 7,281 7,869
Building architecture and interior design SRR EERETNZ

services under customised technical BFEREKREANRTRE

support business 15,327 16,566

Geothermal energy business HEBEZETS 50,174 54,231

Building construction contracting business — 1EFEER B ER 43,172 43,172
Data analytical services under customised R SZIRERETZ

technical support business HIED AR 136,269 136,269

255,626 273,707
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e MR RIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs (except for regulated
financial services business which is mentioned below) have been
determined based on the value-in-use calculation with reference
to a valuation performed by independent professional qualified
valuers not connected to the Group. The Board was satisfied with
the independence, capability and qualification of the valuers.
That calculation uses cash flow projections based on financial
budgets approved by management of the Group covering a 10-
year period for geothermal energy business and a 5-year period for
other businesses. Cash flows beyond 5-year or 10-year period are
projected using 2% growth rate. Other key assumptions for the
value-in-use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted revenue, such estimations
are based on the CGU's past performance and management'’s
expectations for the market development.

The major income of the geothermal energy business came from
supplying relevant geothermal energy to end consumers and
receiving related service income. With reference to relevant analysis
and statistics, the development cycle of providing geothermal
services in a new residential district usually lasts for approximately
10 years during which period the occupancy rate of the residential
district would gradually become normalized. Due to the nature of
the geothermal energy business, a financial budget covering a 10-
year period was adopted for value-in-use calculation.

Due to the gradual saturation of the market for SFC licensed
corporations in the financial services industry and the intensifying
competition with the other market players, the operating results
of the regulated financial services business of the Group (”RFS-
CGU") was lower than those expected at the time when the
licensed corporations were acquired by the Group in August
2017. The situation is exacerbated by the unsatisfactory market
sentiment, uncertainties in the economy and complexities and
challenges in the business environment. In order to have equal or
more representative of fair value under the present circumstances,
the Group has changed its valuation method for assessing the
goodwill impairment from determining value-in-use of the business
to fair value less cost of disposal or premium of SFC licences
(i.e. level 2 fair value measurement under market approach). In
the market approach, value is established based on the principle
of competition. This simply means that if one thing is similar to
another and could be used for the other, then they must be equal.
Furthermore, the price of two alike and similar items should be
approximately one another. For market approach to be used, there
must be a sufficient number of comparable transactions to make
comparisons, or, alternatively, the industry composition must be
such that meaningful comparison can be made.

21. B8 ®w

ReELEU BGTRERHAESRR
BEBIN 2RI EDRRER
BEFEEE U2ZRAXEEME
MEZBIISEX G EREEMFTE
TzHmE - EEREMGLEMNEIL
M BENREB -ZABEAEREE
EEEEMALERBAE T FHE
R EHAMEGE DL FHREZ M EFE
BFHZRERERA -BBELFH
TEHBZREMNER2BIEREE
ERL -EREBEESENHEMEIER
R REHBRERA R HRE
EREWD 2EERNEELE
THBERBEREEEHTIHEREN
TREA{EH -

B X T B WA R B B IRH
BEE MR AL T EFEARE
WA - 2 EEB DT R EE £
MRETREHMASERTHRER
HREBFKENI0E FHBBEER
MAERRZHBIE B AR
MEXEFNME  RA10FHOME
RELGtEEREE.

AR EMRBENBESHEEES
BEEHEN BHEMTISE2BENR
FME > AEEZHESRRS -]
TELBEN (RRESMRT R
EEBA) NEEXEENETERR
“E-tFN\BNRBFEEERNTE
HA o SN TH G B T E  EEE TR &
KERBEMRE S—BRAME
E-BEAFERAERFXESHN
w®MEAEECHFEEERENG
BRAtREEBHNERBEBNS
ANTAER S 8 G IR B & pAs 2
B (BIRE M5 AR E —MAFES
B) - EmBAAET BEDHERGF
RABI - BEMS E—7HHS—
HELCEERMRZ > BIWmE L EHR
F o lESh > W AR LB 2B LIV R an B4R
EREAER - ERBHHE M A
ERHNHBENALLRZETLR &
ETEBEHORENETAERENL
o
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iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

An external independent valuation was conducted by a valuer
for purposes of impairment testing in relation to the RFS-CGU.
Based on the valuation, the fair value less cost of disposal or
premium of SFC licences as at 31 March 2023 was approximately
HK$3,403,000 (2022: value-in-use of the RSF-CGU approximately
HK$27,388,000). Accordingly, the recognition of the impairment
loss on goodwill in the amount of HK$12,197,000 (2022:
HK$14,000,000) was made. The value of inputs adopted in the
valuation mainly comprise the acquisition premium (which is the
consideration less the net asset value) by reference to comparable
transactions of companies which are similar to the RFS-CGU and
marketability discount of approximately 52.0%. The Board was
satisfied with the independence, capability and qualification of
the valuer, and had reviewed and reassessed the key assumptions
and value of inputs used in determining the fair value less cost
of disposal or premium of SFC licences with the assistance of the
valuer and believed that it would be reasonable and prudent to
make the impairment based on the results of the valuation. Taking
also into consideration the market situation as set out above, the
Board is of the view that the recognition of the impairment loss on
goodwill in relation to the RFS-CGU is fair and reasonable.

No impairment for the goodwill of other businesses was recognised
in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: Nil).

The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect specific risks
relating to the relevant CGU and are summarised as follows:

21.

G
ARAERATRECRERE RS
EXBUMABANETRENS —%&
HEMBETINSBILGE RiEZ
HE RS _ZF£=A=+—HHW
NFEHBEGRBOHER A
B4 %A3,403,0008 T (ZE - _F .
SHECRRE-RSELE uaﬁ@
FfB{E#927,388,000% 75) AL > FE
B RERE12,197,0008 T (ZF
4 1 14,000,000 7T) ° fL{EFTIX
NS AGBTEEESEEATRES
%EHEF iﬁﬁﬁf*i 5 (1 $B LA B YA
Eb32 SHEUWERE (Eﬂfﬂ%m
%ﬁ%a&ﬁ) L/Ui’z #952.0% M HmE
B -EEREMEEMIBILNE - 5E
NEREE UEEGHEMBHE T8
HEREMTHEE A TFEREETE
BHHERANZERFMBNEER
RERBAE BRABENGEERE
&ﬂﬁﬂé%éﬂ%lﬁz%oﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁl
t%ﬂﬁiﬂ%‘fﬁiﬂ’§$%uu\% Eﬁwu
HECRMRE - ReELE wfﬁ%aﬁ’]
EEREEREEAFTEE.

BEAMEFS 2 HERERBE_F
“=F=ZR=+—HLEFENER

Eﬁﬂ/b\ (—7—— 5 :‘#Ti\) °

PRARESRAIF R BRRRE
EEBUERZSERR  BMET -

2023 2022
(i) Regulated financial services business () ZHRESHMIRBER N/A REB 13.61%
(i)  Property brokerage services business (i) MERLRFEES 16.79% 16.00%
(iii) Building architecture and interior design (iii) 4R MTIBEEFE T
services under customised technical BFRBEKRENKRT RS
support business 21.72% 17.17%
(iv) Geothermal energy business (iv) HMEABEZETS 12.75% 12.48%
(v)  Building construction contracting (v) BFERERKTER
business 19.07% 19.94%
(vi) Date analytical services under (vi) RIS MYIBEREBENZ
customised technical support business HED MRS 18.81% 18.71%
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The assumptions adopted in the valuation of all CGUs mainly
include:

(a)

(b)

(0

(d)

(e)

)

(9)

(h)

0]

For the CGUs to continue as a going concern, the CGUs
will successfully carry out all necessary activities for the
development of its business;

The availability of finance will not be a constraint on the
development of the CGUs in accordance with the business
plans;

Market trends and conditions where the CGUs operates
will not deviate significantly from the economic forecasts in
general;

The financial information of the CGUs as supplied to the
valuer has been prepared in a manner which truly and
accurately reflects the financial performances and positions of
the CGUs as at the respective financial statement dates;

Key management, competent personnel and technical staff
will all be retained to support the ongoing operations of the
CGUs;

There will be no material changes in the business strategy of
the CGUs and its operating structure;

Interest rates and exchange rates in the localities for the
operations of the CGUs will not differ materially from those
presently prevailing;

All relevant approvals, business certificates, licences or
other legislative or administrative authority from any local,
provincial or national government, or private entity or
organization required to operate in the localities where
the CGUs operates or intends to operate will be officially
obtained and renewable upon expiry unless otherwise stated;

There will be no major changes in the political, legal,
economic or financial conditions and taxation laws in the
localities in which the CGUs operates or intends to operate,
which would adversely affect the revenues and profits
attributable to the CGUs;

21. B8 w
FERSES BUNGERNNESR

T2

(a)

8iE -

FRREELEEUFACE B
TEEBMURMAINAREAEFRR
RETRHZE0EE ;

ERESRETGHERREEEE
BURBEEFSHIERE

ReELBUEEMENSHNE
BRRRERETEBREREL
BIEA

PR REM TP HEMNREESE
BAURMYHENENREERERE
WRREEHMBHREBMESE
FEUNHHRETERGRIT ;

TEBEEAE-BAEDABERR
MABREBEUZFREEESE

Iz FEEE

A (MR R R R
ESTTES PN 1

R B BB AIE
REXEBRENAERELFE
HIRE AL ;

RWEXNRSRREELTBNUEE
S % & 8 P 1E 3 B P B AVAE (T
G BRUERBFHMAE
RRNAEBI PR AR E - EXE
PR R AR H MR B TR
RILAREPRER 5HER
EERIN

R AL EUSENREERE
1BV EOA % ~ A SR 5 9
RURREG T HRARS E
A B8 {11 1 U 3 R 2 R
ENEARD ;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

21. GOODWILL (CONTINUED) 2. BE ®

() There will be no major business disruptions through () TEREEBHE -EZR -HEL
international crisis, diseases, industrial disputes, industrial MNTHEERHIEEREMR R
accidents or severe weather conditions that will affect the ERIRSELEENUIRBEERNE
existing business of CGUSs; REFER;

(k) The CGUs will remain free from claims and litigation against k) REeEEBEMNIATTEHBEER
the business or their customers that will have a material NEERFEHEEEREATE
impact on value; HRE R ;

() The business of CGUs is unaffected by any statutory notice () REEEBMUNEBRIKRAZE
and that operation of the business gives, or will give, no rise MATRAEE BEBRZSERS
to a contravention of any statutory requirements; (HBAE) EREMEIERT ;

(m) The business of CGUs is not subject to any unusual or (m) BEEFBUNEBRRT REM
onerous restrictions or encumbrances; and BEENEENRGIIEESIE ;

2
(n) The potential bad debt of the CGUs will not materially affect (n) REELBMNNBEREKRERD
their business operations. HEXBEEEREATE-

22. INTANGIBLE ASSET 2. | EE
License
[ 88
HK$'000
FHT

COST AND CARRYING VALUE %2 e BR T B
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022, RIEZ—FMHA—H-ZZTZZ
1 April 2022 and 31 March 2023 —A=+—B-ZZ2ZZHFMA—HK

2T =F=HB=+—H 811

The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every year
at minimal cost. The Directors are of the opinion that the Group
would renew the license continuously and has the ability to do
so. Various studies including product life cycle studies, market,
competitive and environmental trends, and brand extension
opportunities have been performed by management of the Group,
which supports that the license has no foreseeable limit to the
period over which the provision of services restricted by license are
expected to generate net cash flows for the Group.

As a result, the license is considered by management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected to
contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will not be
amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite. Instead, it
will be tested for impairment at the end of each reporting period
and whenever there is an indication that it may be impaired.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

23. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES

23. RBE AT Z

=L
~

2023 2022
—EZ= T &
HK$'000 HK$'000
TF#T FHET
Costs of investment in associates REE A ZRERAE 24,916 69,166
Share of post-acquisition (loss)/profits and DR (B518) E A K
other comprehensive income, net of Hthemika
dividends received KIRBE AR S (1,788) 5,246
Deemed disposal upon step DTWERBABEBRE
acquisition of subsidiaries HE - (50,802)
Exchange difference bE R ERE (877) 962
22,251 24,572
As at 31 March 2023, the Group had interests in the following A _E_=F=H=+—H &~&EH
associates: RUTHBE AR EE R !
Proportion
of ownership Proportion of
Place of Class of interests indirectly voting Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FRFMERAR FiERE
BRLE SRMmINE RGOSR BRREZLH LA TEEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
B CB__EF CZBC-ZfE “Z_CH
Tiandi Youdamei (Beijing) Cultural PRC Registered 25% 25% 25% 25% Investment holding and
Tourism Co., Ltd* capital hotel operation and
("Tiandi Youdamei") management,
provision of
related hotel property
value-added services
FHERE (IR XIKERAH HE SfEL RERRKRBESERE
(RHBERE) B REEEAEYE
RERY
Sichuan Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
m)IEEEEEEERAR HE SfEL BAERERER
RIEREHRH
Suzhou Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% 20.05% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of

dining services
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23.INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
r e R RMETE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

Proportion

23. RBE AT 2w @)

of ownership

Proportion of

Place of Class of interests indirectly voting Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FRARRMERERN FRE
ERLE BMmINE iSRG ER BEERELLA FELLA TEXEH
2023 2022 2023 2022
“BC=f EICCEF B BZE
BNEEEEEERRAT HE HRER BELEREE REE
BN
Beijing Tiandi Damei Hotel PRC Registered 20% 20% 20% 20% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management, provision
of related hotel
property value-added
services
ERRMAZBEERERAR HE SRER BELSERER R
HBEMELERS
Xinglong County Yinlu Shanfang PRC Registered 20% 20% 20% 20% Hotel operation and
Hotel Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
AESEELRBEERERAD HE SRER BERERER RIEE
BN
Chengde Yinlu Senzhigu Hotel PRC Registered 13% 13% 13% 13% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management
AERERZBBEERERAD HE SRER BELERER
Chengde Shide Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 13% 13% 13% 13% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management
AEREREBEERERAR FE HRER BELER
Shifang City Banshan Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 10.02% 10.02% 9.02% 9.02% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd.* capital management,
provision of
dining services
fIMm+UEEBEERERAR HE SRER BELEREE REE
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23.INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

23. RBEATIZER @

Proportion
of ownership Proportion of
Place of Class of interests indirectly voting Principal
Name of entity incorporation  shares held held by the Company power held activities
FRAERERERN FRE
ERLE RMmINE  FiSRGER BEERELLA TELLAI TEXRH
2023 2022 2023 2022
—$-zf “F-"F ZTZZHE Z-CFE
Guilin Yinlu Hotel PRC Registered 25% 25% 25% 25% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd* capital management,
provision of
dining services
EMEEEEERAR el SRER BERERER RHE
AR
Qinhuangdao Wang Shan Hotel PRC Registered 25% 25% 25% 25% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd* capital management, provision
of dining services and
related hotel property
value-added services
RERRUEEREERRAR FE SRER BECERER REE
R RIERBIE Y E
RERY
Qinhuangdao Tiandi Youdamei Hotel ~ PRC Registered 25% 25% 25% 25% Hotel operation and
Management Co., Ltd* capital management, provision
of dining services and
related hotel property
value-added services
REERMEAZEEERERAT FE SREE BERERER RHE

The summarised financial information in respect of Tiandi
Youdamei and its subsidiaries that is material to the Group is set
out below, which represents amounts shown in the associates’
financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs and
adjusted by the Group for equity accounting purposes including
any differences in accounting policies and fair value adjustments.

RIRE RAERBEN R
BERS

ERRMERERENBARAES
FEBEMEBEE2MHFENBL
WT RERBREESBYHFREZER
HBERAMBRRATEE B
ErxEEEmgst BRFHAR
BREREFERNEMNEERATFER

o

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R

175



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

23.INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

23. RBE AT 2w @)

2023 2022

—EZ= B CF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET TFHET

Non-current assets JEREEE 69,194 60,877
Current assets MBEE 46,445 39,768
Non-current liabilities JEREBE (11,023) (12,194)
Current liabilities mEaE (57,311) (34,810)
Net assets EEZFE 47,305 53,641
Net assets BEZE 47,305 53,641
Less: Non-controlling interest B IEER R (2,303) (2,911)
Equity attributable to the owners wAE AELER 45,002 50,730
Proportion of the Group’s ownership NEE 2 HEE LA 25% 25%
Share of net assets value DMEEEFE 11,251 12,682
Goodwill S 11,000 11,890
Carrying amount of the Group's interests AEE#G ZREE 22,251 24,572
2023 2022

—E-=F —EF-_

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FET

Revenue for the year FERUE 22,809 26,825
Loss for the year FERNEE (2,318) (3,306)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FERNEEH LR (2,318) (3,306)

As at 31 March 2023, the bank and cash balances of the
Group’ associates in the PRC denominated in RMB amounted
to approximately HK$3,269,000 (2022: approximately
HK$2,540,000). Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is
subject to the PRC’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

24. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES

2. MEE ATl 2R

2023 2022
—s-= et 2
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Unlisted investments: JELHITE !
Cost of investments REM A 6,297 6,297
Share of post-acquisition loss and other DM EREEEREMER
comprehensive income, net of dividends Was > KRB RS
received (1,121) (1,121)
Loss on deemed disposal ?ﬁf’ﬁﬁ’iﬁﬂé (1,059) =
Fair value of a joint venture disposed ﬁiéﬁi\\ NEE (4,117) =
Exchange differences RER - 16
- 5,192
Amount due from a joint venture El—EaE A ABMIE - 2,222
Amount due to a joint venture e —RE&ERRRIE = (123)

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has interests in the joint ventures

as following:

Place of
Name of entity incorporation
1] SRR 3L 3t B

Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) Construction PRC
Management Co., Ltd* ("Guohua
Jiaye (Shenzhen)”) (note ii)
BEEE (R BREBBRAE $F
(TEIZEEZE RN ) (TsEi)

Xingtai Baoshihua Energy PRC
Technology Co., Ltd.*
(“Xingtai Baoshihua”) (note i)
AERTEERREARAH el
(MaBERTED) ()

Note:

R _EBE_=F=B=+—H'&x&H
RUTEERBHEE#EG :
Proportion of ownership
Class of interests indirectly Principal
shares held held by the Company activities
FREMEREN
FrERRIn 48R BEREREELA TELH
2023 2022
k- Sy _ECFE
Registered capital N/A 51% Construction and project
management
AfEE TEA 51% BREREREERE
Registered capital 35.7% 35.7% Not yet commerce business
AREX 35.7% 357% HEAREEH
B &E

(i) The Group through its non-wholly owned subsidiary to hold 51% equity

interest in Xingtai Baoshihua. Pursuant to the its Articles of Association,
all decision making shall be by an unanimous vote of the shareholders.
As at the end of the reporting period, Xingtai Baoshihua comprised two
shareholders. In the opinion of the Directors, the Group together with the
other shareholder, has joint controls over Xingtai Baoshihua.

FEBEBHEFEENBARFAMEE
ATERIS1 %R E - IRIFHAAMS 2R - PR
BRREHRRBB —BEFRREL 1R
SR MEBEATEHAMBKRRAER B
FD 7 A5 B R H 4t AR 3R H B 2 I AR
aBEAaTt.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

24. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED) 28 MEE AT Z R @

Note : (Continued)

(i) During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group acquired 49% of the
issued share capital of Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) at a consideration of
HK$1. After the completion of the acquisition on 19 April 2022, the
shareholding of Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) owned by the Group increased
from 51% to 100% and thus the Group is able to exercise control over
Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen). As a result, Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) ceased
to be a joint venture and has become a wholly owned subsidiary of the
Company since then.

The table below shows, in aggregate, the Group’s share of
amounts of all individually immaterial joint ventures that are
accounted for using the equity method.

MisE © (48)

(i) MEBEZZZ=F=-A=+—HILEE>
REBLUBTHRERBEEEE CRII
BEITRAMNIO % —BE__FEMNA+H
BWERRE AEREEEEEE OF
) BIBRRERS1%IEE100% » FILAEE
AIEEEEE CRYI) TEESI#E AUt
EEE R ABELEEARNLERBE
NEREMWBAD]

TRIRAEBBREFTAERAREDE
ARNERFEREGE AT 2B

2022

—EC-CfF

HK$'000

FHET

Net assets BEZE 5,176
2022

HK$'000

FHET

Revenue for the year ER W E 2,753
Loss for the year EREE (1,593)
Other comprehensive expense for the year FREMEPERS ()
Total comprehensive expense for the year FREERAZEE (1,595)

The advanced payment from a joint venture at 31 March 2022 was
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

The advance payment to a joint venture at 31 March 2022 was
unsecured, interest-free and has repayment term of two-years
commencing from the drawn-down date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

25. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE

A MBRRME

25. AT ESt ARMEE T
ZEMEE

INCOME
2023 2022
—¥= S

HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT

Equity instruments BATE

Unlisted equity securities in Hong Kong, REANIELETRAES &

at fair value (Note i, ii) NFEFE FFEE i) 8,780 8,640

Notes:

@

(ii)

In 2002, the Group, through an acquisition of a wholly-owned subsidiary,
acquired 30,000,000 promoters’ shares in Beijing Beida Jade Bird Universal
Sci-Technology Company (“BBJB”) (the “Promoters’ Shares”) of RMBO.1
each at a consideration of HK$38,250,000, which is equivalent to 1.98%
of total issued share capital (including H shares and Promoters’ Shares) of
BBJB as at the end of the reporting period.

BBJB is a joint stock company with limited liability incorporated in the PRC
with its H shares listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Board”).
The Promoters’ Shares were unlisted share capital issued by BBJB when it
was initially listed on the GEM Board in 2000. According to the Company
Law in the PRC, the Promoters' Shares were not transferable within three
years from the date of incorporation of BBJB on 29 March 2000. The
unlisted equity investment is measured at fair value and is classified as level
2 fair value measurement (see note 8).

The above investments are intended to be held for medium to long term.
Designation of these investments as equity investment of fair value through
other comprehensive income can avoid the volatility of the fair value
change of these investments to the profit and loss.

Fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income approximately HK$140,000 (2022: Nil) was
recognised as other comprehensive income during the year ended 31
March 2023.

MIE -

(ii)

RIS ZE AEEEBRE—B2
BHE AT > 138,250,000 TR BEA
30,000,000 It RIEA B BIRFRIZRHG
BRAB (EATR) SREEARO0
T2 BEEARGD (TERARMD)) > BER
REHRIEAEBEHTRALEE (B1EH
% K2 5 RE A B 1) #91.98% ©

IEASEEARPEEMBIIZKROBRE
EAT > HHRRTEHAZFIGEM (T GEMAR )
IH-BEARDALABTENR_ZEE
FEHREGEMMR EHRETZIIFELTR
KoRBEPREQEE BREARMDEILEAS
EiMRIBH CEETE=R_+Ah
B) s =FERArEFEE-FLHRALE
BAFEFERDEASEZHBRATENE
(R HIzES) o

FHRRERNPRAF A BERFRE
REAFESFARMEART ZREARE
FERRZERECATEEHHEGRESE
PEIEZ K

BAFEFAEMEZANGZEREEN
NFEWRTA140,0008 7T (CTE - —F:
ERBEE_E_=—F=A=1+—HILE
B2 2 E U o

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/23F R

119



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

26. R B ERIE

26. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES £
HEZREBANRZBNHRRK G

All interest rates inherent in the leases are fixed at the contract

date over the lease terms. HHEREE-
2023 2022
—EZ= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Finance lease receivables B SR EmRIE 47,897 51,769
Less: allowance for impairment of finance BRI ERERERE
lease receivables (43,351) (46,855)
Finance lease receivables, net ERRERERIE 358 4,546 4,914
Analysed for reporting purposes as MBEEN DB RBEE
current assets 4,546 4,914

The movements on the allowance for impairment of finance lease

FiE Ui i 2 L O O O R £ A B 1

180

receivables are as follows: S5
2023 2022
—E_= B &
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET
At 1 April REA—H 46,855 34,988
Exchange difference BER =% (2,808) 1,571
Impairment loss recognised ERERERE - 10,296
Reversal of impairment loss PEREYSE=Fc Bl (696) -
At 31 March R=A=+—8H 43,351 46,855

Minimum lease payments

Present value of

minimum lease payments

RIEBEMT REREMRZHRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E”= _EBCCE —EZ= B E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT FTAER FTET
Finance lease receivables comprise: EWRERERIERE !
Within one year and present value of —FARERSREEENRZRE
minimum lease payment receivables 4,546 4914 4,546 4,914
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

26. FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, there were a total 4 (31 March 2022: 4)
outstanding finance leases, with outstanding principal amounts
from approximately HK$4,546,000 (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$4,914,000) to approximately HK$20,055,000 (31 March 2022:
approximately HK$21,676,000), amounting to a total outstanding
principal amount of approximately HK$47,897,000 (31 March
2022: approximately HK$51,769,000). To the best knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors, all these corporate
borrowers and their respective ultimate beneficial owners are
independent of the Company and its connected persons (as
ascribed under the Listing Rules).

Effective interest rates of the above finance leases is 6% (2022:
6%) per annum. As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all the finance
lease are secured by the leased assets, such as motor vehicle, plant
and machinery leased and/or share pledges, and/or are guaranteed
by individual who is the corporation’s owner or connected person
of the owner, and/or other corporation which is a related party to
the corporate client.

Before accepting any finance lease arrangement, the Group
assesses the financial strength of the lessee and considers the
credit limit granted to the lessee. In addition, the Group may
request for the guarantor with strong financial status where
necessary. The details of internal control procedures on credit risk
assessment are set out in note 7.

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

26. R BERERE @

A _E_=F=RB=+—H H&FAE
AMP(ZE_—_F=B=+—H:4
M) REBEMERE REBEASLE
N F 44,546,000 (ZE -
=B=+—H8:%4,914,00087T) &
#920,055,0008B T (ZE-"F=1
=+—H : #21,676,0005& ) > k&
BARSRESET4947,897,0008 7T (=
—“HE=ZB=4+—H :#51,769,000
BIT) o REEMEFIHKRFTE FT
BIELEEFIAREZERKESR
BEANEBINARAKRERBEALT
(E&ZR LEMHEA) -

TmEREEREFER6% (T
BT TF I 6%) NIB=FK_
T F-_B=+—HB FEMENR
ENNUEERE HERMBERE
BER/IRMERFIRE &H
HEA SEBS ASEAS ARBEALTH
AR/ BARBRAEBANEM
NEVRMIER-

ERXEIUMEEERHR  ~5E
SHEERKEAZHMBED LEER
FTERBEAZEERER LI HHE
FAEBAEERAGBREBYHRN R
ERARMKER AREERRTG
BYP BRI IR SR IR SRS MY 5ET ©
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&R

26.

27.

SRR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% —

BB+ —HIFE

FINANCE LEASE RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, finance lease receivables before allowance
for impairment of approximately RMB41,928,000, equivalent
to approximately HK$47,897,000 (2022: approximately
RMB41,928,000, equivalent to approximately HK$51,769,000)
was past due. Included in the carrying amount of the above
finance lease receivables as at 31 March 2023 are three
individually impaired receivables of approximately RMB37,948,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$43,351,000 (2022: approximately
RMB37,948,000, equivalent to approximately HK$46,855,000)
which impairment was made due to customers’ default in payment
and/or having liquidity problem due to the impact of the COVID-19
epidemic in recent years. The Group has either taken legal actions
or assessed the latest operating and financial position by site visit
against these customers and considered the legal opinion from
independent legal advisers during impairment assessment. For
the remaining past due amount of approximately RMB3,980,000,
equivalent to approximately HK$4,546,000 (2022 :approximately
RMB3,980,000, equivalent to approximately HK$4,914,000),
the Group is still negotiating practicable repayment terms
and schedules subsequent to the end of the reporting period.
Accordingly, the Directors considered no further impairment loss
needs to be recognised.

Management closely monitors the credit quality of finance lease
receivables. As at 31 March 2023, the age of the finance lease
receivables was over three years (2022: over three years) based on
the effective dates of the relevant lease contracts.

26. EW R EREHIE @

A TEC—FE=RB=+—H KA
ERFEINERRERAEREOAR
#541,928,0007T (1HE H24947,897,000
B (ZEZCZ HWAR
41,928,000t (18 EH24951,769,000
BL)) BRABH- R_EBE_=%=H
—t+—H L ERHEREERE
ZIREESE = EER R EZ U
MIBEH AR #37,948,0007T (FHE R
%943,351,00087T) (& -
M ANRME37,948,00070 HE KD
46,855,000/ 7T) * ZERENDREE
AT F B/ T3 AR [AICOVID-195%%
BN EEN RS E S EFR -
NEFEHZSEFELREUAETHR
BREMERTHRMNEE RYE
KRR ERBEFLBREREERES
j;ﬁ@EEF'ﬂZIf&%E o &R 8RR
MIEL AR #3,980,0007T (ﬁ*‘“ N
4546 ,000/87) (CTEZIZF I HAR
#3,980,0007T (HBE 51 494,914 ooo,%
) M AEBNDERBRSBLE
Tﬁﬁl‘%jﬁﬁ’]ﬁiﬂl\ﬁkﬁﬁgfﬁﬁﬁm?_
THEE AL ERRABAERDE—
T RERE-

EEERYEERUMEAENREL
FEEER- R BE_=F=R=+—
B REEREESNZERBH
BURRMEEAEREZRER=FUL
(CEZZFZFBL) -

INVENTORY 27. 78
2023 2022
—E-=F =S

HK$000 HK$'000
FAET FHET

Consumables for production of heating FRRMEAR THEZSEEN
and industrial steam JHFEm 3,336 4,430

Consumables for construction contracting BREfxaRFENEER
services 3,080 -
6,416 4,430
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 28. & U BR 7R B ELth & L FRIE

2023 2022
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade receivables arising from trading business B &5 3 75 & &£ >~ FEUWBR X 179,320 169,565
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (179,320) =
- 169,565

Trade receivables arising from MEREXEBFREE
finance leasing business & W BR =R 5,083 4,877
Less: allowance for impairment BOREREE (514) (556)
4,569 4,321

Trade receivable arising from project BEEEEBEEBMEEZ
management business FE W AR R 67,508 37,776
Less: allowance for impairment R EREE (15,084) =
52,424 37,776

Trade receivable arising from customised HRRNZREBMEEXZ

technical support business FE W AR R 32,778 14,488
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (400) =
32,378 14,488

Trade receivable arising from property MERLEFBMEEZ
brokerage business FEWBR R 14,655 15,772
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE (4,629) =
10,026 15,772

Trade receivables arising from international air Bl FRfn 2= K6 £ S B E 75 PR

and sea freight forwarding business BEEZ ERERRR 32 1,487
Less: allowance for impairment R ERE - (1,463)
32 24

Trade receivables arising from the securities EHEMEIEKILCERFIELEY

and futures brokerage business FE WL AR R 228 228
Trade receivable arising from geothermal R RE ZE TSP B A 2 FEURBR X

energy business 1,473 1,619
Trade receivable arising from building BFRERKEEBMELEZ

construction contracting business FE W AR R 18,404 21,570
Trade receivable arising from centralised EREREBRMESL Y

heating business FE W AR R 321 2
Prepayments A RIE 103,025 89,778
Value-added tax recoverable AU EIEER 5,244 16,205
Deposits and other receivables & R EMEWRIE 78,101 96,862
Receivables from disposal of a subsidiary FEWHE — R E AR MRIE 24,523 26,505
Construction deposits BHEEE 119,948 129,644

450,696 624,359
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continuep)  28. FEUS BR 7R Be H th FE K TR IE ()
The Group’s trade receivables arising from securities and futures FEBRSRPERLCERMES
brokerage business include brokers with carrying amounts of ZRERWERBE f.‘% %E Z REEY
approximately HK$228,000 (2022: approximately HK$228,000). 228,000 7t (Z& = 24 : £9228,000

TT) °
The Group allows an average credit period normally ranging from AEEBKTFERPZFHEEHR—&
30 days to 180 days (2022: 30 days to 180 days) to its customers. MF30HE180H (°F __E 30H
The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of :0:1 80H) ZM e L T AR RE A KIL
allowance for doubtful debt) presented based on the invoice date FEHEANMERES ,\’JFﬁLZﬁT)\ HHA
or the payment date as stated in the respective contracts at the (,\ = B W m sl BHARSE) 252
end of the reporting period, which approximates the respective FEWERFR (BB RIRE®H) BRie D
revenue recognition date. e
International
air and Building Customised
Finance  seafreight Geothermal construction  Centralised technical Property
Trading leasing  forwarding energy  contracting heating Project support  brokerage
business business business business business business management business business
ERHZER BFRE ESES: T
BEXY MEREER BLEERXR HHRRER RAER SPHREYR HREEEY REER NELLER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER THET TET FER TET TET FER TET
2023: k- St
Within 30 days 30HMA - - 32 - - 167 2,833 14,268 173
31-60 days 31E608 - = - - - 14 2,250 537 -
61-90 days 61908 - - - - - 140 2,250 537 -
Over 90 days iBiB90A - 4,569 - 1473 18,404 - 45,091 17,036 9,853
= 4,569 E}) 1473 18,404 321 52,424 32,378 10,026
International Property
air and Building development  Customised
Finance sea freight ~ Geothermal  construction ~ Centralised  and project technical Property
Trading leasing  forwarding energy  contracting heating  management support brokerage
business business business business business business business business business
BRHAZR BFESE NEEER S
EEXE MEREXY BLEEXE HAREE AOXY ERHREE HREEXE TEEH NELLEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR TiEn TR TR TiEn TR
2022: “ECCE:
Within 30 days 30HRA - 103 12 548 15,387 2 3,772 352 -
31-60 days 31E608 = 103 - 279 - - 1,025 142 -
61-90 days 61£90H 73,355 103 - 279 - - 1,025 327 -
Over 90 days #8iB90H 96,210 4,012 12 513 6,183 - 31,954 13,667 15,772
169,565 4,321 24 1,619 21,570 2 37,776 14,488 15,772
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The settlement term of trade receivables arising from the securities
brokerage business are two trade days after the trade execution
date. The trade receivables from futures brokers are repayable on
demand which represent amounts deposited for trade execution
purpose.

Included in the Group’s trade receivable balance are debtors with
aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$100,701,000
(2022: HK$168,015,000) which were past due at the end of the
reporting period and for which the Group has not provided for
doubtful debt. The Group does not hold any collateral over these
balances.

The aging analysis of trade receivables that were past due but
not impaired based on the invoice date or the payment date as
stated in the respective contracts at the end of reporting date,
which approximately the respective revenue recognition date, is as
follows:

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

28. FE U iR TR B L fth FE UL TR IE ()

REBHFELEB ZBUIIRREEH
RETRZAHEMERZ A KH
H,\,ﬁ.%éazﬁ%l&@ﬁ %?ﬁ%‘éjﬂaa
HEGFERRETRZREZNIA

7S 55 B FE UK BR TR ,‘DE%EPM%W@EE
fB49100,701,000 T (ZE2 ==
168 015,000/ 7t) Z FEUERFR EAiﬁ

LHABAEL BAERTERRR
DHE%H% NEB W ERZ S ERIT
B AEEY -

REZHHNEE BBRERGF
£§‘JZH ElHH (/\IZIELI& Eﬁuu
HAMBR) 252 BRI B EREZE
AR AREC DATIOE ¢

2023 2022

—EF-= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Within 30 days 30HA 340 -
31-60 days 31E60H 2,019 =
61-90 days 61Z290H 2,145 =
Over 90 days B3890 H 96,197 168,015
100,701 168,015

Trade receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a
number of independent customers that have a good track record
with the Group. Based on the past experience, the management
believes that no impairment allowance is necessary in respect of
these balances as there has not been a significant change in credit
quality and the balance are still considered fully recoverable.

EEREEREZBEIRT I RZH
EEZK%EEEQ%E%DE%%Z%_L%
FomRBE&R EEBEMERE AR
Effﬁ'%]ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁ@wﬁaﬁ%ﬁﬁ
TB%&?E%_J%%(H&EI B AMZF
KEBRSTIRBL B R o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuep)  28. FEURBR s K EL {th FE YR TR I8 ()

The movements in allowance for doubtful debts of trade FENEBRF Z RERBSEEBIWT ¢
receivables were as follows:

2023 2022
—F-= -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
1 April mAE—H 2,019 1,453
Deregistration of a subsidiary AE—ERB AT (1,463) =
Allowance for impairment RiEm D 2 R EEE
recognised in profit or loss 198,933 548
Exchange difference ERE%E 458 18
31 March =H=+—H 199,947 2,019
Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the AEMTEHERR > REBRFEE
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by ARFPZEEHZ WEIRERZE
customer. Limits attributed to customers are reviewed on a regular BERB -BRZEERBEILEREZ
basis.
Trade receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related IR 360 HA IR 8 R (B 2 FE R BR B0 Re 3 BB
to customers for whom there was no recent history of default. ISR > e A SR
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28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

The Group applies the simplified approach under HKFRS 9 to
provide for expected credit losses using the lifetime expected loss
provision for all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit
losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due. The expected credit
losses also incorporate forward looking information.

Over

30 days

Current past due
Ikt

=4 30K L
HK$'000 HK$'000

28. FE U iR TR B L fth FE UL TR IE ()

AEERBEBYBHREEDFIR
BT ZBER%E BE2BRRERZ
ARG REATIREREES
B-RtERBEERE BRERRA
EE R BB RE R BRI
DHE-BHEEGERTEIMEESE

Over Over

60 days 90 days
past due past due Total
60K £ 90X £ st

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET FET FET FET
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=H
=B=+—H
Weighted average expected  fEFIGFELGER
loss rate - - - 67.0% 62.5%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) ®IW[El%%8 (T35 7T) 19,155 340 2,019 298,288 319,802
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEREE (T - - = 199,947 199,947
At 31 March 2022 T ——=]
=A=+—H
Weighted average expected ~ JNEF15FEHIEBEX
loss rate - - - 1.7% 0.8%
Receivable amount (HK$'000) mIUR[E1£%E (F & 7T) 97,350 51,953 - 118,081 267,384
Loss allowance (HK$'000) BEEE (TEr) - - - 2,019 2,019

The Group had assessed the expected credit loss on these
receivables based on the following factors:

1.

the likelihood of recovering the receivables in light of future
market conditions and related impact on these customers;

the credit risks associated with these customers by reviewing
their financial and business status;

the history of material defaults of these customers;

the collaterals (if any) from these customers; and

the length of overdue period.

AEBRBUTHERTGTZFER
MIENEREERE

S

ERRRDRREZEIERE
B & IR [El YR AR RBY P BENE

BEBRZEERNY BT RES
RREEHRZEZFEBNEE
JE

5%

FERPNERENELE ;

E\lq:

EFRFNERR (BB 5 &

E\lq:

BIHARARR ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

The allowances of impairment recognised during the year ended
31 March 2023 are mainly as follows:

(1) In January 2023, two customers of the Group’s trading
business, namely, Shenzhen Wu Feng Ying Technology Co.,
Ltd.* CRIIMEESBREARAB) ("Wu Feng Ying”) and
Shenzhen Feng Lei Industrial Co., Ltd.* CRIITT R EEEE R
‘AE)) (“Feng Lei”), were found deregistered. All sales to Wu
Feng Ying and Feng Lei were guaranteed by Shenzhen Shi Jia
Hao Commercial Operation Co., Ltd.* CRYITFHESmEE
EAR/AT) (“Shi Jia Hao"). In February 2023, Shi Jia Hao
was also found deregistered. The Group had instructed its
PRC legal adviser to demand Wu Feng Ying, Feng Lei, Shi Jia
Hao and their respective beneficial owner(s) (the “Defaulted
Persons”) for settlement of the overdue amounts and had
engaged the PRC legal adviser to file a lawsuit against the
Defaulted Persons in front of the courts located at Shenzhen
(the "Courts”). Further details are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 23 March 2023. As at the date of this
report, the Courts have not begun the relevant civil trial.
Having consulted with the PRC legal adviser, the possibility of
collecting overdue amounts owed by the Defaulted Persons
is subject to the result of the Courts’ judgement and the
traceability and possibility in enforcement of the assets or
properties of the Defaulted Persons. The Directors are of the
view that the Group has sufficient evidences and grounds in
such civil proceedings but does not have concrete information
about traceable and enforceable assets or properties of the
Defaulted Persons for the time being. Considering high
uncertainty in the enforcement, the Group recognised the
impairment loss on the entire amount due from the Defaulted
Persons of approximately RMB156,973,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$178,869,000) for the year ended 31 March
2023.
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28.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

28. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (CONTINUED)

)

One of the Group's customers under real estate related
businesses, namely, Ningbo Tiegong Real Estate Co.,
Ltd.* (TERBTEEFBR2S) ("Ningbo Tiegong”)
was filed a winding-up petition by its creditors on
the ground of insolvency and the court appointed
a manager for its liquidation accordingly. As at 31
March 2023, the total amount due by Ningbo Tiegong
was approximately RMB106,171,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$121,286,000), representing receivables
under various real estate related businesses in amount of
approximately RMB75,037,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$85,719,000) and contract assets in amount of
approximately RMB31,134,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$35,567,000). All amounts due by Ningbo Tiegong were
secured by certain properties and lands located in Xiangshan,
Ningbo provided by Ningbo Tiegong as collaterals. Based
on the updated liquidation status of Ningbo Tiegong, the
result of lawsuits against Ningbo Tiegong and the manager
of liquidation, and the estimated value of collaterals held
by the Group, the Group recognised the impairment loss of
approximately RMB17,607,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$20,064,000) on receivables under various real estate
related businesses and the impairment loss of approximately
RMB8&,189,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$9,331,000)
on contract assets for the year ended 31 March 2023.

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

28. FEUWRBR TR B E th FEUR 7R IE ()

(2)

rEBEMEEBELRN—%
B ERHIBEXERANT
(r=e /Riﬁ;tlj)laﬂﬂ,aﬁﬁ%jﬂ&
BEREAREBSRER EkERE
EAEBHEIEE—REEB A
A_E_=ZF=RB=+—H">
FEWEmE THRIEMAELA A
R#106,171,0007Tc (BERH
121,286,000 %) »IEZLER
HMEEMBELBETNERNIEY
AR#75,037,0007Tc (FBERL
85,719,000 7t) REHNEEN
AR#31,134,0007Tc (FBERH
35,567,000/ 70) c B EWE
HE TR ERERE TIEAR
FREENUNERR LS
TYER IR - RIEZR
BITHNERMBEERE HEER
BITHNHFRAERRBEEETEA
LX&ZIS%IFEH?EHE}HWETMEH
BE ~XERHEE =F=
B=4+— Eljtfﬁr;fwtyl,ﬁ%i&f*
TERERIE T ER BRI R E
BEANARK17,607,0007T (18
E14920,064,0008 70) C TR E
,ﬂ,éi;*ﬁﬁwmaiéﬂa HAREE
8,189,000t (#HE*#79,331,000
HBIT) °

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT BHNEERGSHER
LIABILITIES
2023 2022
—E_= -

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Contract assets BHNEE 312,958 370,760
Less: allowance for impairment of B ENEERERS

contract assets (9,354) =

303,604 370,760

Contract liabilities BHEE (15,419) (10,805)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 29. EHNEERGHNER®
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Movements on the Group’s allowance for expected credit loss on rEESHNEFRREEHIEREES
contract assets are as follows: W
2023
—EZ=
HK$'000
FHET
At the beginning of the year FH] -
Increase in expected credit losses TEHAE B A5 1RE D 9,331
Exchange difference (ER =% 23
At the end of the year FxR 9,354
The outstanding balances of contract assets at 31 March 2023 R_E_=F=B=+—H > 88E&
represented unsettled contract prices for property projects under ENRERFREANEBIEFREREK
the Group’s building construction contracting services business, a BRBEFRETYEXEENREES
breakdown of which is set out as follows: A& HBRME M
Gross
carrying Subsequent
amount at settlement Outstanding
31 March up to 28 June balance at
2023 2023 28 June 2023
BE
BRIEZ= —EZ= RIEZ=
=B=+—8 AK<BZ+NB KBZ+N\H
K48 EREE HEEEE HNREERGR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET
Projects A, B and C IHEEHAB&C 253,965 - 253,965
Projects D and E IEEDME 30,784 (4,617) 26,167
Project F I5EF 35,567 - 35,567
Other projects (Note) HmigE g (s (7,358) (463) (7,821)
312,958 (5,080) 307,878
Note: It mainly represented the project materials costs to be allocated to various Mz: EXrEARN_2-_=F=ZA=+—HB%

projects as at 31 March 2023. The negative balance is mainly due to the
payments received in advance from customers exceed the service rendered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Project A, B and C

In relation to these projects, the Group entered into construction
contracts with one customer who is a property developer in the
PRC. Details of these projects are set out below:

Project A

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Project B

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Project C

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Units for sale:

Current status:
Expected sales amount:

Expected settlement date:

Xi'an

RMB336.10 million

98,385.44 sq.meters

2,107 units

(include Project B)

On sale

RMB1,663.75 million

(together with Project B)

On or before 31 December 2024

Xi'an

RMB276.52 million

58,227.17 sq.meters

2,107 units

(include Project A)

On sale

RMB1,663.75 million

(together with Project A)

On or before 31 December 2024

Xi'an

RMB272.22 million

75,190.44 sq.meters

702 units

On sale

RMB715.90 million

On or before 31 December 2024

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

9. 5ENBERGHNER W

HEA-

B&zC

MZEREMS  AEEE-—RPEE
MEREBERIIBRESHN -ZFE
EREFBEHRIINT

IHHA
fiIE : (RS
BT AE#336,100,00070
BEmRA 98,385.44F ;5 3K
tHE B - 2, 10718 B 1L
(B#51EEB)
ERIAKAE TE
TESTIHE %8 ¢ AR¥1,663,750,0007T
(EEIEEB)
FEsTEEHE . RIZTTWUFE+ZA
=—+—HZZH

IHEHB
iy : (S
BHEEE . AR #276,520,00075
EEmE 58,227 17F 5K
THEE BRI - 2,1071@ B8 i
(BIEEEA)
ERIAKAE TE
TEsTIHE % ¢ AR¥1,663,750,0007T
(ERIEBA)
FHEEHE . RWIZEZWNE+ZA
=—+—HZZH

HHC
Iy : Az
BT ANER#272,220,00075
BEmE 75,190.445F 75 3K
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LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Projects D and E

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
& IR RMEE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% —

BB+ —HIFE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

In relation to these projects, the Group entered into construction
contracts with another customer who is a property developer in the
PRC. Details of these projects are set out below:

Project D

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Expected units for sale:
Current status:

Expected sales amount:
Expected completion date:

Expected settlement date:

Project E

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Expected units for sale:
Current status:

Expected sales amount:
Expected completion date:

Expected settlement date:

Project F

Xi'an

RMB169.93 million
32,586.28 sq meters
284 units

Under construction
RMB317.88 million
31 December 2023

On or before 31 December 2024

Xi'an

RMB189.12 million
33,291.80 sq meters
323 units

Under construction
RMB378.46 million
31 December 2023

On or before 31 December 2024

In relation to this project, the Group entered into construction
contracts with Ningbo Tiegong. The impairment analysis of this
customer is set out in note 28. Details of this project is set out

below:

Project F

Location:

Contract sum:
Construction areas:
Expected units for sale:
Current status

Ningbo

RMB230.50 million
85,240.52 sq meters
384 units
Suspended
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT

LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Save for Project F, all other projects are currently either on sale
or under construction. As major business partner of the property
developers, the Group’s real estate related services team provides
one-stop service to the counter parties, including construction
works which is the key part of a property project. By working
closely with the property developers (for example, the Group's
project management teams have seconded to various project sites
during the construction period), the Group could monitor the
status of the projects and the property developers. In addition,
the Group had considered the following factors in the impairment
assessment of its contract assets:

1. the PRC's governmental policies have begun a turnaround in
favor of the property sector since 2022, in terms of mitigating
the financing difficulties of the property developers and
encouraging new home buying of end users, and it is believed
that the large and/or state-owned property developers could
benefit from the effect of favourable policies first and then
the small-to-midsized property developers, including the
Group's customers;

2. the relevant projects are located in the central or prime
area of PRC cities which is one of the distinct advantages in
property sales;

3. when the property sales rebounds, the liquidity issue of these
customers will be solved or at least eased to a certain extent
and it will expedite the settlement of the Group’s contract
assets;

4. pursuant to the PRC's laws and regulations, the property
developers have to designate specific bank accounts for
receiving sales proceeds from buyers in property presale, and
cash outflow from such designated accounts are supervised
by the local government and are to be strictly utilized for
limited purposes, including settlement of constructors’ costs;
and

5. in extreme case of default in payments by these customers,
the Group, as construction contractor, has priority in being
paid by the property developers under the PRC's laws and
regulations, including taking possession of the relevant
project properties and/or application for judicial sales of the
relevant project properties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

29. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 29. EHNEERGHNER®
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
In light of the above, taking into account the subsequent %E@J:YFE?&’%%%)’EDH’JQETW
settlements and assessment of recoverability of the contract assets, BN EBEEERTFHEREB B
the Directors were of the view that the contract assets as at 31 RAER_ZE_=F=B=+—818
March 2023, except for the contract assets from Ningbo Tiegong EHNEE (Bt iRAEBEOARE
for which the impairment loss of approximately RMB8,189,000 8,189,000t (HHE 499,331,000/
(equivalent to approximately HK$9,331,000) has been provided, 70) MERETITHNGNEERIN &7
would be fully recoverable and therefore no further impairment L B E—Z"=F=1
loss was recognised for the year ended 31 March 2023. —t+—BIEFELRBEDE—DRE
[E518 °
Transaction prices allocated to performance obligations unsatisfied RERDPEERENBATEAIER
at end of year and expected to be recognised as revenue in: RUTEERIBRENRZE
2023 2022
—¥= S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
For the year ending 31 March HE=-BA=+—HULtFE
- 2023 —:’J:E - 631,694
- 2024 ——_EF"NE 587,004 699,357
- 2025 “ERHEF 618,342 755,547
- 2026 —ETR 669,695 803,913
- 2027 :;ﬁ_—tg 690,474 852,543
-2028 ——ZBN\EF 670,743 -
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29.

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT
LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)

Significant changes in contract assets and contract liabilities during

29. BN BEERGNEE ®

RENBEERGHNABENERE

the year:

2023 2022

—EZ= —E”C
Contract Contract Contract Contract
assets liabilities assets liabilities
BNEE BH&aE BREE aHEaE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TAET FTET TART
Increase due to operations in the year ~ EREEHLEMEM 230,100 - 329,451 =
Transfer of contract assets to receivables AXBEBREEINEIE (287,902) - (254,752) =
Transfer of contract liabilities to revenue  AXBEEZZE NG - 75,603 = 88,961
Consideration received from customer ~ BURBEEHNAE - (80,217) = (86,226)

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

30. ?é’AEFTE%H\?EEZﬁEEEﬁ

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial assets at fair value through BATESABRZ EMEE !
profit or loss:
— Contingent consideration receivable —HINENBAB AR
arising from profit guarantee clause in i MR B R R 4 2 FE R
relation to the acquisition of subsidiaries FHAKE - 29,633

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/23F R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
iR IR MG

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

30. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (CONTINUED)

The contingent consideration receivable was related to the profit
guarantee clause which was irrecoverably and unconditionally
guaranteed by the vendors when acquiring 100% equity interest
in Beijing Yuehai Enterprise Management Co., Ltd.* (JtR&
BEEEEARAT)("Beijing Yuehai”) on 24 March 2020.
Pursuant to the equity transfer agreement, the consideration of
RMB30,000,000 shall be payable by the Group in 2021 to 2023
provided that the net profit of Beijing Yuehai and its subsidiaries
(“Beijing Yuehai Group”) was i) not less than RMB10,000,000
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020; ii) not
less than RMB13,000,000 for the period from 1 January 2021
to 31 December 2021; iii) not less than RMB17,000,000 for the
period from 1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022; and iv) not
less than RMB40,000,000 for the period from 1 January 2020 to
31 December 2022 (the "Guarantee Profit”). As Beijing Yuehai
Group failed to meet the Guarantee Profit of RMB10,000,000
for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2020,
RMB13,000,000 for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2021 and RMB 17,000,000 for the period from 1 January
2022 to 31 December 2022, the Group is released from the
payment obligation of RMB30,000,000. As a result, the fair value
of the consideration receivable as at 31 March 2023 has been
determined at RMB30,000,000 (approximately HK$34,271,000)
(2022: RMB24,000,000 (approximately HK$29,633,000))
and was settled by netting off the consideration payable of
RMB30,000,000. Gain on fair value change on financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$6,837,000
has been recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 March
2023 (2022: HK$18,521,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

31. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances - trust and segregated accounts

The Group receives and holds monies deposited by clients and
other institutions in the course of the conduct of the securities and
futures brokerage business. Such monies are maintained in one
or more segregated bank accounts. The Group has recognised the
corresponding liabilities to respective external clients and other
institutions as trade payables (note 34). However, the Group does
not have a currently enforceable right to offset those payables with
the deposits placed.

Bank balances - general accounts

Bank balances and cash comprises cash held by the Group and
bank balances that are interest-bearing at prevailing market
interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 0.30% (2022: 0.01% to
0.30%) per annum and have original maturity of three months or
less.

Included in bank balances and cash are the following amounts
which are subject to foreign exchange control regulations or not
freely transferable:

3. IRITHERRRE

IRITHER—EERBILIRA

AEBRETESRPERLERRF
TERARFAEERRAMBEERZ
ME-ZEMEANFER—EAHZE
BURRTRF - AEBERHH K
BERREMEBHNARESEED A
FEATERAR (BY5E34) - R > AEER
B ST EFERIEHEZ S RAM
IRBYIRBIITHER

IRITHEER——ARER P

RITHEREIRSOEAERFFRS
KERT#G BIRTHBENENF
0.01%ZE0.30% (ZE__F :0.01%
ZF0.30%) 5tE > BREEHHEA=EAR
HLLT o

IRITHERRRIBE R AT AR IMNE
EREARF AT EBREREZR
I8 :

2023 2022
—EZ= ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Amounts denominated in: MF5E8EHEZRIA .
RMB AR 35,275 30,657
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

32. BIRERKRFE

2023 2022
—E-= TE-F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FET
Loans receivables: EUWER
Secured BIEFE 40,000 40,000
Unsecured KR 378,404 365,249
418,404 405,249
Interest receivables fEWF] B 49,738 60,434
Less: allowance for impairment of loan and 3 : FEUT & =R F) B A6 (E 2
interest receivables (126,069) (66,453)
Loans and interest receivables, net R ER LT B HEE 342,073 399,230
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBEENDNA .
— Non-current assets —JERBEE 44,300 30,113
— Current assets —REEE 297,773 369,117
342,073 399,230

The movements in allowance for impairment loss of loan and

RWERKRFEZ HEGEEEED

interest receivables were as follows: mr
2023 2022
—E=F E &
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
At 1 April REA—A 66,453 43,466
Impairment loss recognised ERERERE 59,616 22,987
At 31 March R=B=+—H 126,069 66,453
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RIGE

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, there were a total of 15 (31 March 2022:
15) outstanding loans, out of which 7 (31 March 2022: 7) loans
were loans to individuals and 8 (31 March 2022: 8) loans were
loans to corporations, with principal amount per loan ranging from
HK$3,101,000 (31 March 2022: HK$4,000,000) to approximately
HK$46,690,000 (31 March 2022: approximately HK$45,222,000).
Loans to the largest customer and top 5 customers constituted
approximately 11% and 51% (31 March 2022: approximately 13%
and 58%) of the total outstanding principal and interest amount of
the loans respectively as at 31 March 2023. To the best knowledge,
information and belief of the Directors, all these borrowers and
their respective ultimate beneficial owners (in case of corporate
clients) are independent of the Company and its connected
persons (as ascribed under the Listing Rules).

The loans to individuals in aggregate amount of approximately
HK$147,833,000 (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$150,929,000) are unsecured and unguaranteed.
Considering the corporation is in the nature of limited
liability, the loans to corporations in aggregate amount of
approximately HK$270,571,000 (31 March 2022: approximately
HK$254,320,000) are either secured or guaranteed. Among the
loans to corporations, one loan in the amount of HK$40,000,000
(31 March 2022: HK$40,000,000) is secured by a segregated
portfolio account of an investment fund and the remaining loans
in the total amount of approximately HK$230,571,000 (31 March
2022: approximately HK$214,320,000) are backed by guarantees
respectively provided by individual who is the corporation’s owner
or connected person of the owner, and/or other corporation which
is a related party to the corporate borrower.

32.EWEMEFE @

A B =F=RA=+—H HAFI%E
(ZCBE-__F#=RA=+—H:15%) %
BEEF HPI7E(CE--%=A1
=+—H:7%)ABAEH 8E (=
T "HF=HB=+—H:8%) AQFH
B BEERAERENF3,101,000
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4,000,00087c) £#46,690,0008
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45,222,00087) -R_E-=F=H4
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150,929,00087T) » Jh K I K
BR-ZEINNTNEEALBRE
£ ABER4ERE4%270,571,000
B (CEZZF=B=1+—H:%
254,320,000 7T) » h BRI XA
ERo-NBERF»—240,000,000
Br(ZTE-_ZF#=B=+—H":
40,000,00087c) WERTAH—Z &
EESNBIUBASKREERE MF
ERER4EEELY230,571,0008 7T (&
—“HFE=R=+—H :#4J214,320,000
B) BORHRZATDES AN ZE
BEANBEALNEA &/ HBR
ZNBEBRARMELNEMA TR
FEfRo

EEEMZERAERAT 2022/23F R

199



200

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

The loans advanced to the borrowers under the Group's money
lending business normally had loan periods from 6 to 54 months
(2022: 6 to 54 months). The loans provided to borrowers bore
interest rate ranging from 8%-15% per annum (2022: 8%-15%
per annum), depending on the individual credit evaluations of the
borrowers. These evaluations focus on the borrowers’ financial
background, individual credit rating, current ability to pay, and
take into account information specific to the borrowers as well
as the guarantees and/or security from the borrowers (where
necessary). The details of internal control procedures on credit risk
assessment are set out in note 7. The loans provided to borrowers
are repayable in accordance with the loan agreements, in which
the principal amounts are repayable on maturity and the interests
are repayable half-yearly, yearly or on maturity.

The following is an aged analysis of loans and interest receivables
(net of allowance for impairment), presented based on the dates
which loans are granted to borrowers and interests are accrued.

32.

BWEREFE @

REBZEEEFBE RN FERA
ZERMZERPERAESMER (T
T F I 6ESAMER) BT ER
AZEFTBRNF8%EI5%ZEFEK
(CE - F 8% E15% 2 FFXR)
R REERAZEREE TG
EoZETEEINERAZTES
S EAEETR BREZAEN &
BERAZHRER U RKRBEEHA
ZRER/ RIEH (WHME) -8R
B T (e B9 P SRR U AR [ 5 1B B RS B 5
7o RMFERAZEREREERH
EEE BRASHEENISBRER
RAMBEESYE -SERNIHRKE

N

=e

UFBEEERARDER & F]
ENBBH2IZEREWERKLFE (0
PRBERRE) ZBRE DT -

2023 2022

g = S
HK$'000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Within 90 days 90HR 15,245 15,170
91-180 days 91ZE180H 1,034 1,129
181-365 days 181%365H 29,792 10,037
Over 365 days B48365H 296,002 372,894
342,073 399,230
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

As at 31 March 2023, loans and interest receivables before
allowance for impairment of approximately HK$378,735,000
(2022: approximately HK$420,558,000) were past due. Included in
the carrying amount of the above loans and interest receivables as
at 31 March 2023, receivables of approximately HK$126,069,000
(2022: HK$66,453,000) which impairment was made based
on the credit risks assessed. During the year ended 31 March
2023, impairment of approximately HK$59,616,000 (2022:
HK$22,987,000) has been made for loans and interest receivables
of which the related credit risks increased. The Group assessed
the credit risks associated with loan and interest receivable of
each borrower by assigning the credit rating with reference to
the repayment track record, the financial position and market
benchmark to compute the impairment ratio (or expected credit

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

32. BIRER KT B @

ATET=F=RF=+—H Mk
BEEEBEN Z2EBRER KR EDN
378,735,000 T (ZE-__F ! &y
420,558,000 t) BRI N =E
T=FE=ZRB=+—H LHEKE
AEMEZE@TE a%%uﬂzﬂlﬁ
#126,069, ooo%n (=

66,453,000 7T) » AIE&FEUME’. E’J
EERBIEHBE- EA%z T =
E=ZB=+—HILEE" Eﬁf%uﬁzi‘f
AR HM B AEH R (EA59,616,000 7T
(ZE -4 :22,987,000%7T) » &
HEREEERMBEM REBREEN
FE R BRI R IHE L HER

loss ratio). Details are as follows: EEFRTHEZERABRERELF]
BHERBEERRE  UstERER (5
TARAE EBIEXR) - FFUWT :
Impairment loss
Impairment recognised/ Impairment
Interest Impairment loss as at (reversed) loss as at
Principal receivables ratio 1 April 2022 for the year 31 March 2023
—ECCE —ERC=F
mA—A FRERD/ =A=+-H
Borrowers fERA 5% RS AEX WEGE (BE) AESE AERE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT FHT THT THT FHT
(@) (b) (© (d) (e)=(f)-(d) (fl=(a+b) x ¢
Category A AsE 63,628 5,243 100% 51,450 17,421 68,871
Category B B4E 82,016 5,055 42.3%-57.3% S 44,116 44,116
Category C € 200,287 33,511 1.2%-11.8% 15,003 (2,580) 12,423
Category D D#F 72,473 5,930 0.8% - 659 659
66,453 59,616 126,069
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

32. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

In computing the impairment ratio (or expected credit loss ratio),
the Group performed the following procedures:

(a) to identify categories of loans and interest receivables with
the same or similar credit risks by considering the following
factors:

(1M

whether the borrower and guarantor (if applicable) is in
bankruptcy and/or has ceased the operation in case of
corporate client;

whether the borrower has settled the principal and/or
interest during the year;

whether the principal has been defaulted;

whether the borrower can provide supporting
documents to demonstrate its or his solvency;

whether the borrower is a public figure; and

whether the borrower can provide other indications of
recoverability.

The main characteristic of each category is as follows:

Category A: Borrower(s) and guarantor (if applicable) have

been in bankruptcy and/or ceased the operation
in case of corporate client.

Category B: Borrower(s) defaulted on the principal repayment

upon maturity and could not provide supporting
documents to demonstrate its or his solvency.

Category C: Borrower(s) defaulted on the principal repayment

upon maturity but could be able to provide
supporting documents to demonstrate its or his
solvency or is a public figure.

Category D: Borrower(s) did not default on the principal

repayment upon maturity and had settled some
principal and/or interest during the year.
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A MBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

(b) to refer to the historical rates of the respective categories
based on the market benchmark;

(c) to adjust the historical rates by forward-looking factors such
as the GDP movements; and

(d) to compute impairment ratio (or expected credit loss ratio) for
impairment loss assessment.

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, approximately
HK$3,364,000 were settled. The remaining past due amount of
approximately HK$249,302,000 are due from several borrowers
with whom the Group is negotiating practicable repayment terms
and schedules. The Group’s neither past due nor impaired loan
receivables mainly represented loans granted to creditworthy
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.
Accordingly, the Directors considered that no further impairment
loss is necessary. Save for the aforesaid secured loans, the Group
does not hold collateral over other balances.

OTHER LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

32.EWEMEFE @

(b) BEENTBEENSENES
b

(0 MRIFGDPEFHEZFRIEMERER  H
BESLEE; &

d) R EBEFLStERER (5
FRIEEBEX) -

RIREEAR%E > £93,364,0008 T E#
BT 88 T IRIE49249,302,000
BruAsRREBEAERAZRIE KE
B I 221 S B 7 0] 1748 R =R B 1S
RoRNREBZ KA EBEZ B
EXRFEIERABIEXIRZREE
ERFZERBHZER A EE
RABBEEHE—FREBE BRL
MAERFRE RIS A& B i3 E 1
ERERIEER

33. HithEEIRE s K FI B

2023 2022
—E_= —_=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Other loan receivables: HthEWER
— Advance to third parties (Note i) —EHE=HBH HIE) 21,773 7,408
Other loan interest receivables: HtmEWERFE !
- Advance to third parties —[AIE=ZFEBR 2,791 1,844
Analysed for reporting purposes as: MBESENDNA -
— Current assets —hEEE 24,564 9,252

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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33. OTHER LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES
(CONTINUED)

Note: MIEE -

(i) The Group advanced RMB6,000,000 (equivalent to approximately (i)
HK$6,854,000) and RMB13,060,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$14,919,000) to two corporations, both are independent third
parties respectively in the PRC, with the interest rate of 8% per annum.
The advance of RMB6,000,000 is secured by 50% shareholding in
the corporation and guaranteed by the individual shareholder of the
corporation and should have been repaid in 2021. The Group is currently
negotiating with the corporation for practicable repayment terms and
schedule and considered that no impairment loss is necessary after
assessing its financial position and restructuring plan. For the advance of
RMB13,060,000, it is unsecured but guaranteed and repayable by 2024.
As there is early repayment term stated in the loan contract and it is the
practice for the borrower to repay the advance within a short period of

time, the advance is therefore classified as current assets.

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

33. HitEEWRE R K FI B @

AEEDREMETFEAR BIBBILH
=7) B4 AR #6,000,0007T (FHER L
6,854,000 70) & A 13,060,0007T (18
E10%914,919,000870) » FHZEA8% - A
< #6,000,00070 B9 7R H 5% A 8] 50 % A& 1
EETHZABBEARRRERER BR
IR FHEEBE-AEEBREERAZA
B P A AT IR TR R TR R R R 3R ST EL B
B R REMASEB ~EERABEE
R E 518 - 7t AR 113,060,000 7T B3

SO ERRBEAERKFEERER LERC
T UERERE - AREREGNPHER
AIE G R R B A A2 R B R E BB
BBER WMZERERDEARYEE-

34. FE {3 AR TR e H fth F& {7k IE
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2023 2022
g = -
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Trade payables arising from securities and REBFRPERLER 2
futures brokerage business FE (T BR =R 4,095 4,082
Trade payables arising from international air 2R EBIEMERE FEEER
and sea freight forwarding business Z T ERRR 63 665
Trade payables arising from property REMERLETE 2 BAIERN
brokerage business 484 276
Trade payables arising from geothermal HMEBEXFEPTE S Z ETIR™
energy business 56,905 45,872
Trade payables arising from centralised ERHAEBEMEEZ
heating business FEfTRR TR 49,068 24,379
Trade payables arising from building BFEERKOEBRFELEZ
construction contracting business FE (T BR =X 271,267 322,759
Earnest money from finance lease receivables FEWRIBHEEREZHES 1,828 1,976
Accrued charges fEET & 17,264 19,492
Consideration payables FETHE 37,847 88,183
Advance from subcontractor FEOSEEEBR 102,375 110,299
Trust loans interest payable R EEERF B 30,312 7,939
Other payables H g RIE 49,257 29,280
620,765 655,202




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

The Group's trade payables arising from securities and futures
brokerage business include margin clients and cash clients with
carrying amounts of approximately HK$4,069,000 and HK$26,000
respectively (2022: approximately HK$4,062,000 and HK$20,000
respectively).

For trade payables arising from the securities and futures brokerage
business, no aging analysis is disclosed for the Group’s margin and
cash clients as these clients were carried on an open account basis,
the aging analysis does not give additional value in the view of the
nature of business of securities brokerage.

For trade payables arising from property brokerage business, no
aging analysis is disclosed as the Group is yet to receive invoices
at the end of the reporting period. The payables is accrued based
on the monthly statements agreed with the respective agents.
According to the relevant agency contracts, the invoices will be
billed in the following month and the settlement terms is within 3
business days from the invoices date.

The average credit period on international air and sea freight
forwarding services is normally ranging from 30 days to 90
days (2022: 30 days to 90 days). For trade payables arising
from geothermal energy business, centralised heating business
and building construction contracting business, they are mainly
accrued and settled based on the progress of performance and the
settlement obligation as stipulated in the respective contracts. The
Group has financial risk management policies in place to ensure
that all payables are settled within the credit timeframe.

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

34.F& (3 AR 7R e EL At FE {4 7R IR ()

NEBMKEFSRPELILERIE
TRAEBEAFEEARRESERZIE
FERFR > BREE 2 5I1494,069,00078 7T
226,000 (ZEZZF : 234
4,062,000 7T 5220,00078 7T) ©

TR BEFRAEECER 2 BNIR
MME BARTEEFRRREER
I ERRPAEENR BERE
REEHBZEE RO LES
BEINMEE HEEBUERBEZSTE
B ZARE DA o

MY ERCEBEEZRMARMRM
% > FR S 7 5 B 5 ¥R 5 B R I R U E
I B AR BR AR B D0 AT o FE (YRR
ERRERETRBEERS -RE
*Eﬁﬁﬁii X BERRERABDH
MEFHABHEEARPE=EEE
EI|7\]o

BEMERS LEERBZFHEER
$B—fR N PR TR (CE-fF
30HE90H) o R ZASEREFS « Ep
REBREFREERDEGMESZ
BNERRME  HXTBRBHUEER
E@DIGDTEHZ/E{ {E?vin-l-&nu
B-AEFEITAVBRREEREBRU
HE TR A BB RRIE TS 15 B Ry B AE AR
EEN=E

EFEEEZERBRAT 2022/23F %k

205



206

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

34. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (CONTINUED)

34. FE (S BR AR B Lt FE A 7R 1B ()
UTFARBEWARADERE RS

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables from
international air and sea freight forwarding business, geothermal
energy business, centralised heating business and building
construction contracting business presented based on the
invoice date and/or the settlement obligation as stipulated in the

respective contracts at the end of the reporting period:

International

FEEER MBAEER ERHEAE
BREFRRRKBDER ZBARKE
BEOBAKR/ABEMANIBRZEE
BE2FIHERE DT

air and Building
sea freight ~ Geothermal Centralised  construction
forwarding energy heating contracting
2023 —EC=E business business business business
ERMZER BFEE
BLEEXR®  HBERE SOHEER REEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THx TR THET
Within 30 days 30HA 62 64 4,185 362
31-60 days 31E60H 1 92 8,230 -
61-90 days 61290H - 70 18,341 11,308
Over 90 days HBiE90H - 56,679 18,312 259,597
63 56,905 49,068 271,267

International
air and Building
sea freight Geothermal Centralised construction
forwarding energy heating contracting
2022 “ECTFE business business business business
BHZER BFEE
BLEBEE  HAEEE ERHRREH AEEH
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FHERT TAT THT FHET
Within 30 days 30B/A 41 126 14,184 287,114
31-60 days 31£60H = - 3,030 -
61-90 days 61£90H = - 5,051 13,608
Over 90 days #1B90H 624 45,746 2,114 22,037
665 45,872 24,379 322,759

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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35. LEASE LIABILITIES 35. 6 &R
Present value of
Lease payments lease payments
HER®R HEMTRE
2023 2022 2023 2022
- E--F ZBZZHE T F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR THT TAER THT

Lease liabilities comprise: HESEEE:
Within one year —&ER 3,764 16,394 3,682 14,944
In the second to fifth years, inclusive EEEETE (BEERRE) - 3,927 - 3,841
Less: Future finance charges B RRREER (82) (1,536) - =
Present value of lease liabilities HESRERE 3,682 18,785 3,682 18,785
Less: Amount due for settlement ARt ZEBRIEEEZSHE

within twelve months MBrRsafrRETIR

(shown under current liabilities) (3,682) (14,944)
Amount due for settlement after twelve PR+ _{ERAHBAEEZSHE

months - 3,841

At 31 March 2023, the average effective borrowing rate ranged RZIE2EZ=F=-F=+—H '¥HE
from 6% to 12% (2022: 8% to 12%). BREEENF6%EI2% (T -

FI8%E12%) o

36. DEFERRED TAX 36. IEIEFRIA
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for MUBERMS  BEERBERZ D
financial reporting purposes: T
2023 2022
= T

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

Deferred tax assets RERIES E = 9,410

HEEMITRERAS 2022/23% 5K 207
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36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets recognised and
movements thereon during the current year and prior period:

36. IRIEFRIE @)

RAEFER EHABEZ EBIELERIE
BEERSEFMAMT

Impairment on
finance lease

receivables

FE U B B

HERERE

HK$'000

FET

At 1 April 2021 AZE-—EMA—A/ 9,042

Exchange difference (B =28 368
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 N ZEZF=A=+—HkK

BT HMWPA—H 9,410

Charge to profit or loss s AEBE (8,684)

Exchange difference BE R =28 (726)

At 31 March 2023 RIEBZ=F=RA=+—H —

At 31 March 2023, the Group has estimated unutilised tax
losses of approximately HK$662,353,000 (2022: approximately
HK$539,676,000) available for offset against future profits. No
deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of estimated
unutilised tax losses (2022: nil) due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams.

The estimated unutilised tax losses of approximately
HK$534,307,000 (2022: approximately HK$447,609,000) may be
carried forward against future taxable income indefinitely under
the current tax legislation in Hong Kong.

The estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to subsidiaries
in the PRC amounted to approximately HK$125,434,000 (2022:
approximately HK$89,655,000) that will expire within five years
from the end of the reporting period.

The estimated unutilised tax losses attributable to a subsidiary
in Singapore amounted to approximately HK$2,612,000 (2022:
approximately HK$2,412,000) of which the use is subject to
the agreement of the tax authority and compliance with certain
provision of the tax legislation in Singapore and may be carried
forward against future taxable income indefinitely. No deferred tax
asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary
difference as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.
The Group had no other unrecognised deductible temporary
difference as at 31 March 2023 and 2022.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23

RIE_=F=B=+—H &xEE
HREERE RGN 2 Gt KRB A
MR R4 4662,353,0008 T (Z&
::E . #9539,676,00057T) c ALK
BEFEAIHB Z BN IR AL B
EREt R AR HERERNIELER
IE BEE(CEZF:%)o

fHEt R B AR FE R 1B47534,307,00078
7T (CEB - Z & : 49447,609,000E 7T)
RIESBRTR AU ERHEE > U
HEEE R R AER R U ©

HEERPENEB RSN Gt RE A
MR EA%125,434,0008 T (Z&
— 4 1 4989,655,00087T) BN IR
EHIREE R ERNE R o

53 B — R NI B A B By b st ok
AR EA42,612,0008 7T (Z
T4 L #92,412,00057T) 0 B A
ERFERALRERAR  TAR
BN EANE FTIE > o] ERER
“EE DURSH R IR ERIRUIA - B R
B] BB BJ $0 6 T B = RE 0] {H R £ PE R
MEH > W ERZE IR T R E
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36. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

37.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by PRC subsidiaries from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of temporary
differences attributable to accumulated profits of the PRC
subsidiaries (31 March 2022: nil) as the Group is able to control
the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

e MR RIGE

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

RIETRIA (@)

REBEFHEEMBHREZ BTN
F-A—HE BHIREBITRETREH
MEBABPMBEANZEIRKRE - AR
AEE TG G R ER 2 B ORRE
BEREBRIETEN D RRRE
B AR BRRENE AR RE
‘“%UZﬁﬁBﬂ}#%‘EE’JLL%%LEJ‘EEEC%V?

EMHBRERFLERGE (CE2E T -F=

foreseeable future. ﬁ +—H 1)
TRUST LOANS 37. 55t E®M
2023 2022
—E_= —_=E
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Trust loan—secured EEER—BIKH 228,472 246,940

On 19 February 2020, the Group entered into the trust loan
agreements with an independent third party to obtain loans with
principal amounts of RMB200,000,000 in aggregate which carry a
fixed interest rate of 12% per annum and is repayable by March
2022. The repayment date of the trust loan was extended to March
2023 according to the first supplemental agreements entered in
June 2022. Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, the
Group entered into the second supplemental agreements pursuant
to which the overdue interest of approximately RMB24,000,000
shall be repaid by 31 July 2023, the partial principal of
RMB30,000,000 and accrued interest thereon by 31 October
2023, the partial principal of RMB70,000,000 and accrued interest
thereon by 31 December 2023 and the remaining principal of
RMB100,000,000 and accrued interest thereon by 31 March 2024.
The Group received loan proceeds of RMB198,000,000 in March
2020, net of 1% of loan principal amounts (i.e. RMB2,000,000)
which is required by the relevant rules and regulations to be
invested in the trust protection fund in the PRC. The loan proceeds
were intended to be used for the acquisition of the entire equity
interest in Beijing Yuehai and enhancing the general working
capital. Pursuant to the trust loan agreements (as amended and
supplemented), the trust loans are secured by pledging of (i)
100% shareholding of Jiangsu Meili Kongjian Construction Design
Development Co., Ltd* CIBAERTEEER A ELZERBBREL
7)) (“Jiangsu Meili Kongjian”) and 70% shareholding of Baoshihua
Geothermal Energy Development Co., Ltd.* (EG{E#tBARERSA
BR/A &) (“Baoshihua Geothermal Energy”), (ii) the land use right
held by Jiangsu Meili Kongjian and any constructions thereon; and
are guaranteed by (i) Jiangsu Meili Kongjian, and (ii) irrevocable
corporate guarantee provided by the Company.

N_E_TEF_/F+HH AERH
_%ﬁi% HDILTGD%ETAMD&
BEREIESH AERE®200,000,000
JT i;zlmﬁfruzu%,;t%&% S
T _F-RAEBEENER RER
:7::EAEJ4W — DTS
u#)a TEDE/E\T)\E)JE$AE/HHLE§:;E
TZEZR -RBESRRB KER
SINE R %WETM@Z PN R
T ZFEtHB=+—HAEZAH
F B ANRME24,000,0000° R &
—=E+RA=+—HAEEXS K
% AR 130,000,000 K 18 FE #Y FE 51
ME RZIE-_ZF+-"HA=+—H
AIEZEIL DAL AR 170,000,0007
KRABEMESA B UERR _ZE -/
FZB=Z+—HARGLAEARKE
100,000,00070 B FERIFESTHAI B o
FEBR S _SE£=- AWEBEXRF
B8 AR 1198,000,0007% (&35
AR E MR EBRENPREEET
REEEMNBETEAEEE AR
2,000,0007%)) - ERFr{E T IER AR
WEIIRESZ2MRERIEF—RK
CEER -RIEBETERE BT
FE7E) St BRI E () IER =B
THEERRAEELZRBRAT (T
@x%%g%ﬁsﬁj) 100% % #E K &8 & {6
FERES AR AT (IEAEHZEE))
70%527% i)y IBRE=ETERAAFL
MERAERE EEMERERM ; I
B TERERE M K&(i)A&A SR MH
BBl B A B ERIRHE R
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38. SHORT/LONG TERM LOANS

38. %58 RHEAE

2023 2022
—E-= TE-F
HK$000 HK$'000
FAT FET

Short term loans: FRHRER
— Secured (Note i) — BT (5% 3,102 20,742
— Unsecured (Note ii) — LI (M 5E00) 3,427 6,544
6,529 27,286

Long-term loan: REAER:
— Unsecured (Note iii) — LI (M 5Eiii) 343 =

Notes:

0]

(i)

(iii)

The Group entered into a short term loan agreement with an independent
third party to obtain loan with principal amount of approximately
RMB2,715,000 (approximately HK$3,102,000), which is interest-free and
secured by pledging of certain asset together with corporate guarantee
provided by a subsidiary of the Company. The secured short term loan is
repayable in November 2023.

The Group entered into an unsecured short term loan agreement with
an independent third party to obtain loan with principal amount of
RMB3,000,000 (approximately HK$3,427,000), which carries a fixed
interest rate of 6% per annum and should have been repaid in June 2022.
As at the date of this report, the Group is still negotiating with this lender
about practicable repayment schedule.

The Group entered into an unsecured long term loan agreement with
an independent third party to obtain loan with principal amount of
RMB300,000 (approximately HK$343,000), which is interest-free and
repayable in August 2024.
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GER

(ii)

(iii)

AEBBEBIEZ A URBEERDE
MERBAZBHNAR2,715,0007T (49
3,102,000 7T) WER  EAFR B U
ERETEEBRRARAT —HWBATE
RENCEERERB - BRFEHEER
BAR_E_=F+—BfEE-

rEBEBTE =AU ERPEHE
Mt MBS AE£EEAR3,000,0007T
(#93,427,000%87T) WER > EEZEEF
FEeRTEMEENR S F,-AE
BoRARS B AEBEMERZERA
A AT E TR R

REBMRBUIE=ATILERIFREHER
Wk LS A58 AR #300,0007T (49
343,000 7T) WER > HARSEL AR
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BANK LOANS 39. fRITEM
2023 2022
—E-= TE-F
HK$000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Bank loans — secured IRITEM—BIKHF 93,674 88,900

The secured bank loans are secured by (i) the corporate guarantee
provided by independent third parties, (i) personal guarantee of
a Director of the Company; (iii) certain flats of the investment
properties held by the Group and certain properties held by an
independent third party; and (iv) corporate guarantee provided by
certain subsidiaries of the Company.

The bank loans are repayable within one year which carry fixed
interest rates ranged from 3.7% to 5.2% (2022: 3.8% to 5.6%)
per annum and are dominated in RMB.

BIRPIRITERU)BILE =772
HEREER (VAR EFHEA
BRIV EBFAENETREYE
BUKRBIBE=ZLHENETYE,
RV 2B ETH B LR RMEE
ERIEILIR

RTERER—ERER RETE
MENFIT%ES2%E (CE-Z
F13.8%FE5.6%)  WUARKEE-

SHARE CAPITAL 40. fg 7
Number of Number of Share Share
shares shares capital capital
RIAHE Rip#E Bx e
2023 2022 2023 2022
Z%Z= FCE Z%Z= S
'000 '000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
T Tk TAR TAL
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SREEL AT CE2F
(31 March 2022: HK$0.1) each ZAZH-A:01ET) 2 EER
Authorised: EE
At 1 April and 31 March REOB—AKR=B=1+-H 25,000,000 25,000,000 2,500,000 2,500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRAR
At 1 April RrmA—H 1,525,285 1,016,857 152,529 101,686
Issue of rights shares (Note) BITRRRS iz - 508,428 - 50,843
At 31 March R=B=+—H 1,525,285 1,525,285 152,529 152,529

Note: On 14 July 2021, the Company completed a rights issue of 508,428,313
shares at a price of HK$0.2 each per share with gross proceeds of
approximately HK$101,686,000 of which approximately HK$50,843,000
was credited to share capital and approximately HK$50,843,000 was
credited to share premium account. Details of the rights issue were set out
in the Company’s prospectus dated 17 June 2021 and the announcement
dated 13 July 2021.

ek : RZEZ—EFE+tA+HHEH AATUE
f%0.28 7t BB E MK 508,428,313 K
i PRIGTRIEABEE 4 47101,686,00074#
70 > HLH4950,843,00058 705 A B 2N 0 49
50,843,00078 755t A B 17 i@ B AR © A& B
HERNFBERENREATEREAE-S - —
EXNB+TtHNERERERBHEAZT
——FtA+=HWAL.
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41.SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

On 1 September 2021, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “2021 Scheme”) under which the Board may at its
discretion offer to any Director (including non-executive Director),
employee, suppliers, customers, any person or entity that provides
research, development or other technological support to the
Group, shareholders of any member of the Group or any entity
in which the Group holds an equity interests and any other
group or classes of persons or entities who have contributed or
may contribute to the development and growth of the Group
("Participants”) to subscribe for shares in the Company in
accordance with the terms of the 2021 Scheme. The principal
purpose of the 2021 Scheme is to provide incentive or rewards for
the Participants’ contributions to the Group.

The total number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all options to be granted under the 2021 Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company shall not exceed 10% of
the issued share capital of the Company in issue as at the date of
adoption of the 2021 Scheme, unless a refresh approval from the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained. However, the
maximum number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of
all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
2021 Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Company
shall not in aggregate exceed 30% of the issued share capital of
the Company from time to time.

The subscription price of the option shares granted under the 2021
Scheme shall be a price to be determined by the Directors being
not less than the higher of (i) the closing price of the Company’s
shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheet
on the date of grant, which must be a business day; (ii) the
average closing price of the Company’s shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant; or (iii) the nominal value
of a share.

The total number of shares issued and may be issued upon exercise
of the options granted to any individual under the 2021 Scheme
and any other share option schemes of the Company in any
12-month period up to and including the date of grant must not
exceed 1% of the shares in issue as at the date of grant.

The 2021 Scheme does not contain any requirement of a minimum
period and the Board may in its absolute discretion impose a
minimum period requirement for each option granted on a case by
case basis.
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

The 2021 Scheme will remain in force for a period of ten years
commencing from the effective date of the 2021 Scheme to 2
September 2031, after which no further options will be granted
but the options which are granted during the life of the 2021
Scheme may continue to be exercisable in accordance with their
terms of issue and the provisions of the 2021 Scheme shall in all
other respects remain in full force and effect in respect thereof.

Options granted under the 2021 Scheme must be accepted within
21 days after the date of grant. Upon acceptance of the option,
the grantee shall pay HK$1 to the Company as consideration for
the grant.

On 28 April 2022, 90,000,000 share options have been granted to
six employees and five consultants of the Group.

The following table discloses movements in the Company’s share
options granted under 2021 Scheme during the year ended 31
March 2023:

A MBRRME

T =F A=A —HIEFE

FRBRA BB o0

—EC—FHEBE 2 —F:8
EMHEEE “:—Ehﬁ ElJJ:
+ERA—BEEX LB rgE—9
BB > M \_7_—EED+ e
%E,HHF'Eﬁ?xﬁzﬁﬁﬁy%ﬂﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁmﬁ

BT UITFE B - —F58
ZTL\XT_FJTEHT@EEQT%%‘T—EW
JIRAER

RE_ZT_—FFrEIREZBRER
PO H HERE2 1 R 424 o IR 124 B8
AR B Eﬁ?*A;EF]ZIK’ATEZﬁL%
o R EREREZ B

RZE__HF#W™B-_+NH:'=
EBRNLEERALIAEEERF
90,000,00017 B& A& #E o

TREBS#E_T_=—F=-RB=+1—
AEFERE_Z - —F5t3KREDN
AABIERENEFER

Number of share options
fEREHE

Outstanding Forfeited/ Outstanding
as at Granted Exercised Lapsed as at
Exercise price 1 April during during during the 31 March
Date of grant  Exercisable period per share 2022 the year the year year 2023
RZEZZ ) RZB-=%
,_ SREH  MA-H _ ghRk/ ZA=T-B
i =R 0 oyid ﬁﬁﬁ KT FREH FRTE ¥ W R AT
BT
Employees 28 April 2022 28(Apn|)2022-27 April 2028 0.80 - 30,000,000 - - 30,000,000
Note,
== S 4 —2__#MB-+/\H
mAZ+/N\H @ﬁv\f/\ﬁ@ﬁ —+tH
Consultants 28 April 2022 28(Apr\|)2022 -27 April 2028 0.80 - 60,000,000 - - 60,000,000
Note
B ZEICE “E__FMACHNAHE
mAZ+N\B ZE_)\FMAZ+tH
(Bff55)
Total - 90,000,000 = - 90,000,000
a3t
Exercisable at the end of -
the year
RERFITHE
Weighted average HK$0.80 HK$0.80

exercise price

METITEME

Note: Subject to the Board's absolute discretion to change the vesting period
of the share options granted to the relevant employees in the event of
termination of employment of the relevant employees, every 20% of the
share options granted to and accepted by the relevant employees and
consultants shall be vested on each anniversary of the date of grant until
such 90,000,000 share options are fully vested.

0.8077T

—080ET
Mizk . MERIRE REMERTEANEREN
B20% BN ELBHNSEBERRE
BEZ7%%90,000,0001) R EE2ILFEES
b EEERREETBRE EEFTU2
EREENEMEEERERENSB
,ﬁﬂo

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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41. SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

If the options remain unexercised after a period of 6 years from
the date of grant, the options expire. Options are forfeited if the
employee/consultants leaves the Group.

The binomial option pricing model was used to estimate the fair
value of the share options. The variables and assumptions used
in computing the fair value of the share options are based on the
independent professional valuer's best estimate. The value of a
share option varies with different variables and certain subjective
assumptions. The estimated fair value of the share options on their
respective grant dates are as follows:

41. Befie 5t 8 @

il B H B AR FE RN ARITERBER
R RIBBRIEDIE - MRS, BRI
AEEE - BB IRIEBIR U °

“ERAHEEBREEAN G ER
%Z@ﬁ@ stEBREATEMRAB
ZEEBRERRIDERBILEXEGEN
ZREMF -BREZEETHAES
FEENRETIBHRRMES - BR
BREEZRHBBZESAFEN
T

Fair value

Share option type Grant date on grant date

g ] BEHBEH RIEHBBHZATE

Employees 28 April 2022 0.34-0.36
(== “ZITHEMAZFNH

Fair value

Vested date on vested date

BEEB REBANRZATE

Consultants 28 April 2023 0.19
R “ZT=FMAZ+HNH

Share option type

fERe LR Ay

Employees

==

Share price on grant date RiHHBZRE HK$0.80

0.8074E 7T

Exercise price on grant date R HBZ1THEE HK$0.80

0.80748 7T

Volatility Al 49%

Post vesting forfeit rate FEERUWE 14%-21%

Expected life TESTFHR 6 years

64F

Risk-free rate =R R 2.59%
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 &F —

SHARE OPTION SCHEMES (CONTINUED)

A MBRRME

ZHFEZAZF+—HIUEFE

FRBRA BB o0

Share option

type

FERGAEEERY

Consultants

BER]

Daily average price from RIE_"_FMWB_-_+N\RBE HK$0.53
28 April 2022 to 27 April 2023 —EC-FHAZ+tHZEHTHEER 0.53%8 7T
Exercise price on vested date at RIZ_=FMNAZ+N\BFEEBHBRNTEE HK$0.80
28 April 2023 0.8038 7T
Volatility pdl= 51%
Post vesting forfeit rate RN S 0%
Expected life TEETFHR 5.5 years
5.54

Risk-free rate mERAE 3.18%

Volatility was determined by using the historical volatility of the
Company with the trading history commensurate with the time
frame of expected time to maturity.

The Group recognised share-based payments expense of
approximately HK6,567,000 for the year ended 31 March 2023 in
relation to the share options granted by the Company.

PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE

As at 31 March 2022, the carrying amount of the promissory note
receivable with principal amount of HK$90,000,000, formed part
of the Group's consideration receivables in relation to the disposal
of East Favor Global Investment Limited (“East Favor”) to Honghu
Group Limited in 2017.

The promissory note is secured by 9,608 shares of East Favor,
representing 49% of the equity interests of East Favor at the
issuance date. The promissory note bears interest at a rate of 6%
per annum and the sole shareholder of Honghu Group Limited,
Mr. Deng Junjie, has provided guarantee in favour of the Group
for the payment of all sums payable under the promissory note.
On 20 March 2018, 20 March 2019, 20 March 2020, 18 June
2021 and 27 May 2022, the Group and Honghu Group Limited
entered into a first supplementary deed, second supplemental
deed, third supplemental deed, fourth supplemental deed and fifth
supplemental deed to extend the repayment date of the promissory
note to 20 March 2019, 20 March 2020, 20 March 2021, 20
March 2022 and 20 March 2023 respectively with other terms
remaining unchanged.

42.

R 388 48 56 AR AN A B BY FE 2R e T
HRR G S Riast 2 HR AR

BE_ZE_=—fF#=A=+—RAI1=®
EAEBERARTERHMNER
HEDBURDAERONMREIZL
6,567,000 7T °
FE A RELE

A BT T FE=ZR=Z+—H ' A&EE
790,000,000 T2 FEW A R EER

REEEAAERARER _—_S—tF
RERBIRKKREARAS (MRE) &©

ETEEERERQARANERAEZ
— 8o

AR BEUEE, 608/ KM HEER
HITHMAREREZ49%) (R -
AR EBIBRENEO %R  BREH
BRABME—RREENTEURE
EAZm AMAREHEE NEMZF
EEHRREHER- R-ZT—-N\F=8
“+A-ZE-AE=A-tH ==
“EEZA-+H-ZEZ—F5A
AN =S — - = R =
AEFRBREERBRARGIILE—
NRHERE  F_NRARE - E=1

I E BN M EERE LD
BRZBEURARZERZERB D
AERE-_E-—NAFE=ZA"_+H =

§_§$_5_+EI s T e =
B_+H-Z&E-_"_F#=B"+HK
TEC=F=/B=+H8 > HEMEEHY
MERF R o

EFEEEZERBRAT 2022/23F %k
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42.

43.

SMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 &% —

BB+ —HIFE

PROMISSORY NOTE RECEIVABLE (CONTINUED)

In April 2022, the principal amount of HK$16,000,000 and interest
amount of HK$5,400,000 were settled. In September 2022,
Honghu Group Limited arranged the redemption of part of the
promissory note in principal amount of HK$44,000,000 and the
payment of accrued interest of approximately HK$1,381,000. The
remaining principal balance of HK$30,000,000 together with the
accrued interest of approximately HK$1,770,000 was fully settled
in March 2023.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group enrolled all Hong Kong employees in the MPF Scheme.
The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from those
of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group
contributes 5% of relevant payroll costs, capped at HK$1,500 (31
March 2022: HK$1,500) per month, to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by employees.

The Group's subsidiaries operating in the PRC and Singapore
participate in defined contribution retirement schemes and CPF
Scheme organised by the relevant local government authorities
in the PRC and Singapore respectively. These subsidiaries are
required to contribute a specified percentage of its payroll costs
to the retirement benefit schemes to fund the benefits. The only
obligation of the Group with respect to the retirement benefit
schemes is to make the specified contributions under these
schemes.

The total costs charged to consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of approximately HK$10,424,000
(2022: HK$11,504,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting period.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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FEWEAREE @

e

AT EZZEWNBOBHEY
16,000,000/ 5t A&~ & & 5,400,00078
TR - R_EB-__EHNA B
EEBERARLZHBERB O AES
44,000,000 T A R EE » W T
#91,381,000 B T FEST R E o B8 T
A~ %830,000,00078 7T K& FE T ) B 49
1,770,000 8 TR ZEZ=F =A%
%,\uﬁo

BIAREFETE

AEBEALBEESEREELERES
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

44. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY

Step acquisition from a joint venture to a
subsidiary

On 19 April 2022, Guohua Jiaye (Beijing) Construction
Management Co., Ltd* (B#E % (ItR) BREEBARA
B]) (“Guohua Jiaye (Beijing)”), a wholly owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into share transfer agreement with an
independent third party to acquire 49% equity interest in Guohua
Jiaye (Shenzhen) at a consideration of HK$1. Guohua Jiaye
(Shenzhen) is principally engaged in construction and project
management in the PRC. Prior to the acquisition, the Group
already held 51% equity interest in Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen),
which was accounted for by equity accounting. After the
completion of the acquisition, the Group held 100% equity interest
in Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) and it has become a wholly owned
subsidiary of the Company since then.

The fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Guohua
Jiaye (Shenzhen) acquired as at their date of acquisition is as
follows:

44, W BE— M B 2 B

= QFEMB RTINS
e BB

RIBEZ_FWB+HAHxRAFZ
2ENBATREEEX R BRE
EBARAR (EEEE GtR) 1) B
UBE=ZHEIURMDEERE U
BIZE{EZE (RIID Z49% P RER
BroBEMEE (R TERHERE
ERRANEEHEE - RNRBEIERN > &
EEKEFAREEE (RYD 251%
P> a AR A A BRER I o N URHE
FETRE AEEFAREEE (R
) Z2100% K% HELEM B AR
BZE2BEWEB AR -

PRUCIBEIZE 2 CRYI) BRI BRI B E
RBEREEBRNATENT :

HK$'000

FET

Property, plant and equipment MEBEREE 59
Trade and other receivables 7 UK BR R R EL fth FE W =R I8 6,554
Bank and cash balances BIT RIS EEER 35
Trade and other payables FE < BR 30 R ELAt FE A 3R 18 (2,531)
Total identifiable net assets acquired BRI H A& E S E4EEE 4,117

Fair value of the equity interest held
before the business combination

Consideration RE

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition

EHOHIEAENRELTE

(4,117)

WESEEEZRERAFE

HK$'000
TET

Cash consideration paid for the year ended HE_-_E-_=F£=HB=+—HILEEBENLHN
31 March 2023 RERE =
Less: bank and cash balances acquired B WEBFR R IRIT RIR 45 35
35
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44. ACQUISITION OF A SUBSIDIARY (CONTINUED) 44,

Impact of acquisition on the results of the
Group

Included in the loss for the year is approximately HK$4,117,000
loss attributed by Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen). Revenue for the year
includes approximately HK$90,000 generated from Guohua Jiaye
(Shenzhen).

Had the acquisition of Guohua Jiaye (Shenzhen) been completed
on 1 April 2022, total revenue of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2023 would have been approximately HK$504,665,000,
and loss for the year would have been approximately
HK$332,130,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have been
achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1 April 2022, nor
is it intended to be a projection of future results.

45. DEREGISTRATION OF A SUBSIDIARY 45.

During the year, Jet Dispatch Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company, ceased operation and applied the deregistration
accordingly. The deregistration took effect on 31 March 2023.
The net liabilities of Jet Dispatch Limited at the date of the
deregistration were as follows:

Wi —FRE B AT @
WBEERAERXERZEE

ERBEESEREEE CFRI) EE
E518494,117,00058 75 c ER W B
BEFEEZE CFRIYI) EERIE90,0008

I ©

ﬁu&%.%&% OF ill) 56_7__

E=B=4+— Emfﬁﬁmwu& %7—%
#J504,665,00078 70 MENEIEES
#9332,130,0008 T o £ B RMEH
MEZA A —EALEBREZWE
FER _E-__FMBA—HERNIE
RTIBREINNNE REEEENIE
12 INIERHEA R IR EENTEA -

A —HREAR

FARN AARAL2EWBRAF et
Dispatch Limited 2 1% L & 52 Wi 45 FE 5%
EaHEER AHERERIE =
F=ZA=+—B4%2%Jet Dispatch
Limitedi? 52885 3¢ B AN & &S 2B
T

HK$'000
FHET

Written-off: sy
Trade and other receivables B YRR 30 B A FE U FR I8 1,331
Trade and other payables PR BR RN e EL AN FE (S 7R I8 (4,138)
Net liabilities BEFEE (2,807)
Net liabilities written-off Btz 8EF%E (2,807)
Exchange reserve released Bk E R 38
Gain on deregistration of a subsidiary Ed Rl S NI Al & 2,769
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46. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 46. 4 8RERERMEE
OF CASH FLOWS

(a) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (a) MEEHELE Z2EEBEH
activities
The following table shows the Group’s changes in liabilities TREJIAEERAFEFENME
arising from financing activities during the year: EEESZEBE !
Total
Amount liabilities
Amount  due (from)/ Short Long- from
lease duetoan  toajoint Trust term term Bank financing
liabilities  associate venture loans loans loan loans activities
& () /
fEft—Fd - ®B
HERE  AERF HEEHN

REAR 2B B ERER  ESER  REAXR  ROAX ARS8
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TAT TATL TEL TET TATL TETL TEL TEL

At 1 April 2021 RIZ_-£NA—-H 12,222 16,631 19 237,299 20,170 - 11,865 298,306
Changes in cash flows RenELs (16,201) - 2,222 - 7,116 - 76,553 65,246
Non-cash changes FREEH
- interest charged —fatFE 2,578 = = = = = = 2,578
- addition of right-of-use assets ~ —FRAREERE 20,674 - - - - - = 20,674
- lease modification i (634) - - - - - = (634)
- step acquisition from associates  —{BEAFZINBARN
to subsidiaries ATWE = (16,631) = = = = = (16,631)
- exchange difference -ERER 146 - 4 9,641 - - 482 10,273

At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZEZZF=B=+-HK

“E-"ZNA-A 18,785 - (2,099) 246,940 27,286 - 88,900 379,812
Changes in cash flows RBemeEs (16,588) - - - (18,669) 343 11,395 (23,519)
Non-cash changes FREEH
~ interest charged —FEtHIS 1,452 - - - - - = 1,452
- addition of right-of-use assets ~ —EREEERE 2,376 = = = = = = 2376
- lease modification ~HEE] (1,369) = = = = = = (1,369)
- step acquisition from joint ~HagAREKBARN
venture to subsidiary AEWE = = 2,099 = = = = 2,099
- exchange difference -EREE (974) - - (18,468) (2,088) - (6,621) (28,151)
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F=F=+-H 3,682 - - 228,472 6,529 343 93,674 332,700
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46. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(b) Major non-cash transactions

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss was settled by netting off
the consideration payable of RMB30,000,000 (approximately
HK$34,271,000) (note 30).

47.RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has entered into the following transactions
with related parties:

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key
management during the year were as follows:

(b) TEIFRERH
BHE_ZT-_-—F=-H=-+—H1t
FEE BAFTEFAERZZSRM
EEBRABINBKENKEBARR
30,000,0007T (4934,271,0007%
7o) /&8 (M9E30) ©

47.FAEFBE

BRI R E M B REREAMBE DPTIRESE
Sh> REBTFARIERFIL TS ¢

FEEEASHMN

EEREMETBEEAERERNZM
TWMF -

2023 2022

HK$'000 HK$'000

T#ET FHT

Short-term benefits ZHAE A 8,119 8,423
Post-employment benefits BER 2B 339 122
8,458 8,545

The remuneration of Directors and key management is determined
by the remuneration committee having regards to the performance
of individuals and market trends.
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48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. X AE X EM B ATIHE
OF THE COMPANY

Nominal value
Place of Type of of issued and
incorporation  legal fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
and entity share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation registered registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
ELTAT EEA BETRERRE FARFE
WEARAHE R BREY afE/EhEE BRTRIEE HRERLH TELH
Directly Indirectly
E# %
2023 2022 2023 2022
Z%¥-=f CZE-ZF CZEBI=f CZEZ°CE
% % % %

Jet Air (Singapore) Private  Singapore Limited liability SGD500,000 - - 923 93 Airfreight forwarding
Limited g company 500,003 M3 T and brokers for
S Grng) BRAR BREARAT airline and shipping

companies
EEURMZE R
REEL
Jet-Air (H.K.) Limited Hong Kong Limited liability HK$142,000,200 - - 100 100 Trading of securities
RUTE(EB BRAE BH company 142,000,200 7% BHEE
BREEAT
Global Star Corporate Hong Kong Limited liability HK$10,000 - = 100 100 Acts as administrative
Management Limited &7 company 10,000%7T centre of the Group
REGCEERERAT ERERALAF RATEEZTHAY
Qianhai Honghu Teri PRC Limited liability HK$110,000,000 - = 100 100 Trading of goods
Technology (Shenzhen) S company 110,000,000 7% EEAm
Co., Limited* BREAAT
AIEBSRRNE (F)
BRAS
Rongjinda Finance Lease  PRC Limited liability US$30,000,000 - = 100 100 Provision of finance lease
Company Limited* 5E company 30,000,000%7¢ services and finance
REERERERR BEREMAT consultancy services
A7 REREEERER
ERAIRE
China Best Finance Hong Kong Limited liability HK$2 - = 100 100 Provision of money
Limited 5E company AT lending services
HERBERAT BREEAT REMERY
Zhongrong International  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$102,000,000 - = 100 100 Provision of securities
Securities Company BE company 102,000,000%7¢ brokerage and related
Limited BEREMAT consultancy services
HRERISERAT REZSECREH
AR

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

48. EABEEMB AR F1E

(&)

Nominal value
Place of Type of of issued and
incorporation  legal fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
and entity share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiaries ~ operation registered registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
SEMERIL R FEmEA BETRARRE LYNGE S
HWEARAE S Bieg mfE/EREE BETRAEE/HREALH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B it
2023 2022 2023 2022
k- St ZECCF ZEBCZE= St
% % % %
Zhongrong International  Hong Kong Limited liability HK$67,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of futures
Futures Co., Limited company 67,000,000% 7T brokerage services
TRERAEERAT  EE BR&EEAT REBELLRS
Beijing Fudajia Enterprise ~ PRC Limited liability HK$10,000,000¢ - - 100 100 Property investment
Management Co., HE company 10,000,000 7T REN%
Limited* BERERRAT
TREEEREER
BRAS
Shanghai Xuanmei PRC Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of residential
Property Agency $ company AE5,000,0007 and commercial
Company Limited* BERERRAT property agency
TRHERMESL services
BRAR REATREENE
Rk
Shanghai Tuxuan PRC Limited liability RMB5,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of building
Construction Design ~ HE company A 5,000,000 architecture and
Company Limited* BREAAT interior design services
TEBRRER: REEFRERER
BRAF FEt R
Guohua Jiaye PRC Limited liability HK$10,000,000 - - 100 100 Investment holding and
(Beijing) Enterprise HE company 10,000,000/ 70 provision of project
Management BREAAT management
Co., Ltd.* REZRRREHEEE
HECE R CEER B
BRAS
Guohua Jiaya (Shenzhen) ~ PRC Limited liability RMB10,000,000* - N/A 100 N/A~ Construction and
BEEE (R HE company N:T TEBA TER project management
BERERALAH 10,000,000t BERERER
Baoshihua Geothermal PRC Limited liability ~ RMB1,000,000,000¢ - - 70 70 Heating supply by
Energy e company N:T geothermal energy
BRI A BR&EEAT 1,000,000,0007c AR
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48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 48. X AE X EM B ATIHE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)
Nominal value
Place of Type of of issued and
incorporation  legal fully paid Proportion of nominal value of
and entity share capital/ issued share capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiaries operation registered registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
AR R FEREA BETRYRRE NG LEE
HWEARAE e Biegl B/ EREE BRARAEE/AREXLH TEEH
Directly Indirectly
B it
2023 2022 2023 2022
Z§C= ZRIZF ZEZ= B CE
% % % %

Henan Province PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000 - - 52.5 525  Heating and cooling
Baoshihua Geothermal company NG supply by geothermal
Energy Development 1] BEREFRT 100,000,0007¢* energy
Co., Ltd.* ("Henan HEARERERSL
Province Baoshihua”)

AEEERIHE
BERRAF
(FIEEERTE)

Wujixian Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB60,000,000¢ = = 36.4 364 Heating supply by
Geothermal Energy HE company AR® geothermal energy
Development Co., BEREARAT 60,000,0007C* HEGEMRIE
Ltd.* ("Wujixian
Baoshihua")

BBEMEATCHAER
BFERAT (MRE
A1)

Xian Baoshihua Energy PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000¢ - - 100 100 Heating supply by
Technology Group Co., company NG geothermal energy
Ltd.* i BREEAR 50,000,0007% A HIE

BRERTERRE
EBERAR

Shaanxi Jiangwei PRC Limited liability RMB100,000,000 - - 100 100 Provision of projects
Construction HE company IN: construction
Engineering Co., Ltd.* BREAAT 100,000,000 contracting
("Shaanxi Jiangwei") RETRELAE

BRETIREEIRER
2F (TREIE)

Yuncheng Baoshihua PRC Limited liability RMB50,000,000* - - 100 100 Provision of centralised
Regional Energy HE company AR® heating and industrial
Technology Co., Ltd.* BRETAT 50,000,0007¢¢ steam

ENERTEEAER REENHARTEE
HEBRAR A

Beijing Shuwu PRC Limited liability RMB20,000,000 - - 67 67 Provision of financial

TRER FE company AE#20,000,0007 information solution

BEREARAT and big data analysis
services
REMBERRALE
REBA R
. The registered capital is yet to be paid/fully paid as at 31 March 2023. L RIEBEZ=F=HA=+—R8Z=EMES
CEESSZNPA=EY AN
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REMBRRME

For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Except for a limited partnership incorporated in the PRC, all other
subsidiaries are companies incorporated with limited liability in the
respective jurisdictions.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities subsisting at
the end of both periods or at any time during both periods.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results or assets
of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the Directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The following table shows information of subsidiaries that have
non-controlling interests (“NCI") material to the Group. The
summarised financial information represents amount before inter-
company eliminations.

48. EABEEMB AR F1E

(&)

Pr—ERTPEEMA L BREBE
ENPMBHMNBARNERERRM
EEREEMRILZABRAT -

AR B B AR IS TR )
Ry ] 3 452 Y T A B SR AT R AR A
ZEFES o

ERFIIEZAEBNBRABDRES
BRHAEREENEERUNEER
EZNBAB -EHRRA TET,\ATHJBH
BABZFBRERBERT

TRINTHAERMS BEARBIIFE
fetEm (TFFEREDR)) NNE AT
Bl - HBEMNBMIEERERNATRE
REHRTAYEER -

Henan Province

Baoshihua
Name %18 AEEBEAT
Principal place of business/country of FEEEMBE FMAILER PRC
incorporation FHE

% of ownership interests/voting rights FERERNEERERER RERZEOL

held by NCI 47.5%
2023 2022

—EZ= =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 99,338 94,679
Current assets MENEE 23,302 25,818
Current liabilities mEaE (39,275) (30,258)
Non-current liabilities JERBEE - =
Net assets EEFE 83,365 90,239
Accumulated NCI RetIFERER 39,598 42,434

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

48. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

48. X AT X EMBATIFE

OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED) (&)

2023 2022
—EZ=F =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Revenue Wz 12,348 14,163
Loss for the year FREE (126) (1,558)
Total comprehensive expense SEZ HARER (126) (1,558)
Loss allocated to NCI DEEEIEFER R 2 B518 (59) (740)
Net cash used in operating activities KEEFPTARE R (863) (545)
Net cash used in investing activities KEEFPTARERE - (84)
Net cash generated from financing activities RBREEENFISIREFEE = =
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents ReEMREEEEBZ

BV IERE (863) (629)

RBREHR xR TBEHMEEER
WARERZHBLB -ZEWEAF
ZEBEHRBWMT ¢

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other
subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. The principal
activities of these subsidiaries are summarised as follows:

Number of subsidiaries

WEASEE

Principal activities Principal place of business 2023 2022
FTEEH FTEEEME —EC=H =
Investment holding BVI 26 24
REER BEELHE

Hong Kong 4 3

BHE

The PRC 11 6

FE
Inactive The PRC 14 9
RIETES FE

Samoa 1 1

& JEE 53

Hong Kong 6 7

BHE

62 50

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

49. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
OF THE COMPANY

49. ZAT Z AR MR

2023 2022
=== =
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RBRBZKE 1 1
Current assets REEE
Other receivables HpE USR8 277 293
Amounts due from subsidiaries (Note (i)) FE WL B /8 A Bl I8 (B EE()) 878,343 1,174,881
Bank balances and cash RITERKRIRE 1,113 83
879,733 1,175,257
Current liability Vi =N
Other payables Hn e I 3,907 4,151
Net current assets MENEEFE 875,826 1,171,106
NET ASSETS EEZFE 875,837 1,171,117
Capital and reserves AR e
Share capital %N 152,529 152,529
Reserves (Note (ii)) R (MEEE) 723,308 1,018,588
TOTAL EQUITY 4ERERR 875,837 1,171,117
Notes: B EE

(i) The amounts due from/to subsidiaries are non-trade nature, unsecured
and repayable on demand of which the balances of approximately
HK$435,462,000 (2022: approximately HK$437,742,000) carry interest
rates of 6% (2022: 6%) and the remaining balances of approximately
HK$442,881,000 (2022: approximately HK$737,139,000) are non-interest
bearing.

China Best Group Holding Limited Annual Report 2022/23
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
F R IR

For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

49. THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 49. X RABZ MBI AT @
OF THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)

Notes: (Continued) MIsE © (48)
(i) Reserves (i) fEE
Share
Share  Contributed option Accumulated
premium surplus reserve losses Total
5 8 BABRE  BREGRE RBE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FTEx FTEx FTEx FTEx
At 1 April 2021 RIZEZT—-50WA—H 1,005,094 455,053 - (490,791) 969,356
Profit for the year ERNiEFH - = = 3,118 3,118
Total comprehensive income FRNEANGEEE
for the year - - - 3,118 3,118
Issue of rights shares BT 50,843 = = = 50,843
Transaction costs attributable to BOMLEREGERZRA
issue of new ordinary shares (4,729) - - - (4,729)
At 31 March 2022 and WZIEZZE=A=1+—HEK
at 1 April 2022 “E-"FA—H 1,051,208 455,053 - (487,673) 1,018,588
Loss for the year ERNEE - - - (301,847) (301,847)
Total comprehensive expense FRNEAMTEE
for the year - - - (301,847) (301,847)
Recognition of equity-settled AR EEURMNAERDN
share-base payment INE = = 6,567 = 6,567
At 31 March 2023 RIZEZ=F=A=+—H 1,051,208 455,053 6,567 (789,520) 723,308
The contributed surplus of the Company represents (i) the excess of KATZEMABBIE()AAT KRG R
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to the —AANEERTRER ETHE . BIESE
reorganisation prior to the listing of the Company’s shares on the Main AFRNENB AT ZRMO AT EBLEIES
Board of the Stock Exchange in 1996 over the nominal value of the THMEBTZ AN T RD EEZ =28 &)
Company'’s shares issued in exchange thereof and (i) the credit arising from RIE-_EFAB _HBBHENEAATH
the capital reduction by cancelling the par value of the paid-up capital of B P% 2 E M B9 BR S I R BT EE AE B AEBR o
the Company on 2 September 2020.
Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the contributed REARE—N/N\—FEQE%E B&E:]) »
surplus of the Company is available for distribution. However, the Company KABZABGAHD IR EEAAE R
cannot declare or pay a dividend or make a distribution out of contributed BETHERTEBARKEIRIKNA R
surplus if: EHEEDIK :
(@) itis, or would after the payment be, unable to pay its liabilities as @ ZEAATDEHFNIKGBREHEE
they become due; or FHREE; K
(b)  the realisable value of its assets would thereby be less than the (b)) ARAEBEZUZREENIKNE
aggregate of its liabilities and its issued share capital and share BREESE BETRARKG B
premium accounts. BRZ 487 -

EFEEEZERERAT 2022/235F 3R
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS

(1) In January 2020, the Group acquired 100% equity interest
in Jiangsu Meili Kongjian from Ningbo Sixing Information
Technology Co., Ltd.* (B} B171E SERHEAR2A B (“Ningbo
Sixing”) at cash consideration of RMB41,000,000 of which
the remaining RMB31,000,000 was recorded as consideration
payable (the “Consideration Payable”). In March 2022, the
Group disposed of 100% equity interest in Jiangsu Meili
Kongijian to Beijing Taolichunfeng Property Development Co.,
Ltd.* JERE=FEREMERRZEBRAE) ("Taolichunfeng”)
by entering into a disposal agreement (the “Disposal”) and
agreed with Ningbo Sixing in a supplemental agreement that
the Consideration Payable shall be fully set-off against an
underlying interest in properties with a construction area of
4,200 square meters (the "Offsetting Arrangement”). Further
details of the Disposal and the Offsetting Arrangement are set
out in the Company’s announcement dated 29 March 2022.
In April 2022, at the request of Ningbo Sixing, the Group
provided a guarantee for Taolichunfeng's responsibilities
and obligations after completion of the Disposal, including
implementation of the Offsetting Arrangement. In this regard,
the Group has also obtained a counter-guarantee from
Taolichunfeng. In December 2022, Ningbo Sixing denied the
Offsetting Arrangement and brought the civil proceedings
against Taolichunfeng, Jiangsu Meili Kongjian and the Group
to jointly liable to repay RMB35,440,000 (the “Claimed
Amount”), including the Consideration Payable, in cash.
As at the date of this report, the Group has submitted the
statement of defense to the court and the relevant civil trial
has not begun. Based on the PRC legal adviser’s opinion,
the Group has reasonable grounds in this case. Accordingly,
the Directors are of the view that the liability of the Claimed
Amount is not probable.
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For the year ended 31 March 20238 —&F = F =H =+—HIFFEZE

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

(2)

(3)

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Huaihua Qinneng
Technology Development Co., Ltd* (B{EEIRERIEFHERIR
‘AF)) (“Huaihua Qinneng”) was under dispute with Beijing
Aoke Ruifeng New Energy Co., Ltd.* (JbFERIFEHEE
B ERAT), (“Beijing Aoke”) regarding the value
of assets of approximately RMB18,850,000 which were
transferred from Beijing Aoke to the Group. Such assets,
mainly consisting of plant and machinery, were utilised in the
Group’s centralised heating business operated by Yuncheng
Baoshihua Regional Energy Technology Co., Ltd.* GZ1
EATEEREERMZBMIRAT)("Yuncheng Baoshihua”).
Yuncheng Baoshihua is wholly-owned by Huaihua Qinneng.
Beijing Aoke won the case in the arbitration proceedings for
claiming back, inter alia, the value of the transferred assets
and applied for the court’s enforcement. The Intermediate
People's Court of Yuncheng* GE# Mk AR ZE)
ordered Huaihua Qinneng to enforce the arbitration award
and to, inter alia, freeze Huaihua Qinneng’s equity interest
in Yuncheng Baoshihua. The Group has accounted for the
value of the transferred assets in its consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 and currently is
negotiating the settlement plan with Beijing Aoke. According
to the PRC legal adviser's opinion, the Directors are of the
view that the court order will not have a material impact on
the operation of Yuncheng Baoshihua as well as the Group's
financial position.

Several suppliers of geothermal energy business brought
lawsuits to the court against Henan Province Baoshihua and
Waujixian Baoshihua, both are non wholly-owned subsidiaries
of the Company, with total contracts sum of approximately
RMB40,173,000. As there were contract disputes with such
suppliers, Henan Province Baoshihua and Wujixian Baoshihua
did not pay the suppliers even though the payment has
been due. After receiving the judgement from the courts,
Henan Province Baoshihua and Wujixian Baoshihua have
settled approximately RMB3,754,000 in total and the
remaining outstanding contracts sum of approximately
RMB36,419,000 have been accrued in trade payables arising
from geothermal energy business as at 31 March 2023. Due
to the abovementioned lawsuits, the assets of Henan Province
Baoshihua and Woujixian Baoshihua totaling approximately
RMB5,251,000 were freezed as at 31 March 2023. The
Directors are of the view that these lawsuits and the frozen
assets do not have material impact on the Group’s financial
position and operation.

50. NAAEE EFER @

(2)

TABEEWE AR RICEER
MEARAT (MRICENEE)) HIER
BRIREHERRNOARAR (T35
RER) It REAREETAER
MEEN AK18,850,000THE
EFTEUD -FREETIEARE
R WA BN AEERERSE
ATEEEERMRARAR (MEH
BRTE)) RENEPHAXT -E
HEAIEHRECHELZEER 1L
REBEMSEFTBT 2RIK
O (HhaiE BREENEE I
ARG T - B H PR
RZRE L ERICEAE MBI IT P2k
R WRAE (HPEE) RIEHEE
RERBATEHRE - AEEER
HBEE"T_=-_F=-FA=+—HL
FENGEMBRETEEEEE
WEEAK > BRIEHEIRARY
ABED R - RETEDERERB
ER EFRRERASTEHE
HEAENEERFTEBNTHNR
MEEERTE-

ETHHAEEREEERIEE
ERTEREBBRELGIL (BAX
NEFEZEMBLARE) HARK
40,173,000t & A 48 ZB A 74 P i
R AR EZEREREES
WA TEEAERTERERRE
AIERZIHEER SRR P R W
EABRFIRER AEABEATER
EIBGHELEEEBEaRENOARE
3,754,00070 FERKREESLONR
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 % —&F — == =+—HIFFZ

50. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES/LITIGATIONS
(CONTINUED)

(4)

A wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, Shaanxi
Jiangwei, has also been involved in a number of lawsuits
with total contracts sum of approximately RMB41,805,000.
As there were contract disputes with suppliers under
building construction contracting business, Shaanxi Jiangwei
did not pay the suppliers even though the payment has
been due. After receiving the judgement from the courts,
Shaanxi Jiangwei has paid the suppliers approximately
RMB13,535,000 in total and the remaining outstanding
contracts sum of approximately RMB28,270,000 have been
accrued in trade payables arising from building construction
contracting business as at 31 March 2023. Due to the
abovementioned lawsuits, the assets of Shaanxi Jinagwei
amounted to approximately RMB4,747,000 were freezed as
at 31 March 2023. The Directors are of the view that these
lawsuits and the frozen assets do not have material impact on
the Group’s financial position and operation.
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Five-Year Financial Summary
EEMBHE

RESULTS e
Fifteen
Year ended 31 March months ended Year ended 31 December
BE-RA=+—HILEE 31 March HE+ZA=1+—HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2019 2018
HE_Z"_—-&
=B=+—-H
—E-= s E+REAR —Z-hE —2-N\EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET FiET FER FER
Revenue 1§ 504,665 858,457 1,182,493 362,331 218,007
Loss before tax BRI (316,076) (1,088) (20,681) (103,482) (74,061)
Income tax expense FrSMEY (16,054) (10,035) (15,728) (2,614) (1,488)
Loss for the year/period F/BREE (332,130) (11,123) (36,409) (106,096) (75,549)
(Loss) profit for the year/period LT EGE /R
attributable to: (B548) ‘&7
Owners of the Company AREEBA (333,793) (6,349) (42,578) (106,067) (75,533)
Non-controlling interests iR ER 1,663 (4,774) 6,169 (29) (16)
Loss for the year/period F/BREE (332,130) (11,123) (36,409) (106,096) (75,549)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEKREGE
As at 31 March As at 31 December
R=B=+—H B+ZB=+—H
2023 2022 2021 2019 2018
—EZ= ZBICHE “EC-F —Z-NF “_E-N\E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTER FET FET FTER FER
Total assets BEHE 1,894,159 2,340,888 2,072,872 1,192,703 1,288,139
Total liabilities BELE (1,003,764) (1,080,380) (923,155) (75,162) (53,021)
890,395 1,260,508 1,149,717 1,117,541 1,235,118
Equity attributable to owners ERBEE AERL
of the Company T 841,327 1,209,425 1,100,143 1,117,628 1,235,176
Non-controlling interests R 49,068 51,083 49,574 (87) (58)
890,395 1,260,508 1,149,717 1,117,541 1,235,118

EEEEZRARAT 2022/234F 8 231



Schedule of Investment Properties

As at 31 March 20238 —E_=F=H=+—H

Percentage
Address Use Category of the Lease held by the Group
3k B HEZAER rEEFERRL
1 Room 01, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREISH1E01E (EES FREAFR AT
2 Room 02, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREI15R1E02E (EES FREAFR AT
3 Room 03, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E03=E [EES FREAFR AT
4 Room 05, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E05= [EES FREAFR AT
5 Room 06, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, =~ Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER A REE151/E06= [EES FREAFR AT
6 Room 07, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, =~ Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABERAREI5R1E07TE [EES FREAFR AT
7 Room 08, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/EB08=E [EES FREAFR AT
8 Room 09, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
It REABEER S REE191/E09=E [EES FREAFR AT
9 Room 10, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, =~ Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREISFIEI10E [EES FREAFR AT
10 Room 11, 1/F, No. 1 Dongfang Dong Road, = Commercial Medium-term lease 100%
Chaoyang District, Beijing*
RSB ERAREIFIEBIE [EES FREAFR AT
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